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IN THE MATTER OF:    * BEFORE THE   
CRAIG KESTNER      
13217 Cherwin Avenue   * BOARD OF APPEALS  
 
    Petitioner/Appellee    * OF 
  
      * BALTIMORE COUNTY 
 
      * Case No. 19-402-SPHA and 
       Case No. 20-090-SPHA 
 
* * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

PETITIONER’S MEMORANDUM 
 
 Craig Kestner, Petitioner/Appellee, by his attorneys, J. Neil Lanzi and Wright, Constable 

& Skeen, LLP, respectfully submits this Memorandum as requested by the County Board of 

Appeals (“CBA”) at the conclusion of the hearing in the above captioned matters. 

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Petitioner in Case No. 19-402-SPHA (hereinafter referred to as “Kestner I”) filed a 

Petition for Variance pursuant to the Baltimore County Zoning Regulations (“BCZR”), §§  

1B02.3.C.1 and 303.1, to permit a proposed dwelling on a lot with a width of 50 feet in lieu of 

the required 55 feet; and to permit a front yard setback of 25 feet in lieu of the required 40 feet in 

the DR 5.5 zone.  In addition, Petitioner in Kestner I, filed a Petition for Special Hearing 

pursuant to BCZR § 500.7 to confirm that a merger did not take place between the Lots 155 and 

156 and the adjacent Lots 157, 158, 159 and 160, otherwise known as 6903 Gunder Avenue.  

Administrative Law Judge, Paul Mayhew by Opinion and Order dated October 23, 2019, denied 

the Petition for Variance and granted the Special Hearing relief confirming that a merger did not 

take place between Lots 155 and 156 and the adjacent Lots 157, 158, 159 and 160 (“Kestner I 

ALJ Order”).  Lots 155 and 156 consist of the property which is the subject of the hearing before 

the CBA. 
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  On November 21, 2019, Petitioner filed an appeal limited to the Kestner I ALJ Order 

denying the Petition for Variance.  No appeal to the granting of the Special Hearing relief was 

taken by the Protestants participating in Kestner I, thus confirming the Kestner I ALJ Order 

regarding the merger issue was final.   

 In Case No. 20-090-SPHA (hereinafter referred to as “Kestner II”), Petitioner, after 

substantially modifying the site plan, filed a Petition for Special Hearing pursuant to § 304.1 of 

the BCZR to approve the construction of a single family detached dwelling on two lots with a 

combined width of 50 feet in lieu of the required 55 feet.  In addition, as alternative relief in 

response to the request of the Department of Zoning at the time of filing, Petitioner filed a 

Petition for Variance pursuant to § 1B02.3C.1 to permit a combined width for two lots of 50 feet 

in lieu of the required 55 feet for the construction of the single family detached dwelling.  No 

variance was filed for the front setback. At the Kestner II hearing before the Administrative Law 

Judge, Petitioner withdrew the Petition for Variance as unnecessary in light of the special 

hearing relief requested. In his Opinion and Order for Kestner II dated September 29, 2020 

(“Kestner II ALJ Order”), the Administrative Law Judge agreed with Petitioner, allowing the 

dismissal of the Variance Petition, ruling the Petition for Variance moot and granted the special 

hearing relief under § 304.1 of the BCZR approving the construction of a single family detached 

dwelling on two lots with a combined width of 50 feet in lieu of the required 55 feet.  During the 

pendency of the ALJ hearing for Kestner II, the issue of zoning merger was not raised.  

Protestant John Dawson subsequently filed an appeal to the Kestner II ALJ Order.  

As part of the preliminary remarks before the CBA, Petitioner presented the procedural 

history of these two cases, including the finality of the merger issue from Kestner I, the dismissal 

of the Variance Petition before the ALJ in Kestner II and the contemporaneous dismissal by 
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Petitioner of Petitioner’s appeal to the denial of Variance Relief in Kestner I, thereby limiting the 

case before the CBA to the § 304.1 Special Hearing relief granted in Kestner II. 

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 Petitioner purchased Lots 155 and 156 (collectively “Parcel 1”) and Lots 157, 158, 159 

and 160 (collectively “Parcel 2”) on or about April 30, 2014.  Parcel 2 is improved with a 

residence built in 1945 and attached garage and has an address of 6903 Gunder Avenue.  The 

garage located on Parcel 2 is within 5 feet of the property line of Parcel 1. Parcel 1 has no 

improvements and has an address of 13217 Cherwin Avenue.  No evidence was presented that at 

any time permanent structures have ever been located on Parcel 1 prior to or during Petitioner’s 

ownership.  Parcel 2 was sold with the improvements on or about November 5, 2018.   

Petitioner’s intent since purchasing the two parcels and now has been to sell Parcel 2 with 

its improvements to a family once he decided not to reside there and then to sell the unimproved 

Parcel 1 to a builder as is his right.  The building footprint for a proposed residence on Parcel 1 is 

shown on Petitioner’s Exhibit 1. This exhibit confirms a substantially reduced building footprint 

(30’ X 60’) from the prior proposed building footprint (30’ X 70’) shown on the site plan 

considered in Kestner I (See Petitioner’s Exhibit 7A). In addition, as shown on Petitioner’s 

Exhibits 1 and 7A, the proposed new residence is now set back 40 feet from the front property 

line instead of 25 feet as presented in Kestner I, thus eliminating the need for any variance.   

III. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL 

 A. Whether the subject property with the proposed building area and proposed front 

setback satisfies BCZR § 304.1? 

 B. Whether the issue of zoning merger applies notwithstanding the final Order of the 

ALJ in Kestner I? 
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 C. Whether res judicata or collateral estoppel apply prohibiting Petitioner from 

seeking and obtaining the special hearing zoning relief requested in Kestner II. 

IV. PETITIONER’S EVIDENCE  

 Petitioner offered expert testimony through Bruce Doak (“Doak”)1, accepted by the CBA 

as an expert in surveying, land use and zoning. In addition to Doak’s testimony, Petitioner 

submitted 13 exhibits.  Petitioner’s Exhibit 1 consisted of the zoning plan dated February 15, 

2021 which confirmed the size of the building footprint, the existing 50’ front lot width and the 

40’ front yard building setback.  Doak opined without challenge that all the applicable zoning 

regulations were satisfied by the plans shown on Petitioner’s Exhibit 1, including front, side and 

rear setbacks.  Doak further opined that the proposed residence on Parcel 1 could be constructed 

up to 50 feet in height under the regulations and therefore whether one or two stories were 

constructed on pilings, the height would fall well within allowable limits. 

  Petitioner’s Exhibit 2 is the 1929 subdivision plat for the Twin River Beach community 

recorded in the Land Records for Baltimore County in Plat Book 9 Page 33.  Exhibit 3 enlarged 

the plat showing Petitioner’s six lots, including the two lots of Parcel 1.  Petitioner’s Exhibits 4, 

5 and 6 consisted of a photograph key plan and various photographs showing the nature of the 

neighborhood with its variety of house types and sizes, including new construction across 

Cherwin Avenue from Petitioner’s property. The photographs also demonstrate the grade of 

Parcel 1 from the proposed house location falling downhill to Cherwin Avenue and the grade of 

Protestant Dawson’s property falling downhill towards Parcel 1.  The existing storm water drain 

in front of and across the street from the subject lot is shown in the photographs represented by 

Exhibit 6.  

                                                 
1 References to testimony of Bruce Doak are taken from the video of the hearing and are not based on a certified 
transcript of the proceeding. 
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Petitioner next presented a key map and sample zoning cases of undersize lots requiring 

zoning relief for lot width entered as Petitioner’s Exhibits 8 and 9A-D. A letter in support of 

Petitioner’s requested zoning relief signed by various neighbors was admitted as Petitioner’s 

Exhibit 10.  

Expert Testimony was provided by Doak concerning Petitioner’s compliance with  

§ 304.1 of the BCZR. First, Doak confirm the two lots of Parcel 1 were recorded in a validly 

approved subdivision prior to March 30, 1955. Second, Doak confirmed the proposed site plan 

represented by Exhibit 1 with the proposed residence satisfied all height and area requirements of 

the BCZR. Specifically, Doak explained how the area of the lots on Parcel 1 was greater than the 

minimum requirement of 6,000 square feet on property zoned DR 5.5, the side and rear setbacks 

met the requirements of the BCZR and, after meeting with County zoning staff determined the 

proposed 40’ front setback met the requirements of § 303.1 of the BCZR. Doak also confirmed 

the Department of Planning supported the requested zoning relief subject to the new 40’ front 

setback.  Third, Doak confirmed Petitioner, as the owner of Parcel 1 only, did not own sufficient 

adjoining land to conform to the width requirements contained in the BCZR.  

Mr. Doak testified with regard to the history of the purchase by Mr. Kestner of Parcels 1 

and 2, the absence of any permanent structures on Parcel 1 and the existing permanent structures, 

residence and garage, on Parcel 2.  When asked if property line adjustments could have been 

made between Lot 156 (part of Parcel 1) and 157 (one of the four lots in Parcel 2), Doak opined 

with an emphatic “no” pointing to the existence of the garage on Lot 157 approximately five feet 

from the property line as shown on Petitioner’s Exhibits 7A-B. Doak also pointed out the 2.5’ 

zoning setback that was required. Doak opined that the only way to accommodate the additional 

5 feet needed to create the 55-foot front lot width for Parcel 1 would have been to move or 
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remove the garage in Parcel 2.  The BCZR simply does not require such action.  Doak expressed 

further concern about moving the lot line of Lot 157 indicating a possible resulting adverse issue 

for the 30’ rear setback of the existing residence on Parcel 2 since the front of the home faced 

Gunder Avenue instead of Cherwin Avenue. When the distances shown on Petitioner’s Exhibit 

7B were challenged on cross examination, Doak testified as to the excellent reputation and work 

of NTT Associates, the survey firm that prepared the Exhibit. No challenging survey was offered 

by Protestant’s. 

 In conclusion on the lot area issue, Doak opined that Petitioner did not have any viable 

option for the lot width issue for Parcel 1 since Parcel 2 was sold in good faith to a third party in 

2018.  Based on his knowledge of the history of all six lots making up Parcel 1 and Parcel 2, the 

fact that the lots were taxed separately in two parcels, Doak testified that in his opinion, the 

actions of Petitioner from the date of purchase of the six lots to the date of the CBA hearing, 

demonstrated there was no intent to avoid the BCZR area requirements.  Doak testified that 

Petitioner was following the clear intent of the County when it adopted § 304.1 which was to 

provide a way for the numerous owners of 50’ wide lots existing in Baltimore County to use and 

sell their properties for residences.   

 Petitioner’s expert was asked to address the concerns of the Petitioner’s neighbor Dawson 

who alleged his view would be blocked if Petitioner’s residence was built.  Doak noted the lots 

have existed since 1929 and the Dawson residence was set back approximately 80 feet from the 

Dawson front property line. Doak noted and the photographs confirmed, there were in fact no 

windows on the side of the Dawson residence facing Petitioner’s future residence location.  Doak 

further pointed out the building setback shown on the plans in Kestner I was 25 feet and 

subsequently moved to 40 feet in Kestner II, the amount of the front setback pending before the 
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CBA.  The new building envelope was also a significant factor according to Doak in that the new 

site plan provides for a building envelope of approximately 1800 square feet versus the previous 

building envelope. Doak opined that a new house built no higher than 50 feet on the Kestner 

property would have no impact on Dawson’s view. 

 In response to the flooding concerns of the both the Twin River Beach Protective and 

Improvement Association, Inc. (“Association”) and Dawson, Doak reviewed the development 

process that Petitioner and/or Petitioner’s builder would be required to go through after zoning 

approval.  Specifically, Doak advised the CBA that zoning approval was only the first step and 

Petitioner and/or Petitioner’s Builder would have to go through the full building permit process, 

including plans review by the Department of Planning (“Planning”) and critical area compliance 

review by the Department of Environmental Protection and Sustainability (“DEPS”). Doak 

explained how DEPS would require compliance by requiring any storm water be captured by dry 

wells and level spreaders on Petitioner’s property with any excess ultimately flowing into the 

storm drains located within Cherwin Avenue as shown on the photographs.  The grade issue 

mentioned previously was expanded upon with Doak stating there was an approximate 4 to 5-

foot grade difference from the proposed house location down to Cherwin Avenue. The flood 

plain elevation was approximately 10 feet for Petitioner’s proposed residence and 13 feet for the 

Dawson residence, all factors considered by DEPS in their review. Upon questioning from the 

CBA panel, Doak testified that the County agencies, including DEPS and Planning, would 

consider neighbor concerns as to storm water management and proposed house plans. Doak 

further explained that the BCZR did not have design requirements for DR 5.5 zoned property. 

  Next, Doak testified there were many undersized lots in the Twin River Beach 

community and, interestingly, 13 of the 40 Protestants signing a petition against Petitioner lived 
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on undersized lots, 50 feet wide. Those 13 lots are shown in Petitioner’s Exhibits 11, 12 and 13. 

Doak went into detail as to the evolution of Protestant Dawson’s property (10 lots commonly 

owned at one time and then reduced to 8) which notably was comparable to the evolution of the 

Kestner property (6 lots) in that the house owned by Wally Wallace directly behind the Kestner 

lots 155 and 156 was built in 1998 upon two 25’ wide lots (2 of the 8 lots) with a third lot added 

later for a garage. The Dawson house was built in 1989 on two 25’ wide lots, 167 and 168 (2 of 

the 8 lots) as shown on the subdivision plat. Therefore, if Petitioner is allowed to build his home 

on lots 155 and 156, there will be 3 homes built on 2 lots each, all adjacent to each other.  

Interestingly, Dawson was not on the title to the deed for the Dawson property until June of 

2020. 

During rebuttal testimony, Doak utilized SDAT records and described the many homes 

either constructed or reconstructed after the zoning regulations went into effect, including several 

houses built on Cherwin Avenue, Gunder Avenue and Birdwood Avenue. The three houses on 

Cherwin according to Doak were either built or reconstructed in 2010, 2014 and 2020 

respectively, all relevant since they were built on two lots, same as Petitioner is requesting. 

 In sum, Doak concluded in his expert opinion the Petitioner met his burden of proof and 

that the granting of the special hearing zoning relief under § 304.1 would not alter the essential 

character of the Twin River Beach neighborhood, would not impair the appropriate use and 

enjoyment of adjacent properties and would not in any way be detrimental to the public health, 

safety or general welfare of the community.  Doak opined that in fact the granting of the zoning 

relief under § 304.1 would be in harmony with the spirit and intent of the Zoning Regulations 

and that without the zoning relief, no home could be constructed on the subject property. 
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V. PROTESTANT’S EVIDENCE       

Protestant’s evidence consisted of testimony from John Dawson, the immediate neighbor 

to the subject property, Tom Brookes, President of the Association and Ruth Hauf, a longtime 

resident of the community. 2   A petition against the requested zoning relief was also submitted 

on behalf of the Association as Protestant’s Exhibit 11.  It was deemed misleading and objected 

to because it contained a reference to a zoning variance not the subject of the appeal.  As noted 

previously, 13 of the 40 individuals who signed the petition reside on 50’ wide lots.  See also 

Petitioner’s Exhibits 11-13.  Protestants made it clear they would have preferred if Petitioner 

sold all of the six lots together and, despite raising much fuss about Petitioner creating a new 

subdivision by chopping off five feet from Lot 157 and adding it to Lot 156, Protestants rejected 

that solution also since it would have also allowed a second house on the Kestner property.  

Protestants consistently and conveniently left out the critical fact that moving five feet from Lot 

157 to Lot 156, would necessitate moving the existing garage on Lot 157, notwithstanding that 

the garage existing on Lot 157 was sold with the primary residence located on Lots 157-160. 

 Protestant Dawson testified he had concerns over flooding issues, reduction in property 

values and a blockage of his view if a house was allowed to be built on the Kestner Property. 

Dawson admitted the alleged flooding issue caused the water from the street to go up onto his 

driveway approximately 10 feet as shown on Protestant’s Exhibit 5E, but never actually near his 

residence. Dawson acknowledged the grade difference with his property being located several 

feet higher than the subject property. Dawson admitted on cross examination to having no 

expertise in the area of storm water management and to taking no steps on his own to mitigate 

any water issues affecting his property. Dawson also admitted he was not a real estate appraiser. 

                                                 
2  References to testimony are taken from the video of the hearing and are not based on a certified transcript of the 
proceeding. 
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 Protestant Dawson, in his testimony under oath before the ALJ in Kestner I, indicated 

there were no structures on Lot 156 and conveniently remembered the non-permanent 

recreational items when testifying before the CBA.  Dawson did not mention any structures or 

use of Lot 156 by Kestner or his predecessors when testifying before the ALJ in Kestner II. 

 Finally, on cross, Dawson reluctantly acknowledged that in the event Petitioner had taken the 

subdivision steps argued by his counsel, the same house he was opposed to in this case would in 

fact have been allowed. 

Association President Tom Brookes testified that prior to the sale of Lots 157-160 by 

Petitioner, a children’s swing set, horseshoe pit and fire pit were located on Lot 156, all 

temporary and easily removable items. No permanent structures were alleged to have existed on 

Lot 156. Brookes also testified that he felt property values would go down with a new house on 

Parcel 1 despite admitting he was not a licensed real estate appraiser. 

 Protestant Ruth Hauf initially testified that after living in the community for 50 years, 

there was only one new house constructed on an empty lot with numerous reconstructions of 

houses damaged during Hurricane Isabel. Many of those damaged houses were shore shacks with 

the rebuilds significantly larger. Ms. Hauf’s memory about new house construction seemed to 

improve upon further questioning and review of the subdivision plat as she admitted there were 

at least three new houses constructed on lots in the community.  Ms. Hauf stated it was her 

opinion a new house on Petitioner’s lot would cause property values to go down despite 

admitting to having no expertise as a real estate appraiser and having discussed at length all of 

the houses built on two lots throughout the community, same as Petitioner intends. 

 

 



 

{00429716v.2 (16927.00001)} 11 
 

VI. ARGUMENT 

 A. Whether the subject property with the proposed building area and proposed 

front setback satisfies BCZR § 304.1. 

§ 304.1 of the BCZR states as follows: 

 § 304.1. - Types of dwellings allowed; conditions. 

 Except as provided in § 4A03, a one-family detached or semidetached dwelling may be 

erected on a lot having an area or width at the building line less than that required by the area 

regulations contained in these regulations if: 

 A. Such lot shall have been duly recorded either by deed or in a validly approved 

subdivision prior to March 30, 1955; 

 B. All other requirements of the height and area regulations are complied with; and

 C. The owner of the lot does not own sufficient adjoining land to conform to the 

width and area requirements contained in these regulations. 

 This Section allows a property owner permission to build a residence on what is 

considered a “undersized lot” as long as these three conditions are met.  Section 304.1 was 

enacted for property owners such as Petitioner to allow them to “grandfather” the development 

right for lots like the ones in this case which are deemed consistent with the pattern of 

development and compatible with the other homes on similar fifty foot lots in the neighborhood.  

See Mueller v. People’s Counsel vs. Baltimore County, 177 Md. App. 43 (2007).  The Court in 

Mueller determined the relief provided by § 304.1 was intended to limit construction of new 

residences on undersize lots where the property owner possesses contiguous vacant and 

unimproved parcels, not improved parcels as is the case before the CBA.  The house on Parcel 2 

was built in 1945, pre-dating the zoning regulations requiring 55-foot-wide lots. In the event all 

https://library.municode.com/md/baltimore_county/codes/zoning_regulations?nodeId=ZONING_CODE_ART4AGRMA
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of the conditions are met, relief must be granted as long as it will not cause harm to the public 

health, safety or welfare.  Petitioner’s evidence with regard to the three conditions of § 304.1 is 

uncontroverted.   

 With regard to the concerns of the immediate neighbor and the community, Petitioner’s 

expert clearly testified that the zoning relief is just the initial phase of the development process as 

the building permit process will provide for the review of storm water management and design, 

thus addressing potential flood concerns and architectural requirements. Once the requirements 

of § 304.1 are satisfied, Petitioner moves on to the building permit application requirements of  

§ 304.2. Doak testified that an owner or builder could file for a building permit on an undersized 

lot pursuant to § 304.1 and then wait for any hearing requests or, as recommended practice by 

the County zoning office, a special hearing can be filed as Petitioner did on the lot width issue 

prior to filing a building permit. In Petitioner’s case, the public hearing option provided in § 304 

been held. Petitioner’s expert testified that based on his extensive experience dealing with 

undersized lots over his career with Baltimore County, it was his expert opinion the public 

hearing requirements of § 304 have been satisfied by the hearings held in Kestner I, Kestner II 

and before the CBA, leaving the building permit application process with the County agency 

reviews as the next step for Petitioner. 

 Upon application for the building permit by Petitioner, DEPS will be reviewing any 

proposed construction for compliance with critical rea requirements and at the same time 

addressing any mitigation that will be necessary. Doak made it clear that Planning will be 

reviewing elevation drawings for the proposed residence.  Petitioner finds it ironic that 

Protestants want to have a say to the style of architecture of Petitioner’s proposed residence 

while several other new houses were built and numerous damaged houses reconstructed without 
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any input or opinions being provided by the neighbors.  Quite simply, Protestants’ desire to take 

away Petitioner’s property rights while preserving their own.   

 B. Whether the issue of zoning merger applies notwithstanding the final Order 

of the ALJ in Kestner I. 

 While not directly addressing the issues of zoning merger, res judicata or collateral 

estoppel, Protestants certainly attempted to provide evidence of such.  In fact, Protestant’s 

counsel argued it was his belief that § 304.1 was the codification of zoning merger. 

  Merger in the context of land use is the adjoining of contiguous parcels under common 

ownership so they are viewed as a single parcel for the purpose of zoning regulations.  Mueller, 

177 Md. App. 43.   The courts look at zoning merger when the owner forms one tract while 

showing an intent from the owner’s conduct with respect to the land and use of it.  See Friends of 

the Ridge, v. Balte Gas & Elec Co, 352 Md. 645 (1999).  Zoning merger is utilized to determine 

if abutting lots are consolidated as far as determining what can be constructed on property by 

allowing compliance with the zoning requirements including area and setbacks without regard to 

a common property line between the lots.  See Remes v. Montgomery County, 387 Md. 52 

(2005).  In the Remes case, since the owner of abutting lots constructed a swimming pool on one 

lot, a common driveway over the adjoining lots, and an addition to an existing house on a 

separate lot, the court determined that zoning merger had occurred thus consolidating the lots for 

determining what could be constructed on the land and what use could be made of the land. Title 

to the lots remained separate. The court was looking at the permanent structure on the one lot and 

what was utilized by the common owner on the adjacent lot. In Remes, the swimming pool 

required a building permit.  Cases where zoning merger was determined to exist are clearly in 

contrast to a common lot owner owning one lot improved with a home and the other lot 
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unimproved.  If the unimproved lot was used for recreational activities and/or for example a shed 

was located on the second property, the courts did not view that as a permanent structure and 

determined merger did not occur.    Mueller, 177 Md. App. 43.   

 In this case, the ALJ determined that no merger occurred between Parcels 1 and 2 in 

Kestner I. That determination was not appealed by Protestants and accordingly became a final 

decision. The only evidence provided by Protestants, albeit contradictory in light of Dawson’s 

completely inconsistent testimony on the issue, was the alleged use of Parcel 156 for recreational 

purposes and the existence of a swing set, fire pit and horseshoe pit.  All of these are temporary 

placements not requiring building permits. In two of the three hearings on this issue, Dawson 

indicated affirmatively or by silence, the absence of any use or structures, permanent or 

temporary, on Parcel 1. Either way, the finality of the ALJ’s finding and the absence of any 

evidence of permanent structures on Parcel 1 is enough for the CBA to not even consider this 

issue when deciding this appeal and if to be considered, enough for the CBA to deny its 

applicability. Protestant’s Exhibit 3 (SDAT Sheet for unimproved lot 155), Protestant’s Exhibit 4 

(SDAT Sheet for unimproved lot 156) and Protestant’s Exhibit 5 (SDAT Sheet for improved lots 

157-160) evidence the three separate account numbers for Petitioner’s lots on Parcel 1 and Parcel 

2. Finally, Petitioner’s expert opined all three elements of § 304.1 were satisfied. 

 C. Whether res judicata or collateral estoppel apply prohibiting Petitioner from 

seeking and obtaining the special hearing zoning relief requested in Kestner II. 

 Neither defense applies since Petitioner requested completely new relief based on a 

substantially revised site plan in Kestner II. 

 Res judicata precludes re-litigation of a suit if:  
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 1. The parties in the present litigation are the same or in privity to the parties of the 

earlier action; and 

 2. The claim in the current action is identical to the one determined in the prior 

adjudication; and 

 3. There was a final judgment on the merits in the previous action.  Powell v. 

Breslin, 430 Md. 52 (2013) (citing Colandrea v. Wilde Lake Cmty Ass’n, Inc., 361 Md. 371 

(2000)); Cicala v. Disability Review Bd, 288 Md. 254 (1980). 

 While acknowledging the parties may be the same or in privity to the parties of Kestner I, 

II and the appeal, claims in Kestner II are not identical to the claims in Kestner I.  There was no 

final judgement on the Special Hearing § 304.1 ALJ approval in Kestner II due to the appeal.  

For these reasons alone, res judicata cannot bar Petitioner’s claim for § 304.1 Special Hearing 

zoning relief in Kestner II. 

 To invoke the defense of collateral estoppel, a party must establish five elements:  See 

Jesus Christ is the Answer Ministries, Inc. v. Balt. County 305 F. Supp. 3d 378 D. Md. (2018). 

 1. That the issue sought to be precluded is identical to the one 
previously litigated. 
 
 2. That the issue was actually determined in the prior proceeding. 
 
 3. That the issue’s determination was “a critical and necessary part of 
the decision in the prior proceeding.” 
 
 4. That the prior judgment is final and valid. 
 
 5. That the party against whom collateral estoppel is asserted “had a 
full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the previous forum.” 
 

   The CBA can look to its own recent history with the issues of res judicata and collateral 

estoppel recalling In Re: Reverend Lucy Ware, Board of Appeals, Case No. 13-147-SPHA 

(“Ware I”) and Case No. 14-064-SPH (“Ware II”).  In the course of litigation for Ware I and II, 
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Petitioners site plan was significantly changed and one variance was eliminated in Ware II.  

Proceedings took place before the Administrative Law Judge, CBA, Circuit Court for Baltimore 

County, the Court of Special Appeals and ultimately the United States District Court for the 

District of Maryland on a related case.  The Circuit Court for Baltimore County in Ware II citing 

the federal case, Jesus Christ is the Answer Ministries, Inc., 303 F.Supp. 3d at 390 quoted Judge 

Bennett: 

 The Complaint asserts that Ware II proposes a different site 
plan than Ware I.  Specifically, Ware II proposes a 50-foot buffer 
and setbacks, through the north, east and west that either 
completely or substantially comply with the zoning requirements 
of the BCZR, ... The changes in Ware II prevent res judicata from 
barring Plaintiff’s claims.... 
 
 For the same reason, collateral estoppel also does not bar 
Plaintiff’s claims, “under collateral estoppel, once an issue is 
actually and necessarily determined by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, that determination is conclusive in subsequent suits 
based on a different cause of action involving a party to the prior 
litigation ... As described above, the issues Defendants seek to 
preclude in Ware II are not identical to the issues previously 
litigated in Ware I.  According to the facts before this Court, Ware 
II askes the Board to consider whether the Ware II site plan, 
offering different buffer and setbacks measurements, meets the two 
conditions for a new church to be exempt from the RTA 
requirements.  Accordingly, collateral estoppel does not bar 
Plaintiff’s claims.” (citation omitted) 

 
 As in Ware II, the site plan in Kestner II proposes significant changes from the site plan 

in Kestner I.  The site plan approved in Kestner II proposes a 40’ setback, eliminates a front 

setback variance and reduces the size of the building footprint.  In Kestner II, Petitioner requests 

special hearing relief only under § 304.1 (after dismissing the variance relief at the 

commencement of the ALJ hearing for Kestner II), thus the issues in Kestner II and this appeal 

are not identical to the issues determined in Kestner I.  Specifically, the Petition in Kestner II is 

based on § 304.1 of the BCZR as compared to the variance relief under § 1B02.3.C.1 requested 
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in Kestner I.  Your Petitioner withdrew his variance petition in Kestner II at the Administrative 

Law Judge level and dismissed its appeal before this Board of the ALJ’s denial of the petition for 

variance in Kestner I.   

With regard to the special hearing relief requested for the zoning merger issue in Kestner 

I, that relief was granted by the ALJ and not appealed, resulting in a final judgment on the 

merger issue. Res judicata does apply to the zoning merger issue since the parties are the same in 

the earlier actions, the zoning merger issue would be the same if raised in Kestner II as it was in 

Kestner I by Petitioner and there was a final judgement on the merger issue in Kestner I. Again, 

it is Petitioner’s position the CBA should not even consider the zoning merger issue as the 

change in site plan and relief requested had no impact on the final merger determination.  

Petitioner did not ask for merger relief in Kestner II because said relief was already final 

following the ALJ decision that a merger did not take place in Kestner I, and no appeal filed 

therefrom. Should the CBA decide to consider the merger issue, under Maryland case law, the 

absence of any permanent structures on Parcel 1 confirm that zoning merger did not occur 

between Parcel 1 and Parcel 2. 

 In contrast, for purposes of considering whether or not res judicata or collateral estoppel 

defenses apply to bar the special hearing relief requested in Kestner II, while the parties may be 

the same for the appeal, the claim or relief under § 304.1 is clearly not the same as the variance 

relief previously requested and there has been no final judgment on the § 304.1 special hearing 

relief.  No determination under § 304.1 was made in Kestner I. The requested zoning relief had 

to be different for Kestner I and Kestner II (as in Ware I and Ware II) since the site plan in 

Kestner II is significantly different than the site plan in Kestner I.   There was no final judgment 

of the Special Hearing relief under § 304.1 in Kestner II. 
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 The burden of proof is also higher for a variance petition than for special hearing relief 

under § 304.1, thus further distinguishing the issues being reviewed in Kestner I and II.  

 The court in Jesus Christ is the Answer Ministries, Inc. cites Reaching Hearts Int’l, Inc. 

v, Prince George’s County, 584 F.Supp 2d. 766 (2008), D. Md., 303 F.Supp. 3d at 389, also dealt 

with a congregation’s attempts to develop a plan for a church, school and other facilities.  In 

Reaching Hearts, the court discussed claim and issue preclusion and determined neither res 

judicata nor collateral estoppel applied to Petitioner’s claims as the plans in the current 

proceeding were different than previously considered plans.  The court determined that since the 

applicant had changed the size of the church’s footprint, parking and lot coverage among other 

issues, neither res judicata nor collateral estoppel applied to bar Petitioner’s claims.  Id. at 787. 

 In Jack v. Foster Branch, 53 Md. App 325 (1982), while considering the issue of res 

judicata, the court discussed what it referred to as the “same evidence test” to determine whether 

the causes of action are the same and whether the judgment in the prior action will be a bar to 

consideration of a subsequent action. The court in Foster Branch determined that a cause of 

action was the same if the same evidence will support both actions.  In that case a variance was 

denied for parking with the court determining the evidence necessary to sustain the second action 

for a modified parking plan was not the same as the evidence necessary to support the first, 

therefore, res judicata was not a bar. In fact, the court in Foster Branch noted the party against 

whom claim preclusion was sough had a significantly heavier burden of proof in the first case 

then the second, the same as the burden of proof necessary in Kestner I for the variance relief 

and Kestner II for the special hearing relief.  Id. at 330. Despite Protestant’s assertions otherwise, 

Doak testified that variances in Baltimore County are not routinely granted. 
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 The relief necessary for Petitioner in the subject case under § 304.1 is clearly distinct and 

different from the relief necessary for a variance under § 307 of the BCZR.  In essence, two 

different tests were necessary and res judicata will not apply in this case.   

VII.  CONCLUSION 

Petitioner has met his burden of proof under § 304.1.  Zoning merger does not apply.  Res 

judicata and collateral estoppel under these facts do not apply to Petitioner’s relief and should 

not bar Petitioner from seeking and obtaining zoning relief for the lot width of Parcel 1.  The 

facts presented were different in Kestner II as compared to Kestner I, including height, setback 

and building size. The relief sought is completely different in Kestner II as compared to Kestner 

I.  The County agencies do not object to Petitioner’s requested relief subject to the 40’ front 

setback and compliance with the critical area requirements. 

Petitioner does not believe whether houses in this community are new, original or 

reconstructed should be determinative. What matters is the undisputed evidence there are many 

houses in the community built on 50-foot-wide lots. Further, it is common knowledge that 

houses are often built larger during reconstruction after suffering damage in storms such as 

Hurricane Isabel subject of course to building permit approval, BCZR compliance and review by 

Planning and DEPS, exactly as Petitioner is proceeding. 

  Simply because certain members of the community and an immediate neighbor do not 

want a home to be built on land that meets the requirements under the BCZR should not be 

enough for the CBA to deny Petitioner from either building a house for himself or selling the 

property to a builder. Without the zoning approval, Petitioner will be prevented from using the 

land in this waterfront neighborhood for its intended residential purpose all in accordance with 

the long standing pattern of development (50’ wide lots) and clear intention of § 304.1.   
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For all of these reasons, Petitioner’s requested zoning relief under § 304.1 should be 

granted.   

      Respectfully submitted, 
 

       
      J. Neil Lanzi 
      Wright, Constable & Skeen, LLP 
      102 W. Pennsylvania Avenue, Suite 406 
      Towson, Maryland 21204 
      (410) 659-1390 
      nlanzi@wcslaw.com 
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(ON RECORD) 1 

  CHAIR:  Good morning, everybody.  We are here this 2 

morning via WebEx concerning case matters 19-402-SPHA and 20-0, 3 

or dash, 090-SPH, I’m sorry, SPHA on both of those.  This is an 4 

appeal from the Administrative Law decision made back in 5 

September concerning a zoning variance and, and we’re here, and 6 

counsel if you could introduce yourself to the Board? 7 

  MR. LANZI:  Sure.  Neil Lanzi, Wright, Constable & 8 

Skeen, 102 West Pennsylvania Avenue, Suite 406, Towson, 9 

Maryland on behalf of the Petitioner, Craig Kestner. 10 

  CHAIR:  Good afternoon.  Mr. McCann? 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yes, thank you.  Good morning, everyone.  12 

Michael McCann on behalf of John Dawson, as well as the Twin 13 

River Beach Protective and Improvement Association.  And my 14 

officers are here in Towson at 118 West Pennsylvania Avenue.   15 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, Mr. Lanzi, just reading into the 16 

words of Ms. Cannington, are there any preliminary matters or 17 

should we turn the case over to Mr. Lanzi? 18 

  MR. LANZI:  I have a preliminary matter that’s really 19 

going to be part of my opening, which will take care of one of 20 

the cases.  So, it’ll be helpful.  Do we need to wait for Mr. 21 

Evans? 22 

  MR. EVANS:  No, I’m here.   23 

  MR. LANZI:  Oh, you’re there? 24 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, I think he has video issues.   25 
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  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  However you want me to proceed, I 1 

can just do my opening and take care of one of the two cases 2 

right off the bat. 3 

  CHAIR:  However you’d like to do it, Mr. Lanzi.  4 

Whatever is, is the most convenient and efficient for you it 5 

works for us. 6 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, good morning, everyone.  7 

Again, I’m here on behalf of Craig Kestner, he’s the owner of 8 

the property known as 13217 Cherwin Avenue in the Twin River 9 

Beach Subdivision. 10 

  There are two lots that are at issue here, 155 and 11 

156 of the Twin River Beach Subdivision, which was created back 12 

in 1929.  And as you mentioned in the beginning, we’re here on 13 

two cases, two appeals. 14 

  One appeal was taken by the Petitioner to the denial 15 

of the variance in case 19-402-SPHA.  And no appeal was taken 16 

to the merger issue, so that should be a final decision.   17 

  And then the appeal taken by Mr. Dawson as to the 18 

approval, of the special hearing approval of the undersized lot 19 

in case 20-090. 20 

  And as you’ll hear testimony today and as Judge 21 

Mayhew heard in the most recent case, the 2020 case, special 22 

hearing relief was pursued under Section 304.1 and from the, 23 

I’ll, I’ll call it Kestner case one, which was the 2019 case, 24 

and Kestner case two, which was the 2020 case. 25 
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  The site plan changed substantially from case one to 1 

case two, whereas the front yard setback variance was 2 

eliminated, and the building size was downsized significantly, 3 

and we went under a different section of the regulations.   4 

  So, the house footprint was reduced when the front 5 

setback went from twenty-five feet to forty.  And most 6 

importantly, the, the filing of the case two was made under 7 

Section 304 and no (inaudible) without the variance.   8 

  The variance was added as alternative relief in case 9 

two, basically at the Zoning Office’s zoning staff (inaudible) 10 

at the time of filing.  And before filing case two, I had 11 

discussions with, with People’s Counsel regarding the res, 12 

potential res judicata issue and due to the change in the 13 

plans, the setback of, elimination of the front yard setback 14 

and the filing under 304.  There was no issue, at least on 15 

their part, at least they didn’t enter their appearance or, or 16 

note any appeals. 17 

  In addition, they, it was looked at that this 18 

Petition and site plan is in accordance with the pattern of 19 

development in the area and really in eastern Baltimore County, 20 

along the waterfront.  21 

  So, we will be providing a map, some sample cases of 22 

other zoning approval cases of fifty-foot-wide lots as here.  23 

We also will have exhibits showing a number of the individuals 24 

that are here for the association against this zoning relief 25 
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also reside on fifty-foot-wide lots. 1 

  So, I’m not sure how many cases the current Board has 2 

heard, but clearly over the last twenty years, plus years, 3 

there have been many, many cases brought to the Board for 4 

approval for undersized lots, many of them waterfront. 5 

  And in this case, as we heard in the last ALJ case, 6 

we realized Mr. Dawson, the neighbor, doesn’t want a house next 7 

to his that could potentially block his view and we also know 8 

there’s concerns about flooding and the community association 9 

is worried about flooding. 10 

  But I guess the fundamental question today is as the 11 

property owner, shouldn’t they be allowed to build on their own 12 

lot just as the others were able to build on their lots, all 13 

subject to, of course, County permit requirements and critical 14 

area issues.   15 

  Further, if there is any issue raised as to merger, I 16 

will be objection, objecting, since that was part of the first 17 

case decided in Petitioner’s favor and no appeal was filed, 18 

thus a final judgment. 19 

  And to show good faith at the ALJ level, and again at 20 

this level, the variance issue was determined moot in Kestner 21 

case two, and in accordance with that line of thinking, 22 

Petitioner will dismiss the variance appeal from case 19-402, 23 

leaving us just with case two, which is 20-090-SPHA.   24 

  So, hopefully that will at least streamline some of 25 
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the issues for the Board and I will be ready to proceed with 1 

witnesses depending on Mr. McCann, if he has a response. 2 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, do you have a response to that? 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  No, thank you, Mr. McComas.  Their 4 

opening, Mr. Lanzi obviously has the right to withdraw an 5 

appeal.  It’s a bit odd the way it played out but, the failure 6 

to brief these issues in the first Petition. 7 

  The only thing I would disagree with, and we can 8 

certainly talk about it when we get to, to the point when it’s 9 

raised is, I disagree with the, the effect of the withdrawal of 10 

that appeal on the evidence that you’re going to hear today. 11 

  So, but we can certainly discuss that as we go along.  12 

But, but, but in terms of an opening, Mr. McComas, no opening 13 

per se. 14 

  CHAIR:  All right.  Is, is, is there any objection to 15 

Mr. Lanzi’s position that we’re only really considering 20-090-16 

SPHA today? 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  No, as I said, I, I believe he has the 18 

right to withdraw an appeal, of course. 19 

  CHAIR:  All right.  Okay.  Mr. Lanzi, your case. 20 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, I’m ready to proceed with, 21 

Bruce Doak would be my first witness.   22 

  MR. MCCANN:  And Neil, I’m sorry to interrupt but I, 23 

I’m obviously aware of Mr. Doak, so, if you want to proffer his 24 

ex, expertise and offer him as an expert, I don’t have a 25 
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problem with that. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  All right.  I appreciate that.  I would 2 

offer Mr. Doak as an expert surveyor -- 3 

  CHAIR:  As an expert in what, in what, in what area, 4 

Mr. Lanzi? 5 

  MR. LANZI:  An expert in surveying, zoning and land 6 

use.   7 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, no objection to that, that expert 8 

scope? 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  No, no objection.  Thank you. 10 

  CHAIR:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. McCann.  (inaudible). 11 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, (inaudible) -- 12 

  CHAIR:  Sorry, Mr. Lanzi.  You go to swear him in.   13 

  MR. SAMPSON:  I made him a panelist and I’ll swear 14 

him in.  I don’t see him on my screen.  Are you there, Mr. 15 

Doak? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, I am. 17 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Okay.  Would you please raise your 18 

right hand?  You swear and affirm under the penalties of 19 

perjury, that the testimony you are about to give is true and 20 

correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 21 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 22 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Please state your name and business 23 

address for the record. 24 

  MR. DOAK:  My name is Bruce E. Doak.  My address is 25 
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3801 Baker Schoolhouse Road, Freeland, Maryland 21053. 1 

  CHAIR:  And Mr. Doak, if you have a video, we’d 2 

appreciate it if you’re able to turn on the video for the 3 

purpose of your testimony.  Thank you, Mr. Doak. 4 

  MR. DOAK:  You’re quite welcome. 5 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Doak.  Can you, I 6 

think you may have already done it, just state your name and 7 

your business address. 8 

  MR. DOAK:  My name is Bruce E. Doak, address is 3801 9 

Baker Schoolhouse Road, Freeland, Maryland 21053.   10 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and if I could have the ability to 11 

show the exhibits?   12 

  MR. SAMPSON:  I believe you do.  Would you try that? 13 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 14 

  CHAIR:  You’ve got (inaudible), Mr. Lanzi. 15 

  MR. LANZI:  All right.  Okay.  We tried that 16 

beforehand and it worked fine and I’m having technical 17 

difficulties now.   18 

  MR. SAMPSON:  It’s on you, I don’t know what else to 19 

do on my end.   20 

  MR. LANZI:  Yeah, let’s see here.  Share content. 21 

  CHAIR:  If you have to, I’ve got your, oh, there you 22 

go.  You got it, Mr. Lanzi. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, got it.  All right.  Mr. Doak, 24 

first I’ll ask the zoning plan that’s marked as Petitioner’s 25 
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Exhibit 1 dated February 15th, 2021, was that prepared by you or 1 

under your supervision? 2 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, it was. 3 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Can everyone see that? 4 

  CHAIR:  Can you try to increase the, the size of it, 5 

Mr. Lanzi, for people that are blind, like myself? 6 

  MR. LANZI:  How about that? 7 

  CHAIR:  That looks perfect.   8 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Probably, and what I wanted to do 9 

and, and maybe Mr. McCann would be willing to stipulate, rather 10 

than go through all the exhibits and come back, I have Exhibits 11 

1 through 10 that were submitted and then a separate submittal 12 

of Exhibits 11 through 13. 13 

  Exhibit, here, what I’ll do is go back up to the 14 

exhibit list.  Exhibit 2, Twin River Subdivision, Exhibit 3 is 15 

the subdivision plat zoomed into these lots, and then we have 16 

some photographs.  Mr. McCann, do you have any objection to the 17 

Exhibits 1, 2 and 3 I provided you yesterday? 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Thank you.  Yeah, I’m sorry, I’m looking 19 

through them now.  I have seen them in advance.  We, as you 20 

said, have exchanged exhibits.  The only question I have about 21 

one is is this the plan that was before the ALJ? 22 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, let me go back to Exhibit 1.  This 23 

is, this is the, the final plan that was reviewed and approved 24 

by the ALJ without redlines and I’ll have, ask Mr. Doak to 25 
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chime in as necessary.   1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I, I’m not -- 2 

  MR. LANZI:  Yeah, this shows the forty-foot setback. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  This shows the thirty, oh, it does show 4 

forty.  Okay.  Yeah, anything on that point I can handle on 5 

cross.  But no, no objection to Exhibits 2 or 3. 6 

  CHAIR:  One, two or three, right, Mr. Lanzi? 7 

  MR. LANZI:  Pardon me? 8 

  CHAIR:  It’s one, two and three, right? 9 

  MR. LANZI:  Correct.   10 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, so -- 11 

  MR. LANZI:  Yeah, offer one, two and three into 12 

evidence. 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  In fact, one through six are fine as 14 

well, the exhibits, photos, yeah, four, five and six as well.   15 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Just to give the Board a sense of 16 

what’s going on here, how about if we go right to the 17 

photographs.  Mr. Doak, describe, if you could, take us 18 

through, it looks like four was the key sheet for the 19 

photographs.  20 

  It’s going to be hard to use that when I have to 21 

scroll.  I don’t know if the Board is able to look at that and 22 

look at the other ones, but if you could just, I’ll slowly 23 

scroll through these and then you can just talk about each 24 

photograph. 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  Okay.  Let’s, let’s, Mr. Lanzi, if you 1 

would get to the areas where all the arrows are, and we’ll just 2 

talk generally about where I was and what I was doing.  So, -- 3 

  CHAIR:  Hold on for one second, Mr. Doak.  You 4 

probably have to reduce the size, Mr. Lanzi, so you can, there 5 

you go. 6 

  MR. DOAK:  There you go, thank you. 7 

  MR. LANZI:  I’m on it. 8 

  MR. DOAK:  So, for everybody, this is what I normally 9 

do to add some sort of ability for you to understand where I 10 

shot the photographs and in what orientation. 11 

  So, I’m standing out in Cherwin Road and I’m looking 12 

up and down the street.  I’m looking across the lot that was 13 

conveyed to our left and then our subject property and then Mr. 14 

Dawson’s property and then finally towards the lots that are on 15 

the waterfront.   16 

  So, if we could go the, the, the lots, the 17 

photographs I can, so, with this one, I am standing out on 18 

Cherwin.  I am standing in front of the subject lots.  I am 19 

looking north on Cherwin, so, and then you can see the fence 20 

that surrounds the adjoining property to our left.  So, if you 21 

can go to the next one, please? 22 

  MR. EVANS:  Mr. Doak?  When, when you’re talking 23 

about these photographs, you need to, you need to say which 24 

exhibit number it is so that the record -- 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  Sorry, Mr. Evans.  Petitioner’s exhibit 1 

number 5-A.  Like I said, we’re standing in, I’m standing in 2 

the, the center of Cherwin Road.  I’m looking north up the road 3 

and our, the subject property, subject lot would be to the 4 

right, my right. 5 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 6 

  MR. DOAK:  If I could see the next one, please?   7 

  MR. LANZI:  Thank you. 8 

  MR. DOAK:  This is Petitioner’s exhibit number 5-B.  9 

It is, I’m panning around north easterly.  You will see the 10 

adjoining property and the house that is on that, the fence 11 

that is on it and just the, our frontage on the subject lot.  12 

If I could go to the next one, please?   13 

  MR. EVANS:  Is 5-B, is, is the house that’s depicted 14 

in 5-B is that what also used to be Mr. Kestner’s property? 15 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct.  Yes, sir. 16 

  MR. EVANS:  All right. 17 

  MR. DOAK:  In 5-C, once again you’ll see the, the 18 

fence on the adjoining property, the former Kestner house, the 19 

former Kestner garage that’s on the property that was sold and 20 

the, most of the lot of the subject property there.  You’ll 21 

see, if, if I may one, real quick.   22 

  We talked a little bit about this one.  You’ll see 23 

that it has a slight gradient to the, to the road.  It’s not 24 

perfectly flat but it, it grades to the road and a little bit 25 
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to the south. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, Petitioner’s exhibit number 5-2 

D, once again, is, it’s the subject property.  It’s looking, 3 

I’m standing right at the edge of the paving and I’m looking at 4 

the entire subject property.  To the right you’ll see a 5 

driveway and cars in the parking lot, or in the driveway and 6 

those belong to Mr. Dawson and that’s Mr. Dawson’s house to the 7 

right and Mr. Wallace, Wally Wallace, in the rear, his property 8 

there.   9 

  Petitioner’s 5-E, I am focusing in on Mr. Dawson’s 10 

house, driveway and property.  You’ll see that his property 11 

falls toward our subject lot.  He has a lot of paving there for 12 

his driveway and so, in turn, (inaudible) needs to be addressed 13 

with that.  Next photograph? 14 

  Petitioner’s Exhibit 5-F is looking south on Cherwin 15 

Road.  The driveway to the left is Mr. Dawson’s driveway.  16 

You’ll see that it’s grass and yards and stuff all the way down 17 

there, going south.  Next photo, please? 18 

  Petitioner’s 5-G is looking at the lot, house, 19 

driveway, all the improvements in the property directly across 20 

the street from Mr. Dawson’s driveway.  So, it’d really be more 21 

in front of Mr. Dawson then it would be in front of our subject 22 

property.   23 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 24 

  MR. DOAK:  The lot in front of the subject property 25 
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on the water side, Petitioner’s 5-H is, shows sheds.  It also 1 

shows the new house that was built just northwest of our 2 

property on this. 3 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  All right.  I believe that those 4 

are the photographs that you took, Mr. Doak.  Is that correct? 5 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct. 6 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and, and they’ve been stipulated to.  7 

So, I would offer Petitioner’s 5-A through H into evidence. 8 

  CHAIR:  Any objection, Mr. McCann? 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  No objection, thank you. 10 

  CHAIR:  Okay.  They’re admitted. 11 

  MR. LANZI:  In an effort to also streamline time, the 12 

next series of photographs, much more recent, taken in the last 13 

couple weeks by Mr. Kestner’s mother, who’s an attendee.  I was 14 

just going to see if, if there’s no objection, just have Mr. 15 

Doak describe them because they’re very, very current.   16 

  MR. MCCANN:  That’s fine. 17 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, this would be Petitioner’s, I 18 

believe it would be 6, 6-A through K.  All right, Mr. Doak. 19 

  MR. DOAK:  Okay.  On Petitioner’s Exhibit 6-A, we are 20 

standing across the street to the west of our subject property.  21 

Cherwin Road is in front, in the foreground and we are looking 22 

back.  Our entire subject property, once again, if you could 23 

see past those signs that are there, that would be Mr. Dawson’s 24 

property and then Wally Wallace’s house is in the rear.   25 
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  CHAIR:  So, Mr. Doak, if I look back where you’re 1 

positioning A, B, C, D, E, F, G and H, which, which one is this 2 

closest to in terms of you’re A, B, C, D, E (inaudible)? 3 

  MR. DOAK:  It would be C or, it’d be probably D. 4 

  CHAIR:  D?  Okay, thank you. 5 

  MR. DOAK:  And if you’ll see that, once again, the, 6 

the grade of the property.  You can see it even better in this 7 

one.  I like the snow being on the ground versus the grass.  8 

You can see that it, the topography, it falls towards the road.  9 

So, any runoff that you would have, you will have from a house, 10 

driveway, will run towards the road. 11 

  You can see it also runs back towards the fence or 12 

the adjoining lots so whatever management you would have when 13 

building a house on this property, you would manage it, of 14 

course, around the house and the improvements but you would 15 

also, you would manage it even more on the north side or 16 

towards that fence. 17 

  So, this is helpful a little bit.  Petitioner’s 18 

Exhibit 6-B.  It takes a few, a number of steps backwards, so 19 

it’s pretty much the same vantage point, but this one you can 20 

see that to the left of the fence is what Mr. Kestner, the 21 

house he used to own, and then you can see to the right is Mr. 22 

Dawson’s driveway, cars and house. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  Mr. Doak, is that a garage where I’m 24 

pointing? 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  Yes, it is. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 2 

  MR. DOAK:  A one stall, wood frame garage.  Like with 3 

the house, it’s in good shape, definitely usable, so, yes. 4 

  MR. LANZI:  Got it.   5 

  MR. DOAK:  So, we’re now standing on the subject lot, 6 

about halfway back on the north side and we’re looking at the 7 

lot that is about to be built on.  That in my earlier pictures 8 

had two sheds on.  Now a house is about to be built or is being 9 

built there now and you can see the one next to it, to the 10 

right, was the one that was built just recently. 11 

  VOICE:  So, you’re saying that the empty lot there 12 

next to the new house is a house, is a lot that’s presently 13 

under construction? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, it is. 15 

  VOICE:  Have permits been issued? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  I cannot tell you, sir.  I, I do 17 

apologize.  Silt fence is up. 18 

  VOICE:  So, what do you mean when you say it’s under 19 

construction?  What do you mean? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  Well, they’re, they’re starting the 21 

process.  So, they’ve got silt fence up.  Also, they, I’m sure 22 

they filed for the permit, but I don’t know if it’s been issued 23 

yet.   24 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I’d like to piggyback on that.  I 25 
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was allowing Mr. Doak to, I’m sorry to interrupt, but I was 1 

allowing Mr. Doak to proceed because I thought much of this was 2 

by way of background.  But I, but I do want to be very careful 3 

and make sure that I object to what I perceive to be a lot of 4 

testimony about what’s happening on other properties and what 5 

should or should not be happening on other properties.  I just, 6 

and if you’d like me to, to explain why I don’t think it’s 7 

relevant, I’m certainly happy to do that.  But with respect to 8 

this particular set of questions, I, I would impose an 9 

objection on the basis of relevance. 10 

  CHAIR:  And, and Mr. McCann, I, I, I don’t, I’m going 11 

to overrule it and allow the witness a little latitude here.  I 12 

think some of the things that you raised can be, you can raise 13 

on, when you cross examine him.  But I, but Mr. Lanzi, I also 14 

agree with Mr. McCann in terms of the relevance here.  So, 15 

we’re going to end up giving it the weight, you know, that, 16 

that it’s going to be given since it’s more speculative here. 17 

  MR. LANZI:  This, yeah, this is just for background 18 

to show what’s happening in the community. 19 

  CHAIR:  Yeah. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah.  Okay, thank you, Mr. McComas. 21 

  MR. DOAK:  I’ll keep my comments shorter and sweeter.  22 

This is pretty much the same lot that we looked at in 23 

Petitioner’s 6-C. 24 

  What this is is the, this is in front of, you can see 25 
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by the fence, you can figure out where you are.  You’re in 1 

front of the previous Kestner house lot.  And what this is 2 

showing is that, like I said, the, the topography is flowing 3 

down towards the road off of the subject lot.  It’s being 4 

managed and caught in the swale that’s down the front of both 5 

the subject lot and the adjoining lot.  It comes down and then 6 

goes into a pipe crossing the road and then on the other side 7 

of the road it goes into another pipe and is outfalled 8 

somewhere down at the stream or the water. 9 

  MR. LANZI:  This is Petitioner’s 6-E? 10 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, it is.   11 

  CHAIR:  And Mr. Doak, is that also Mr. Dawson’s 12 

house?  Is that, that drainage system going from there, if it 13 

doesn’t, if it falls off the driveway there? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  It doesn’t, that’s a very good question, 15 

Mr. McComas.  It doesn’t quite go to Mr. Dawson’s driveway.  16 

It, it is probably three-quarters of the way or a little bit 17 

more across our lot, but it doesn’t cross Mr. Dawson’s. 18 

  Once again, that’s the, the lot being built.  You can 19 

see what I was saying is, the silt fence is up and, like I 20 

said, that’s all I have to say about that.  That’s 6-F. 21 

  6-G, once again, it’s the same lot to be built on.   22 

  What this is, this, on 6-H, it is, is that drainage 23 

swale that goes down the front of the subject lot, in front of 24 

Mr. Kestner’s prior ownership lot.  Then it goes through a pipe 25 
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onto the other side of Cherwin Road and then you’ll see it 1 

catches another pipe and goes down through the lot that’s going 2 

to be built on and then outfalls at the water.   3 

  So, you would be having your back towards Cherwin 4 

looking at this and the subject, the, the, the other side of 5 

Cherwin and then in turn you can see that there’s another pipe 6 

and it goes westerly towards the water.   7 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 8 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s, that’s just another sight of the, 9 

what’s there.   10 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 11 

  MR. DOAK:  And this is 6, I don’t see, it’s 6, I 12 

don’t know where I am.   13 

  CHAIR:  K, I think. 14 

  MR. DOAK:  K, thank you very much, sir, K.  This is 15 

standing on the opposite side of Cherwin and just looking at 16 

Mr. Dawson’s property.   17 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  All right.  So, Mr. Doak, does 6 18 

through A, 6-A through K reflect the subject property, the 19 

property across the street, the Dawson property, the road and 20 

the drainage, to your knowledge these have not been altered or 21 

changed in any way? 22 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  I would offer these photographs 24 

Petitioner’s 6-A through K. 25 



21 
 

  CHAIR:  Okay.  Any objection, Mr. McCann? 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  I understand your, your prior ruling, 2 

Mr. McComas.  Only, only to those, just for the record, to 3 

those photographs that are solely directed towards the lot 4 

across the street.  To the extent any suggestion is being made 5 

that that is somehow relevant to the case before the Board.  6 

But I understand your ruling on that.   7 

  CHAIR:  All right. 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Thank you. 9 

  CHAIR:  So, we’ll admit them.   10 

  MR. LANZI:  Thank you.  All right.  Mr. Doak, it 11 

probably would be helpful just to go ahead down to Exhibit 7-A 12 

through C, A, B and C.  And just for the record, 7-A is the 13 

same as Exhibit 1, Petitioner’s one.  It just would be easier 14 

to show them in order here for you.   15 

  Mr. Doak, what I’ll do is, if you could just describe 16 

what’s shown on the site plan, what’s proposed and then we’ll 17 

go to the other two site plans that were used previously.  18 

Starting with 7-A.   19 

  MR. DOAK:  Okay.  What this, it’s like Mr. Lanzi 20 

said, this is the same as Petitioner’s exhibit number one.  21 

This is the plat that was most recently done and submitted, and 22 

it is, reflects the redlines that were done in the 2020, or the 23 

last zoning hearing. 24 

  It reflects the subject lot, subject two lots.  It 25 
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also shows Mr. Dawson’s house to the left and then Wally 1 

Wallace’s house to the rear.  And then also to the right, it 2 

reflects the, it shows the, the dwelling that used to be Mr. 3 

Kestner’s, as well as the garage close to the property line.   4 

  If you could please focus in on our subject two lots, 5 

Mr. Lanzi, a little bit more?  And drop it down a little, 6 

please.  Then drop it down just a little bit.  The other way, 7 

please. 8 

  MR. LANZI:  The other way?   9 

  MR. DOAK:  The other way. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  How’s that? 11 

  MR. DOAK:  Thank you very much.  So, on a DR-5.5 lot, 12 

well, first, if I may.  This is, the subject lots are Lot 155 13 

and 156 of Section A, Twin River Beach, which was recorded in 14 

Plat Book 9, Page 33, and that, I believe that’s Petitioner’s 15 

exhibit number two, but that’s the subject lots.   16 

  Each are twenty-five feet wide and approximately a 17 

hundred and twenty-five feet long on the one side and then a 18 

hundred and eighteen on the other. 19 

  This is zoned DR-5.5 and the zoning setbacks for a 20 

DR-5.5 are, I’m going to start with the south sides and then 21 

run to the front.  Are ten feet on each side.  There is not a 22 

sum required but it is ten on each side.  And then with a rear 23 

setback of thirty. 24 

  As to the front, the front minimum is twenty-five 25 
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feet.  And in the very first hearing that I did for the 1 

Kestners, I applied for a variance of twenty-five in lieu of 2 

the required forty.   3 

  What forty is is the maximum front yard setback based 4 

on front yard, front street averaging.  What that is is that 5 

you take, you look at properties on either side of you, or if 6 

there isn’t one, you look at those as much as two hundred feet 7 

in either direction. 8 

  Now, the one to the right, 6903 Gunder Avenue, is not 9 

considered because it has a frontage on Gunder.  So, in turn, 10 

now we look to the left, or to the south, and we would look at 11 

Mr. Dawson’s house, which is approximately seventy-five feet 12 

and then we look down the road further for the next hundred 13 

feet.  With that in mind, there are no additional houses within 14 

the next seventy-five, then you get one at the very end. 15 

  So, it was determined by the Office of Zoning and 16 

myself that we should apply the maximum here of forty feet in 17 

lieu of the minimum of twenty-five feet.   18 

  MR. LANZI:  And that’s based on Section 303.1 of the 19 

zoning regulations, is that correct? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct. 21 

  MR. EVANS:  I’m a little confused. 22 

  MR. DOAK:  I’m sorry. 23 

  MR. EVANS:  Well, I’m confused.  Putting aside the 24 

first hearing in front of the ALJ, which really is not 25 
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relevant, okay? 1 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 2 

  MR. EVANS:  What, what is the, what is the setback on 3 

this new plan? 4 

  MR. DOAK:  Forty feet. 5 

  MR. EVANS:  Forty feet? 6 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 7 

  MR. EVANS:  And, and the requirement is forty feet? 8 

  MR. DOAK:  That is the maximum required front yard 9 

setback.   10 

  MR. EVANS:  What do you mean, the maximum 11 

requirement? 12 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s, that’s the way setbacks works.  13 

It’s not to exceed forty feet. 14 

  MR. EVANS:  So, you can’t have a house fifty feet 15 

back from a road? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  You can if you want it, like Mr. Dawson 17 

did.  But you’re not required to.   18 

  MR. EVANS:  Right, so the forty foot is the minimum 19 

setback? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  Nah, it’s both, can I put it that way?   21 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) make any sense to me.   22 

  MR. EVANS:  The forty foot is what is required in 23 

this instance.  So, there’s no variance, you’re not seeking a 24 

variance or alter the set, front setback in any way, is that 25 
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correct? 1 

  MR. DOAK:  Not only am I not seeking a variance for 2 

the front, I’m not seeking a variance for either of the sides, 3 

or the rear, or the total area of the property.   4 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay, all right.  I, I’m not trying to 5 

challenge you, I’m just trying to understand what, what the 6 

deal is here.  Okay. 7 

  MR. DOAK:  Keeps me on my toes if you challenge me, 8 

so. 9 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay, so.  Okay.  So, basically, the 10 

forty foot is in compliance with the requirements? 11 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct. 12 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.  That’s all I’m asking.   13 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes.  So, with the setbacks we’ve 14 

discussed, that leaves a building envelope of approximately, 15 

maximum building envelope, of thirty by sixty or eighteen 16 

hundred square feet.   17 

  MR. EVANS:  Thirty by sixty you said? 18 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir.   19 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay. 20 

  MR. DOAK:  Feet.  It’s a fifty-foot lot, ten on 21 

either side, that makes the thirty and then coming in from the 22 

rear, forty on the front gives me six, approximately sixty feet 23 

and multiply those two, approximately eighteen hundred square 24 

feet.   25 
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  CHAIR:  A sixty by thirty-five, right?  Or is it 1 

sixty by thirty?   2 

  MR. DOAK:  Sixty by thirty. 3 

  CHAIR:  All right.  And which is, some of the older 4 

homes, that’s a little larger than some of the older homes in 5 

that area.  For the newer homes, it is, as a matter of fact, it 6 

might be even a little small.  But we’ll say it’s, it’s in the 7 

running for some of the newer homes. 8 

  MR. LANZI:  And Mr. Doak, this is a smaller footprint 9 

than what was initially presented in the first hearing? 10 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct, by fifteen feet in its 11 

depth. 12 

  MR. LANZI:  All right.  So, I’m going to scroll down 13 

to the, I believe it’s 7-B.  Let me make it smaller just to -- 14 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) the new house that’s built, that’s 15 

on the right as you look out to the water, what, what kind of 16 

size do you think that has?   17 

  MR. DOAK:  A little, when looking at the GIS, it has 18 

a little larger footprint than what we’re showing. 19 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) comparable to (inaudible)? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, it is.  Yes, sir, it is.  And 21 

it’s three stories. 22 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  I’m showing you what is marked 23 

Petitioner’s 7-B, which is from the, Petitioner’s one, the 2019 24 

case.  And I’m not sure if you can, whether I should bring it, 25 
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make it a little bigger. 1 

  MR. DOAK:  That’ll be fine.   2 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m sorry to interrupt, but I’m, I am 3 

going to object to these old plans coming in.  I don’t 4 

understand the relevance of them. 5 

  CHAIR:  I was thinking the same thing, Mr. McCann.  6 

It may start confusing people like me.   7 

  MR. LANZI:  Well, the, the, the relevance would be, 8 

if there is going to be an argument made by the Protestants of 9 

res judicata or collateral estoppel, any of those issues, it’s 10 

extremely relevant under, under the most current Maryland case 11 

law that we’re showing these are, this is a totally different 12 

plan.   13 

  It’s a different house, it’s, it’s smaller.  The, the 14 

location of the house is different and so it’s extremely 15 

relevant.  If, if there’s not going to be any defense of res 16 

judicata, then it’s not a, not as big of a concern.  But I need 17 

to preserve that for my record going forward.   18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Well, I would certainly stipulate that 19 

this building has changed in the way that Mr. Doak may describe 20 

it.  But to introduce the plans for the purpose of showing 21 

that, I, I assume, the, the implicit purpose here is to show 22 

that we’ve done a good job of responding to community concerns 23 

and even reduced the size of the building, to that extent, I 24 

don’t think it’s relevant at all.  And I really don’t think the 25 
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plans themselves should be in.   1 

  But I would certainly stipulate to whatever changes, 2 

I, I’m not even confident, to be honest with you, that I’m 3 

going to be making a collateral estoppel or res judicata 4 

argument at all.  But, so I understand that, that reason.   5 

  But I think Mr. Doak just saying that the, the way in 6 

which the building has been changed since the last hearing is 7 

sufficient.  I know we’re splitting hairs here, but that’s, 8 

that’s my position. 9 

  CHAIR:  And I’m going to agree with Mr. McCann on 10 

this, Mr. Lanzi in that he hasn’t raised res judicata, at least 11 

as far as I know.  I, I respect that you want to preserve it, 12 

but I also look at it as he, he, that he hasn’t made those 13 

claims yet.  And he’s actually stipulated with you, you know, 14 

the material differences here. 15 

  So, I, I would, I would sustain his objection at, at 16 

this given point in time.  And so, if we can move on because 17 

it, it was confusing to me, myself, in terms of where you guys 18 

are in your case.   19 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Well, let me just go onto the next 20 

plan.  I don’t know whether that will help or not.  But -- 21 

  MR. DOAK:  If I may, Mr. Lanzi? 22 

  MR. LANZI:  Sure. 23 

  MR. DOAK:  We could always come back to this one if 24 

there’s questions about, for the Board.  I did this to help it, 25 



29 
 

you understand the differences between the, what I applied for 1 

originally and what we’re doing here today.  But if that 2 

doesn’t come back up again, then we can always come back to 3 

this.  Okay? 4 

  MR. LANZI:  That’s fine. 5 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, that works.  That works for me.  6 

(inaudible), Mr. Evans?  I mean, do you guys agree with this 7 

(inaudible)? 8 

  MR. EVANS:  Yeah, I don’t know why we’re -- 9 

  CHAIR:  Yes, it’s confusing me and, and if Mr. McCann 10 

doesn’t raise these arguments, I, you know, I, I, I question 11 

the relevance too.   12 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Well, maybe the next several 13 

questions will eliminate the confusion.  And I, and I do think 14 

it’s important that the Petitioner is able to show not only the 15 

changes, but these changes are minimized, I would think, some 16 

of the concerns.  17 

  And, in fact, I wasn’t involved in the first case.  18 

Mr., Mr. Kestner was unrepresented.  I was involved in the 19 

second case.  And, and that’s why we filed the, the new plan.  20 

And there was an effort made to accommodate the concerns of the 21 

neighbor.  That’s what any good neighbor does. 22 

  So, I, I think, I think it’s relevant.   23 

  CHAIR:  Well, (inaudible) Mr. Lanzi, I think Mr. Doak 24 

has been doing that in his testimony today, is sharing 25 
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(inaudible) how he’s changed the footprint here. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 2 

  CHAIR:  And at, to, to me there’s, you know, he’s 3 

explained it, you know, just his testimony on the current plan. 4 

  MR. LANZI:  Got it.  All right.  Mr. Doak, I’m going 5 

to now turn you to Section 304 of the -- 6 

  MR. EVANS:  I’m sorry to interrupt.  I’m sorry to 7 

interrupt, Mr. Lanzi.  I’m the keeper of the exhibits here.  8 

So, I just, so, so, I’m a little pin, you know, I don’t want to 9 

be too pinheaded about this but.  So, 7-B I have marked as i.d. 10 

only and are we doing the same then for 7-C? 11 

  MR. LANZI:  Yes, for now, for now. 12 

  MR. EVANS:  For now?  Okay and again, 7-C is, is from 13 

the original case, right, from Kestner one? 14 

  MR. LANZI:  7-C is actually from Kestner two.  I 15 

believe it was an exhibit in Kestner two.   16 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.  But you’re not offering it or it’s 17 

for i.d. only?   18 

  MR. LANZI:  Right now, it’s i.d. only. 19 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, i.d. only.   20 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay, that’s fine. 21 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) for the res judicata argument, 22 

Joe, so I look at it as i.d. only as well. 23 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay, great.   24 

  MR. LANZI:  So, one through, one through six are in 25 
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and 7-A are in, right? 1 

  MR. EVANS:  Yes, one through, yes, that’s correct. 2 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  I just keep track too.  All right.  3 

Mr. Doak, turning to Section 304 of the Baltimore County zoning 4 

regulations, which I believe you’re familiar with, but first 5 

ask you whether the, the lots that are in question here, were 6 

they either duly recorded by deed or a validly approved 7 

subdivision prior to March of 1955? 8 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, they were.  The subdivision was 9 

done in 1929.   10 

  MR. LANZI:  I’m going to go up to that.  Okay. 11 

  MR. DOAK:  Yeah, Exhibit, Petitioner’s Exhibit 2 12 

shows the subdivision of Twin River Beach done in 19, I 13 

apologize, June 1923.   14 

  MR. LANZI:  And then revised in 1929? 15 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s right. 16 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and then I’m going to go to the next 17 

exhibit, which kind of zooms in on the two lots that are the 18 

subject of today’s hearing.  Let me -- 19 

  MR. DOAK:  The only thing that was enhanced was I 20 

zoomed it in on the area in question and I outlined the 21 

property that was formerly the Kestner property in pink with 22 

the deed reference on it.  And then the subject property, Lot 23 

155, 156 in blue, with the deed reference on that. 24 

  MR. LANZI:  This is Cherwin here? 25 



32 
 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, it is.   1 

  MR. LANZI:  And Gunder there.  Okay.  Now, now the 2 

next requirement under Section 304, all other requirements of 3 

the height and regulations are compared with, is that correct? 4 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct.  We have an area that 5 

exceeds the minimum six thousand square feet for a DR-5.5 lot.  6 

We have the required forty feet in the front, the required ten 7 

foot on either side, setbacks of ten feet on either side and 8 

the rear setback of thirty feet.  And this lot, or this house, 9 

will not exceed fifty feet tall. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  And does Mr. Kestner own any adjoining 11 

land which would allow him to meet the fifty-five-foot-wide lot 12 

width requirement? 13 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir, he does not. 14 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and if you could, let’s just go 15 

through a little bit of the history of Mr. Kestner’s lot 16 

ownership, if you would? 17 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 18 

  MR. LANZI:  So, at one point, did Mr. Kestner own 19 

Lots 155, 156, 157 through 160?   20 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, he did.  He bought those as two 21 

separate parcels.  In Deed 34935, page 3, or 437, he bought 22 

under parcel one as Lots 157 to 160.  And then as parcel two, 23 

he has, he purchased the 155 and 156 as a separate parcel, same 24 

Deed. 25 
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  MR. LANZI:  And Lot 157 through 160, those lots are 1 

improved, is that correct? 2 

  MR. DOAK:  They are.  And I, and I, I missed saying 3 

that over the years, each one of these have been taxed 4 

separately.  So, 157 through 160 is improved with a single-5 

story wood frame house, as well as a wood frame garage in the 6 

north, or the southeast corner. 7 

  MR. LANZI:  And that garage that you’re talking about 8 

it, I’m going to take you to a photograph.  I believe is that 9 

the garage right there? 10 

  MR. DOAK:  No, that is the house.   11 

  MR. EVANS:  That’s the house, yeah. 12 

  MR. DOAK:  One more.  There you go.  It’s, it’s -- 13 

  MR. LANZI:  Right here? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  There on the other, behind the tree and 15 

the play, playground, it’s that and it’s, it’s within or closer 16 

than five foot to the property line. 17 

  MR. LANZI:  Got it.  Okay.  When did you say Mr. 18 

Kestner purchased the lots, do you recall the year? 19 

  MR. DOAK:  I believe ’18, I’d have to look at the 20 

title deed. 21 

  MR. LANZI:  When he purchased them, you said 22 

fourteen, I think you said ’14? 23 

  MR. EVANS:  Yeah, isn’t it ’14? 24 

  MR. DOAK:  It is.  It is, thank you. 25 
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  MR. LANZI:  Okay and that, then there came a time 1 

when Mr. Kestner sold Lots 157 through 160? 2 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 3 

  MR. LANZI:  And do you know when that was? 4 

  MR. DOAK:  That might have been ’18.   5 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 6 

  MR. DOAK:  I’d have to look at the deeds, but yes. 7 

  MR. LANZI:  So, the, the improved lot, the lots with 8 

the improvements were sold.  And that included the, the garage 9 

that you just showed in the photograph up against the fence? 10 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 11 

  MR. LANZI:  Now, could Mr. Kestner have taken five 12 

feet from Lot 157? 13 

  MR. DOAK:  Can I see Petitioner’s exhibit number one?  14 

It’ll help. 15 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.   16 

  MR. DOAK:  So, and if you’ll blow it up just a 17 

smidge?  There we go.  So, the, the issue with this is that, 18 

like I said, very nice little house, very nice little garage.  19 

Mr. Kestner could not have added five more feet for two 20 

reasons. 21 

  One is, that would have been into, into the garage, 22 

and the second reason would have been that, well, that’s, 23 

that’s really the, the main reason.  And also, the, he has to 24 

retain a thirty-foot setback from the rear of the house to the 25 
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adjoining property line. 1 

  So, we wouldn’t have been able to get the entire five 2 

feet from that to the property line.  So, it would have been in 3 

the garage, and it may have encroached the setback, required 4 

setback off the back of the Gunder Avenue house.   5 

  MR. EVANS:  So, so was the house there when he bought 6 

the property? 7 

  MR. DOAK:  Oh, yes, sir.  I don’t remember the year 8 

it was built, but it was built, let me see, I’ll tell you in a 9 

second.  It was built in, I’m sorry to do this, 19 -- 10 

  MR. LANZI:  It was 1945. 11 

  MR. DOAK:  Thank you. 12 

  MR. EVANS:  So, I, I don’t understand, Mr. Doak, what 13 

you’re saying about the rear setback.   14 

  MR. DOAK:  Okay.  So, -- 15 

  MR. EVANS:  What does that have to do with the five 16 

feet on the side, that, that I don’t get.   17 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir.  So, you’ll see that the 18 

existing house is facing Gunder.  Zoning requires it to have a 19 

thirty-foot setback on the rear. 20 

  MR. EVANS:  Oh, oh, I see, I see, I see, I gotcha.   21 

  MR. DOAK:  So, if I took five feet off of lot number 22 

one fifty-seven, one, I’d be through the garage and two, I 23 

would be encroaching on the thirty-foot setback for the house. 24 

  MR. EVANS:  Because it faces Gunder, not –- 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  Correct, yeah.   1 

  MR. LANZI:  So, Mr. Doak, Mr. Kestner didn’t have a 2 

lot of options then when it came time to sell Lots 157 through 3 

160 then? 4 

  MR. DOAK:  Yeah, and what he, not only those two 5 

reasons but he also, his Deed was in two separate parcels.  So, 6 

he sold parcel one of his Deed and kept parcel two.  So, it was 7 

conveyed that way, he just, he just resold parcel one at that 8 

time. 9 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  All right.  So, you’re, you’re 10 

aware how I guess the Zoning, Zoning Office kind of scrutinizes 11 

the undersize lots.  If you, based on your knowledge of the 12 

history here, and, and your communications with the Kestner 13 

family, you see any intent on their part to void the area 14 

requirements in this case? 15 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir.  I mean, the area is, is, it 16 

makes the area requirements.  It’s over six thousand square 17 

feet.  And it meets the setbacks.  The only thing it cannot be 18 

is fifty-five feet wide.   19 

  MR. LANZI:  And Section 304 allows the Petitioner 20 

with the zoning relief to, to build without the necessity of a 21 

variance, is that correct? 22 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Bear with me.  Well, Mr. Doak, 24 

based on your knowledge of this, this area and the proposed 25 
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building, I guess, the proposed residential building here on, 1 

on, on the lot, the subject lots, do you see, as an expert, or 2 

do you have any opinion whether a house constructed here would 3 

be, have an adverse impact on the adjoining properties? 4 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir, I do not believe it will.  I 5 

mean, there are, I can’t quantify, but there are dozens and 6 

dozens and there’s even some in this close proximity to this, 7 

that are fifty feet wide.  So, no, sir, I, it meets the 8 

setbacks.  The only thing it reduces is the potential width of 9 

a house that can be built here and that, that would be a 10 

benefit, I would see, think that people would see it as a 11 

benefit to this if nothing else.   12 

  MR. LANZI:  Now, there, we know there are concerns of 13 

the neighbor with regard to the flooding in the area and along 14 

Cherwin Avenue.  Will there be any grade change to the 15 

Petitioner’s property? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir.  When a building permit, prior 17 

to a building permit being done and a site plan being prepared, 18 

we would design the grading so it would not outfall onto the 19 

adjoining properties.  And would be captured, and then, by 20 

drywells, or a level spreader, which is nothing more than a 21 

long ditch with stone in it.  And it would, it would keep the 22 

water and let it out slowly. 23 

  Also, if there was any kind of overflow of the 24 

facilities, it would be caught in the existing swale in the 25 
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front, taken across the road, and then outfalled like all the 1 

other runoff in that area of Cherwin. 2 

  MR. LANZI:  If I recall correctly, you indicated the 3 

Kestner property slopes, let’s call it the, the rear of the 4 

property, down towards the road, it actually goes downhill 5 

towards the road, is that correct? 6 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct. 7 

  MR. LANZI:  And then the Dawson property actually 8 

slopes towards the Kestner property down? 9 

  MR. DOAK:  A portion of it does.  The driveways and 10 

stuff does, do.  And some of it does in the rear.  But it, it, 11 

for the most part, it, like with ours, will flow towards the 12 

road. 13 

  MR. LANZI:  And at the end of the day, even, if this 14 

were to be approved by the Board, this is just a step in the 15 

process.  In other words, Mr. Kestner, or whoever builds a 16 

house there, will have to get building permits, critical area 17 

requirements met and, and I’m not sure what else.  Maybe you 18 

can further explain. 19 

  MR. DOAK:  The, depending on the amount of 20 

impervious, they may have to plant trees, shrubs on their 21 

property for the critical area.  So, it goes through a lot of 22 

review and scrutiny by the different Baltimore County agencies. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  Are you aware whether the Department of 24 

Environmental Protection and Sustainability has any objection? 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  They do not. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  And how about the Department of Planning? 2 

  MR. DOAK:  I, I passed it by, talked to the Planning 3 

Department and they, they, they support it. 4 

  MR. EVANS:  Well, do you have anything in writing 5 

from them to that effect, Mr. Doak? 6 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir.  Did you not put that in, Mr. 7 

Lanzi? 8 

  MR. LANZI:  I believe that’s part of the file.  It’s 9 

typically part of the file. 10 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay. 11 

  MR. LANZI:  The County comments.  I did not submit it 12 

as an exhibit but. 13 

  MR. EVANS:  But it’s in the file? 14 

  MR. LANZI:  It should be. 15 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 16 

  MR. LANZI:  It should be in, in your file.   17 

  MR. EVANS:  Was, was that, and, and DEPS and Planning 18 

review the second, this plat or the original one? 19 

  MR. DOAK:  Both.   20 

  MR. EVANS:  Both, okay. 21 

  MR. DOAK:  And I’m about to give you the date of the 22 

Planning ZAC comments.  They were April 15th, 2020. 23 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay. 24 

  MR. DOAK:  They were done by Wally Lippincott. 25 
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  MR. EVANS:  Okay. 1 

  MR. DOAK:  And if you don’t believe me, you can’t get 2 

ahold of me, because he retired.  And they supported our, our 3 

Petition. 4 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.   5 

  MR. LANZI:  And I believe that they wanted a forty-6 

foot front setback? 7 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, they did.  Yes, they did.  And I’ll 8 

read one sentence.  The Department of Planning supports the 9 

request with the modification of the front setback to a minimum 10 

of forty feet. 11 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 12 

  MR. MCCANN:  Excuse me, sorry to interrupt.   13 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’d like to see a copy of those, if 15 

that’s at all possible, Mr. McComas, maybe during a break.  16 

Normally, I would just go in and take a look at the file and 17 

find those things.  I haven’t seen them in this case.  So, 18 

maybe at some point I could get a copy of those, since they’re 19 

not an exhibit.   20 

  CHAIR:  Yeah. 21 

  MR. DOAK:  Mr. McComas, am I allowed to e-mail those 22 

directly to Mr. McCann? 23 

  CHAIR:  Or Sunny, probably.  So, she can -- 24 

  MR. DOAK:  Oh, I don’t know her. 25 
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  CHAIR:  And I was just looking to see if we have it 1 

here.   2 

  MR. DOAK:  They should be in that file from below.   3 

  MR. LANZI:  Yeah.  My, my understanding is the entire 4 

record from the ALJ case should have been -- 5 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, that’s, that’s, I’m trying to 6 

(inaudible). 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah.  I’ll accept an e-mail from Mr. 8 

Doak, that’s fine for (inaudible) purposes.   9 

  CHAIR:  Yeah. 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  If that’s okay? 11 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, that, that works for me.  Mr. Evans, 12 

Mr. Sampson? 13 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Yeah, no, that’s fine.   14 

  MR. EVANS:  That’s fine. 15 

  CHAIR:  I’m good with it too.   16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, great.  Thank you.   17 

  MR. LANZI:  All right.  Mr. Doak, there was some 18 

other concerns at the previous hearing with regard to -- 19 

  CHAIR:  And Mr. Lanzi, Mr. McCann, I just got, I have 20 

the whole file, case file here if something else comes up.   21 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, great.  Mr. Doak, there were some 22 

concerns at the prior hearing about a view being blocked.  Is 23 

there a difference with the plan that we’re, we’re here for 24 

today? 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  Oh, by all means.  So, the first hearing, 1 

we started out asking for a variance of twenty-five feet and 2 

then -- 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Same objection.  Sorry to interrupt. 4 

  MR. DOAK:  Oh, I’m sorry.   5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Same objection. 6 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, I’m going to give Mr. Lanzi some 7 

latitude on this in that he’s just giving a historical, you 8 

know, building up and background to, you know, how he’s gotten 9 

there and as opposed to, you know, (inaudible) for an issue 10 

that really hasn’t arised yet.  So, I’m going to give Mr. Lanzi 11 

some latitude on this for background. 12 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, thank you. 13 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Mr. Doak, how far back does the 14 

Dawson property sit from the road, if you recall? 15 

  MR. DOAK:  Approximately seventy-five feet. 16 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  All right and so, so, Mr. Dawson 17 

I, either Mr. Dawson or his predecessor, I don’t know who built 18 

the property. 19 

  MR. DOAK: (inaudible). 20 

  MR. LANZI:  They, they decided to locate their home 21 

where it’s, in its current location, how far it sits back from 22 

the road? 23 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes.  His house was built in 1989 and he 24 

didn’t, Mr., Mrs., Mrs. Dawson didn’t buy the property until 25 
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2017.  So, it was built thirty, thirty-four years before that.   1 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  It might be helpful if you could 2 

give, you kind of gave an evolution of the Kestner lots, maybe 3 

you could do the same thing for the Dawson lots, if that would 4 

be helpful.   5 

  MR. DOAK:  I think it would.  Let’s see, I’m trying 6 

to think which exhibit would be best.  May we please go to Pet, 7 

that one, please?  And then, let’s go to Petitioner’s exhibit 8 

number two, or three, please.  Let me look at it one second. 9 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 10 

  MR. DOAK:  So, I can make it really easy for 11 

everybody.  And if you could reduce the size, please?  Thank 12 

you.   13 

  MR. LANZI:  How’s that work? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  Keep reducing, please.  That’s good, no, 15 

one up.  A little, a little larger, please.  Thank you very 16 

much.  Okay.  So, what I did was, I, the scenario we have here 17 

where lots are separated in ownership, it’s so prevalent in 18 

this area.  I started out looking, of course, at the Kestner’s.  19 

But then I said, what about the Dawson property?  Could it be 20 

similar in that, and I found that it, it was exactly the same 21 

scenario as the Kestner property.  In 1987, -- 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Again, I’m going to object for the 23 

record.   24 

  CHAIR:  Okay.  We’re going to overrule it.   25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, thank you. 1 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) background.   2 

  MR. DOAK:  If you’ll, if you’ll look at the, the plan 3 

and I’ll go slowly through, Mr. Dawson owns 151 through 154.  4 

He also owns 170 down to 167.  So, keep that in mind.  That 5 

block of eight lots right there is Mr. Dawson’s.  And it has 6 

been since 2017. 7 

  But in 1987, the Hopewell Village, Inc. sold to 8 

Christopher Steg, Steg, and he sold not only the eight lots of 9 

Mr. Dawson’s, but he also sold 165 and 166, which are behind 10 

our subject property.  So, in 1987, the Hopewell Village sold 11 

to Christopher Steg ten lots.  Ten lots.   12 

  Then Mr. Steg sold Lot 165 and 166 to Wally Wallace, 13 

okay?  And, and let me take one step back, I apologize.  Right 14 

after he sold those two lots to Wally Wallace, 165 and 166, he 15 

built his house in 1989 and that’s the, Mr. Dawson’s house now. 16 

  So, he bought, they bought lot, ten lots, Mr. Steg 17 

did, he built a house, or he sold the two lots, he built a 18 

house on the remainder and then Mr. Wallace built his house as 19 

soon as he bought those two lots from Mr. Steg, 165 and 166, he 20 

built his house on that.  And later, in year 2000, he bought 21 

164 and put a garage on it. 22 

  So, to sum this up and make it more simple, this is 23 

the same thing that the Kestner’s did.  Mr. Steg, in, in 1987, 24 

bought ten lots.  Sold off 166, 165 and 166, which you’ll see 25 
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is both, is fifty feet wide and approximately the same depth as 1 

ours and he built a house on it.  With the remainder, Mr. Steg 2 

built his house on the, on the eight lots that we’re talking 3 

about.     4 

  So, not only does it happen in the area, but it 5 

happens adjoining, because Mr. Steg didn’t have the right, if 6 

we, if we see it the way that Mr. McCann and Mr. Dawson wants 7 

us to, Mr. Steg would have never been able to sell that and 8 

Mr., Wally Wallace would have not been able to build on it. 9 

  May I please see the photograph -- 10 

  MR. EVANS:  So, Mr. Doak, you’ve got to be, frankly, 11 

you’ve got to be a little more careful with your language.  12 

Because there’s no, nothing here that prevents the sale of the 13 

property, correct?  I mean, the man could sell the property, 14 

just like Mr. Kestner can sell the property. 15 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 16 

  MR. EVANS:  The question, the only question is the, 17 

the right to get, the right to build under certain 18 

circumstances. 19 

  MR. DOAK:  That, you are perfectly correct.  Thank 20 

you.   21 

  MR. EVANS:  So, so, please don’t overstate it.   22 

  MR. DOAK:  Okay.  Yes, sir.  Mr. Lanzi, may I please 23 

have the photographs, the first set of photographs? 24 

  MR. LANZI:  Bear with me.  Mr. Doak, while I’m doing 25 
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that, do you know when Mr. Dawson bought those eight lots? 1 

  MR. DOAK:  His wife bought them August 8, 2017.   2 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Which photographs would you like 3 

to -- 4 

  MR. DOAK:  Keep going.   5 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 6 

  MR. DOAK:  I think it’s three more.  Okay, right 7 

there, please.  So, the two lots that Mr. Steg sold, 165 and 8 

166, are the ones that the house you see in the rear is placed 9 

on.   10 

  MR. EVANS:  That’s Mr. Wallace’s house, right? 11 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s Wally Wallace’s house.  I just love 12 

that name.  That, that’s the house.  In 2000, he bought, bought 13 

the adjoining twenty-five-foot lot and he built a garage on it.   14 

  MR. LANZI:  Right. 15 

  MR. DOAK:  Okay. 16 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, got it.  All right.  I believe we 17 

talked about front averaging previously, so I won’t go there.  18 

But as far as, you’re familiar that we have, I believe it’s 19 

roughly forty signatures signed by Mr. McCann’s client, 20 

community association client.  Are you, you’re aware of those 21 

signatures?   22 

  MR. DOAK:  I am, yes, sir. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  And, and did you do some research on the 24 

addresses of all those people that signed that? 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, I did.   1 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  I’ll ask what you found.  I, I do 2 

want to go to an exhibit.  I think I’m going to have to get out 3 

of this one and go to another screen, so bear with me, 4 

everybody.  So, all right.  I need to find, I have four 5 

separate exhibit attachments.  Okay, let’s see.  Okay, I think 6 

I got it now.  So, these are Petitioner’s eleven, twelve and 7 

thirteen.  I’m showing you now twelve, and if you could explain 8 

to the Board what you did, Mr. Doak? 9 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  Can you read it? 11 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir.  What I did was on the left-hand 12 

side I numbered them one through, it ended up being forty.  13 

Different places, numerous places there were the same, people 14 

from the same residents.  So, I, even though I did number them 15 

one through forty, some of them share the same residence.   16 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 17 

  MR. DOAK:  On the right-hand side I noted which lots 18 

of the subdivision plat they own and their approximate width 19 

and depth and (inaudible) when I say approximate, I mean that 20 

if, if they own multiple lots and the lot depths changed, I 21 

usually grabbed the one of the least and, and did that.  But if 22 

nothing else, I was really focusing more on the width of what 23 

they own. 24 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and what did you find? 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  If I could go to the next exhibit, please?   1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Mr. McComas, may I have a continuing 2 

objection?  Same basis, relevance of what’s going on with these 3 

other lots.   4 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) I’m going to overrule it and, and 5 

let Mr. Lanzi continue on it. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.   7 

  CHAIR:  In the questioning of the witness here.   8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, thank you. 9 

  MR. LANZI:  All right. 10 

  MR. DOAK:  Mr. Lanzi? 11 

  MR. LANZI:  Yeah, is that the one you’re looking for? 12 

  MR. DOAK:  No, keep going.  That’s just a 13 

continuation of what I’ve already done.   14 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 15 

  MR. DOAK:  Okay. 16 

  MR. LANZI:  Is that it? 17 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir.   18 

  MR. EVANS:  Is this number twelve?  Is this 19 

Petitioner’s twelve, Mr. Doak? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  I can’t see the bottom, is it marked?  21 

Yes, it is, Petitioner’s exhibit number twelve.   22 

  MR. EVANS:  Thank you. 23 

  MR. DOAK:  So, what I have done here, Mr. Lanzi, if 24 

you will blow it up for a second and then reduce it back down.  25 
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A little bit more, please.  Okay.  So, what I did was, I was 1 

just curious, and I wanted to apply it to something that was 2 

relevant to our case.   3 

  So, what I did was, I reviewed the ownership, not 4 

only for the tax, by their tax records, but by each deed and I 5 

reviewed it as to the, the size of the lot of the people that 6 

are, are on the Petition from the improvement association.   7 

  And what I found was, and that each one of those are 8 

highlighted, encompassed by yellow highlighter.  And then, in 9 

the circle in the middle of the lot is the number of the name, 10 

like I said, there was one through forty.  I put the number of 11 

the Pet, the Petition signature person in there. 12 

  And then what I did was any of the lots that were 13 

fifty feet or, or that I put fifty in front of the lot, and I 14 

circled it.  So, if you’ll see what we’re looking at now, 15 

there’s four fifty-foot lots, which are improved on Gunder.  16 

There are, there is, our subject prop, oh, I apologize, I 17 

apologize. 18 

  There are three on Gunder.  On Cherwin, there are, on 19 

the other side of the street, there are four fifty-foot lots 20 

those, there.  And I did not look at every lot, I just looked 21 

at the ones that were, were the petition signatures. 22 

  And then, also on Birdwood there are four there and 23 

then on Powderdale, there are two there.  So, you’ll see just 24 

surrounding our property, and from this list of forty people, 25 
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not forty households, there are thirteen properties that are 1 

improved and built on with fifty-foot-wide lots.   2 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 3 

  MR. DOAK:  If you look at, can we look at one, the, 4 

the last exhibit, please? 5 

  MR. LANZI:  Yes.  This would be Exhibit 13.   6 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir.  I did the same thing on this.  7 

This is GI, this is on Petitioner’s thirteen.  This is the GIS 8 

map and I highlighted those, and I did not put the fifties on 9 

it, but I highlighted all the ones I looked at and the, the 10 

number in the circle is the Petitioner’s signature number, so. 11 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  All right.  Mr. Doak, before I 12 

leave that, I would offer exhibit, Petitioner’s eleven, twelve 13 

and thirteen into evidence. 14 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann? 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  Same objection.  Thank you. 16 

  CHAIR:  We’re going to admit them, Mr. McCann and Mr. 17 

Lanzi. 18 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, thank you.  All right.  Mr. Doak, 19 

as an expert, in your opinion, would the granting of the 20 

requested special hearing zoning relief alter the essential 21 

character and nature of this community? 22 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir, not at all.  There are, as you 23 

know, many, many, many fifty-foot-wide lots.  We’re meeting all 24 

the setbacks and we’re building a house that is comparable and 25 
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compatible to the area. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Bear with me.  All right.  Will 2 

the granting of the zoning relief, if approved, impair the 3 

appropriate use and development of adjoining properties? 4 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir, not at all.  Mr., Mr. Dawson’s 5 

property is, is eight lots.  It is, it’s improved with a, a 6 

nice size single family home, big back yard, large driveway.  7 

So, I don’t see how it would impede it at all. 8 

  The, the former Kestner property is improved with 9 

the, the house and the garage and everything and, and then the 10 

only other adjoining property is Mr. Wallace’s in the rear that 11 

has everything, you know, the house, the garage and everything. 12 

  So, I don’t see how this would impede anybody’s use 13 

or enjoyment of their property.  Especially since we’ve moved 14 

the house, potential house and giving Mr. Dawson a much larger 15 

vista, a viewshed, now than we formally had. 16 

  MR. LANZI:  In your expert opinion, if the zoning 17 

relief is, is granted will there be any detrimental impact on 18 

the public health, safety and (inaudible) welfare of this 19 

immediate community? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir, I don’t believe so.  The only 21 

issue that came up in the, in the past was, was runoff and what 22 

may cause a safety issue in, in Cherwin Avenue and that’ll be 23 

addressed as a part of the building permit and storm water 24 

management review and approval.  And also, we’ve shown that 25 
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there is a, a drain there that catches the water and takes it 1 

out of that area.  2 

  MR. LANZI:  Mr. Doak, if the requested zoning relief 3 

is granted, in your opinion, will it be in harmony with the 4 

spirit and intent of the zoning regulations, specifically, 5 

Section 304? 6 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, it will.   7 

  MR. LANZI:  And can the Petitioner use this property 8 

without the zoning relief for the construction of a home? 9 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir, he cannot. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  Mr. Chairman, I have, just to go back 11 

through the exhibits.  So, I think we have one through six in, 12 

7-A in, 7-B and C are i.d. only.  I have eight, nine and ten, I 13 

have not discussed.  Ten, I’m going to have to leave the 14 

screen, so I’ll go back.  Oh, come on now. 15 

  So, I’ll just go to ten first.  Mr., Mr. McCann and I 16 

discussed these Petitions.  He had one.  Number ten is the 17 

letter that the Kestners submitted to the neighborhood, that 18 

they do not oppose, in fact, support the requested zoning 19 

relief.  I want to offer that, and offer without having to call 20 

the Kestners unless Mr. McCann or the Board says.   21 

  MR. MCCANN:  No objection. 22 

  CHAIR:  We’ll admit, we’ll admit them, Mr. Lanzi. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, that would be ten, which only 24 

leaves eight and nine.  I don’t know whether you had a chance 25 
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to look, Mr. McCann, or not, but basically eight is a map 1 

showing the various cases where lot width, undersized lots were 2 

approved, and then 9-A through D are those cases. 3 

  I don’t want to take up the Board’s time.  I, I 4 

assume Mr. McCann’s objection is the same.  But I would like 5 

those in the record if possible.  It just, shows these are 6 

public records of cases that were approved for lot widths being 7 

under size.   8 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann? 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, Mr. Lanzi is correct.  Same, same 10 

objection. 11 

  CHAIR:  Well, we’ll let these in, Mr. McCann.  The 12 

other thing to me that we kept out is along the lines of an 13 

issue that hasn’t been presented.  These are, to me, more 14 

background information about the surrounding areas I think Mr. 15 

Doak testified on.  So, so we’ll admit those into evidence. 16 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, those were all my exhibits.  17 

The only ones that did not get in at this point are 7-B and 7-18 

C.  I guess I’ll reserve on that.  And that is all I have for 19 

Mr. Doak at this point, unless you have anything to add, Mr. 20 

Doak. 21 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir, I do not. 22 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 23 

  MR. EVANS:  Just, just so I’m clear, Mr. Lanzi, 24 

again, I’m being a bureaucrat here.  (inaudible) and then 9-A 25 
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through D are the underlying documents for each of those lots, 1 

is that correct? 2 

  MR. LANZI:  We give four examples. 3 

  MR. EVANS:  Four examples.   4 

  MR. LANZI:  Yes. 5 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay. 6 

  MR. LANZI:  And I apologize for the, the length but 7 

basically the entire file for each case that we did present. 8 

  MR. EVANS:  Oh, no, that’s not a problem.  I’m just 9 

trying to do the housekeeping, that’s all. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, that’s all I have for Mr. Doak 11 

at this time. 12 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, do you have any cross of Mr. 13 

Doak? 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  I do. 15 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, how long do you think you’ll be 16 

because (inaudible) -- 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m going to be a while, sorry to 18 

interrupt.  I was going to suggest, I don’t know what the 19 

Board’s inclination is in terms of lunch.  But now would be a 20 

good time.  I could probably clean up some of what I had in 21 

response to some of the new stuff so a lunch break would be 22 

great.  But I’ll proceed if you guys want to proceed.   23 

  CHAIR:  I, I was looking for like a five-minute 24 

break.  Mr. Sampson, Mr. Evans, do you want to, how about Mr. 25 
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McCann’s suggestion of taking lunch at this time? 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  And it can be a short one. 2 

  MR. EVANS:  Yeah, it, it would actually help me.  I 3 

have something that I need to do at 12:15, so it would actually 4 

be useful. 5 

  CHAIR:  You want to take a forty-five-minute break-- 6 

  MR. EVANS:  Yeah, or thirty minutes, it doesn’t 7 

matter. 8 

  CHAIR: (inaudible).  Mr. Lanzi, does thirty minutes 9 

work for you? 10 

 11 

  MR. LANZI:  That’s fine. 12 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Doak, does that, does that fit into your 13 

schedule here? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, it does.   15 

  CHAIR:  All right.  So, let’s take a thirty-minute 16 

break and we’ll be back at 12:30. 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  Thank you. 18 

  MR. LANZI:  Thank you. 19 

  MR. DOAK:  Do we come back on, or do we just leave it 20 

open?   21 

  CHAIR:  I’m just going to leave mine open.  I, I’m 22 

not, I think Adam, Mr. Sampson is the host.  I think, I was 23 

just going to sort of mute mine and, I was going to mute mine 24 

and stop the video, Mr. Doak.   25 
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  MR. DOAK:  Okay.  Thank you for --   1 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Bill, so I just pause the recording, 2 

correct? 3 

  CHAIR:  Yes. 4 

  MR. SAMPSON:  All right, thanks.   5 

(PAUSE) 6 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Okay, we’re good there.   7 

  CHAIR:  And I, are we going to swear in Mr. Doak or 8 

state that he’s already sworn in and he’s just going to pick up 9 

where he left off? 10 

  MR. EVANS:  He’s already sworn.   11 

  CHAIR:  All right.  Mr. McCann, I think it, he, he’s 12 

your witness for cross examination. 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Great, great.  Mr. Sampson, I’m sorry, 14 

but I haven’t been able to see that I can share yet.   15 

  MR. SAMPSON:  That’s because I gave it to Mr. 16 

McComas, my fault.   17 

  MR. MCCANN:  He can handle the cross, that’s fine. 18 

  CHAIR:  I’m not sure if I’ll be able to pull this 19 

off, too much pressure on me. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah.   21 

  MR. SAMPSON:  You should be okay now.   22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, thank you.  Appreciate it.  Good 23 

afternoon, Mr. Doak. 24 

  MR. DOAK:  Good afternoon. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  I want to start where you left off and 1 

that is with, I think Petitioner’s number, exhibit numbers 8 2 

and 9-A through D, and that is these cases that you spoke about 3 

having been decided.  I’m going to pull up Petitioner’s number 4 

eight.  Let’s see here.   5 

  CHAIR:  You’re on the wrong screen it looks like, Mr. 6 

McCann.  There you go.   7 

  MR. MCCANN:  You see that? 8 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  So, as I understand it, just for 10 

everybody’s benefit it is Petitioner’s exhibit number eight, we 11 

have the subject property identified here in orange and then 12 

you have in yellow indicating properties pertaining to which a 13 

case was decided regarding undersized lots, correct? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Did you actually look at these 16 

one, two, three, four, five, six cases? 17 

  MR. DOAK:  It was a while back, yes, sir, I did. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Have you looked at them recently? 19 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Well, they certainly speak for 21 

their, for themselves, but would you agree with me that none of 22 

these cases that you have identified here involved 304.1. 23 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct. 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  In fact, they each addressed simply in, 25 
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in, I would submit, brief fashion, the variance standard in 1 

Section 307, correct? 2 

  MR. DOAK:  I, I couldn’t say that for sure.  I, I’d 3 

have to read them and make sure that’s what they’re referring 4 

to.  But that very well could be.   5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  In fact, maybe to, to help you, 6 

these case, many of these cases were decided before 304.1 came 7 

into existence, correct? 8 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. 10 

  MR. DOAK:  But they all dealt with lots of fifty foot 11 

wide.   12 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Did you, did you catch in your 13 

review of any of these decisions, whether there were any 14 

Protestants in any of them? 15 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir, I did not. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Isn’t it true that in each of these 17 

cases the issue of whether the property owner owned sufficient 18 

property adjoining his or her property to meet the height and 19 

area requirements was not even discussed, correct? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  You evidently have looked at them since I 21 

have.  It could be, but I can’t tell you off the top of my 22 

head. 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Well, do you know whether, in 24 

fact, with regard to any of these properties, the Petitioner 25 
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had adjacent property (inaudible) requirements?  Did you look 1 

into that, in other words? 2 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir, I did not.  Whatever was in the, 3 

whatever was in the pleadings was all that I based it on. 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  In all of these cases, you would 5 

agree with me, well, we have six here.  Four of the decisions 6 

you’ve attached as Exhibit 9-A through D.  Let’s deal with 9-A 7 

through D first.  I don’t need to pull those up.  You would 8 

agree with me that each of those are decisions of the 9 

Administrative Law Judge or then the Zoning Commissioner, 10 

correct? 11 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 12 

  MR. MCCANN: (inaudible) decisions of the four that I 13 

just mentioned, or the other two, are decisions of the Board of 14 

Appeals, correct? 15 

  MR. DOAK:  I believe so. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  What I’d like to do, if I could, Mr. 17 

McComas, is to, there’s, as I indicated, there’s six cases 18 

referenced, or highlighted rather, in Petitioner’s exhibit 19 

number eight.  Four of those are Petition, Petitioner’s 20 

Exhibits 9-A through D.  I would like to have marked in and 21 

introduced into evidence the other two decisions of the, of 22 

Zoning Commissioner, and I can certainly show those to the 23 

Board. 24 

  The first one is, this is 79-135, which is one of 25 



60 
 

the, one of the highlighted cases in Petitioner’s exhibit 1 

number eight.  The other is 0, 03-0309, 03-309.  And, so these 2 

would be, I already have marked and introduced, or sent to 3 

Sunny anyway, Exhibits 1 through 11.  So, I would ask that 4 

these be marked and introduced as Exhibits 12 and 13, 5 

respectively.  I can certainly send over copies to -- 6 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Lanzi, any objections?  Did we lose Mr. 7 

Lanzi?  Or is he on mute?   8 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  I would like to see them.  If they 9 

are the same as the other four, then I have no objection.  They 10 

say what they say and they’re public record.   11 

  CHAIR:  Okay. 12 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I’ll send them to everybody, 13 

including the Board.  But let’s, this, this would be the second 14 

of these, case number 03-309, which I think I’ve just marked as 15 

Protestants’ Exhibit 13.   16 

  As an example, Mr. Doak, and (inaudible) spend a 17 

whole lot of time looking at this because the opinion itself is 18 

only two, a little over two pages.  This, this Petition, in 19 

particular, was not, was a variance case.  No reference to 20 

304.1 at all, correct? 21 

  MR. DOAK:  I don’t see that reference. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. 23 

  MR. DOAK:  Of course, I don’t move as fast as you do, 24 

but -- 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  But normally it would say it in the 1 

first paragraph, right? 2 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  And then it would also say it in the, in 4 

the Order itself, correct? 5 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s, that’s what I was waiting for. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  There, 304 is mentioned there, I 7 

stand corrected.   8 

  MR. DOAK:  Yeah, it is, that’s 304.   9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  But no discussion -- 10 

  MR. DOAK:  Which would be similar to what we’re 11 

doing, yes.   12 

  MR. MCCANN:  Well, it speaks for itself.  So, next, 13 

also in your Exhibit 8, let’s get back to that if we could.  14 

You didn’t identify in this exhibit cases where an undersized 15 

lot was denied, did you? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  I, I don’t remember what my criteria is, 17 

if, if you found one that was denied, I have to think that I 18 

would have because that would have been slant, too slanted, 19 

even for me.  But if you would have, if you would have, if you 20 

found one, I, I’d be glad to review it.  But I just don’t 21 

remember that, that being the criteria, only ones that were 22 

approved.   23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I’m not criticizing you, I’m just 24 

asking if you looked at other cases and -- 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  I believe I looked at, I looked at, how I 1 

started was all the, all the lots that have cross hatching is 2 

that there’s a zoning hearing on it.   3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Right. 4 

  MR. DOAK:  So, then I pulled those that, and I read 5 

very quickly if they had something to do with lot (inaudible), 6 

then in turn I looked at them and saw if they were approved or 7 

not and then put them down there.  If they were, other things 8 

like just setbacks, which most of them are, just a setback 9 

variance, then I didn’t (inaudible), I didn’t, I didn’t put 10 

them down. 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  And I’m glad you said that because I 12 

think the Board may know from its experience with My 13 

Neighborhood, these, these cross hatched lots indicate that it, 14 

that there was a zoning case involved, correct? 15 

  MR. DOAK:  Are you talking to me or them? 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m talking to you, Mr. Doak. 17 

  MR. DOAK:  Oh, I’m sorry.  Yes. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, and -- 19 

  MR. DOAK:  I feel that that’s what they know but I 20 

make it a point to point it out to them each and every time I’m 21 

up. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m just asking you if that’s correct. 23 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  In fact, I’ve looked through all 25 
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these and I think you’re correct, all of these other ones that 1 

you haven’t highlighted, subject to the ones we’ll talk about 2 

next that have denied an undersized lot, all of these are just 3 

your run of the mill sort of setback variances or variances to 4 

put a shed, you know, things of that nature, correct? 5 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  So, let’s look at one that you 7 

didn’t include, and that would be this one.  So, this is right 8 

on Cherwin Ave.  This is a case more recent than the others. 9 

  MR. DOAK:  Where is it?  Where is it located? 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  13108.  So, in reference to your 11 

exhibits, some of your other exhibits showed this property 12 

better, but your Exhibit 8, it would be this one right here.  13 

Which you’ll see that on the left-hand side.   14 

  MR. DOAK:  Okay. 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  This, this particular one.  And you can, 16 

you can verify that, if you don’t know -- 17 

  MR. DOAK:  And I’ll, and I’ll have to tell you the 18 

truth, I, I worked the block above it.  I didn’t, I didn’t go 19 

that far down.  The reason why, because I wanted it to be in 20 

the close proximity to our lot versus reaching out.  Even 21 

though it’s on the record plat, I didn’t go that far down.   22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Well, you included this one -- 23 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, yes, I did.  That, that roadway there 24 

that runs into that lot was my southern boundary, railroad was 25 
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the eastern boundary, the water, and the water was my northern 1 

and western boundaries. 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, but my point is, you went below 3 

that southern boundary to show this one. 4 

  MR. DOAK:  Only because it was right in line with, 5 

but that’s the only thing I can tell you is, I just didn’t go 6 

any further than that. 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Well, let’s look at this one.  8 

This is, I’ll have this marked and we’ll seek to introduce it 9 

as Petitioner’s Exhibit 14. 10 

  MR. DOAK:  Um hm. 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  And again, it speaks for itself, and 12 

like Neil, I included, you can see I included the entire file, 13 

which is obtainable through My Neighborhood.  This, this one, 14 

in fact, unlike the others, so, the vast majority of the 15 

others, refers to Section 304, correct? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  It does. 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  It also talks, unlike all the others, 18 

talks about opposition, correct?  Where I’m highlighting there? 19 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Just for completeness sake, Mr. 21 

Schmidt actually denied a variance request, which I, and that, 22 

I’m sorry, I went right by it.  Was, in fact, denied, correct?  23 

Do you see that, Mr. Doak?   24 

  MR. DOAK:  I do see it, but it calls for approval of 25 
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two newly created lots as undersized.  I don’t, I don’t know 1 

what the history of what made them newly created.  I, I don’t 2 

know what that is.  So, this may or may not be similar to what 3 

ours is because our lots were not newly created.  They’ve been 4 

lots since 1929.   5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  But just for clarity’s sake, 6 

there was no approval, this paragraph, the reference to newly 7 

created is just a description of the relief that was sought. 8 

  MR. DOAK:  I don’t know that. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Well, again, it speaks for 10 

itself.  So, that would be Exhibit 14 and I would move that 11 

into evidence. 12 

  CHAIR:  Any objection, Mr. Lanzi? 13 

  MR. LANZI:  I, I’ll object for relevance, but I’m 14 

sure the Board will take the same position allowing my stuff to 15 

go in, so. 16 

  CHAIR:  Yeah. 17 

  MR. LANZI:  They’re public record and they speak for 18 

themselves. 19 

  CHAIR:  Yeah.  Yes, so we’ll admit them. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Bear with me one second.   21 

  MR. LANZI:  I, I would request copies of these, 22 

because these are new exhibits that are being presented 23 

literally as we speak.  I’ll admit that we sent some exhibits 24 

yesterday afternoon instead of in the morning.  But I have not 25 
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experienced exhibits being allowed simultaneously with the 1 

hearing before.  So, I guess I will object for the record as to 2 

all new exhibits being presented now.   3 

  CHAIR:  You’ll, and Mr. McCann, you’ll, you’ll send 4 

it to Sunny, right?  And we can get it, so we all have a record 5 

of it. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, that’s, that is the case.  Just 7 

for, just to speak to that issue, this is actually my first 8 

Board of Appeals hearing since the pandemic.  I’ve had many, 9 

many ALJ cases and the rule that’s been followed there is since 10 

this is cross examination, just like you wouldn’t have to do at 11 

a hearing itself, you don’t need to send those exhibits in 12 

advance.  In fact, you know, I pulled these during the break. 13 

  CHAIR:  Yeah. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, I could not have produced them.  So, 15 

I just wanted to make that clear for the record.   16 

  CHAIR:  And that’s, and that’s, and that’s how I’ve 17 

viewed it as well, Mr. McCann.  That you’re well within the, 18 

the scope of the cross examination and since all the other ones 19 

have come in, you know, it’s fair to you to have the, the ones 20 

that support, in your mind, support your, your perspective as 21 

well.  That’s how I viewed it.   22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, great.  Great, thank you.  The 23 

other thing I wanted to ask you about, Mr. Doak, related to 24 

that is, bear with me one second. Okay.  So this is, this is a 25 
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different exhibit.  This is Petitioner’s Exhibit 13, and this 1 

is an exhibit that you created, I take it, in response to the, 2 

to the Petition that we sent over to Mr. Lanzi yesterday 3 

identifying where all of the sign, signatories of the Petition 4 

live and the lots on which they live, correct? 5 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  And in connection with this 7 

exhibit, when you talked about it on direct examination, I 8 

think your exact words were, there are many, many fifty foot 9 

lots amongst, amongst these properties.  And I, I guess the 10 

first thing I wanted to clarify is, let me pull up a separate 11 

exhibit which is also a new, new exhibit, this is a copy of 12 

your exhibit that we just looked at. 13 

  And what I’ve done here for your benefit, or 14 

everyone’s benefit, is I highlighted in green amongst all the 15 

lots that you highlighted those that are, in fact, not fifty-16 

foot lots but have, consist of multiple, three or four, I think 17 

it’s at most three or four, twenty-five-foot lots, correct?   18 

  MR. DOAK:  But they didn’t build on those.  Like the 19 

one behind our property, you have it green.  That was Wally -- 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  Well, -- 21 

  MR. DOAK:  Go ahead. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  That wasn’t my question.  My question is 23 

simply have I highlighted in green the lots that are not just 24 

simply -- 25 



68 
 

  MR. DOAK:  No, so what -- 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Hold on.  Let me finish the question. 2 

  MR. DOAK:  I apologize. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  And I’m not asking about any houses or 4 

anything else.  All I’m asking is, did I highlight in green 5 

those, those yellow highlighted properties that you identified 6 

that actually comprise more than two lots, correct? 7 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct. 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Did you, with respect to all of 9 

these in yellow, and we’ll get to the pink in a moment, did you 10 

actually look as to when the houses on these lots were 11 

constructed? 12 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir. 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  You did not? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  I did not. 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  So, I, I started at the subject 16 

property, and I went out and I just grabbed a couple in the 17 

limited time that I had. 18 

  MR. DOAK:  Um hm. 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  And, and I’ll, I have SDAT reports that 20 

I’ll mark.  Before I move on, this exhibit that’s now in front 21 

of the Board, since it’s a, a new exhibit, would be 22 

Protestants’ Exhibit 15, is that correct, Mr. Evans? 23 

  MR. EVANS:  Yes, yes, um hm. 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and what I would like to do in 25 
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conjunction with this is also show the Board and introduce the 1 

S, the SDAT sheets associated with these lots.  So, for 2 

instance, and this is, this would be Exhibit 16.  This consists 3 

of, for the record, four SDAT sheets corresponding to the, the 4 

properties outlined in pink on Protestant’s Exhibit 15. 5 

  So, as an example, and they speak for themselves, but 6 

the first one I have coincidentally is I have 6903 Gunder, 7 

which is the property formerly owned by Mr. Kestner, correct? 8 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  And you, I’m not sure if you had 10 

indicated this or not, according to this SDAT sheet, that 11 

property was, that building rather, was constructed in 1945, 12 

correct? 13 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s what Mr. Lanzi says, and I can see 14 

it here, yes, sir. 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  That’s what Mr. Lanzi says? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes.  That, he said that in one of my 17 

questions. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, all right.  Very well.  And as 19 

another example, I don’t, I think they speak for themselves, I 20 

don’t need to go through all of them but there’s one, 13217 21 

Powderdale, which is this property right here, I’ll represent 22 

to you.  We can check by these lot numbers, see 212 and 213, do 23 

you see that? 24 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  If we go back to the SD, SDH, SDAT 1 

sheets. 2 

  MR. DOAK:  Um hm. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  There’s a reference there to Lots 212 4 

and 213, correct? 5 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  And this structure was built in 1921, 7 

29, correct? 8 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  And for, I’m sure the Board knows this 10 

but for everyone’s benefit, the, the, the, the dates when 11 

structures were built in this exhibit, which is Protestants’ 12 

16, 1945, 1929, 1934 and 1929, those dates all, all predate the 13 

enactment of the County zoning regulations, correct? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  Oh, that was a ques, yes, yes, they do. 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Okay.  With that, I would offer, 16 

if I haven’t already, Exhibits 15 and 16 into evidence. 17 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Lanzi, same objection?  Mr. Lanzi, did we 18 

lose you? 19 

  MR. LANZI:  No objection. 20 

  CHAIR:  All right.  We’ll admit them. 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  Thank you.  Thank you.  Okay.  22 

(inaudible) one second.  It sounds like, based on your 23 

testimony, Mr. Doak, that you looked a little, that you looked 24 

at the title history of the subject lots as well as the lots 25 
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that were, that were owned for a period of time by Mr. Kestner, 1 

correct? 2 

  MR. DOAK:  By whom, I couldn’t hear? 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Mr. Kestner.  Did I pronounce that 4 

right?   5 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  You looked at the title history 7 

of those, those groupings of lots? 8 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I want to show you, let me get 10 

rid of some of these so I can have some room here.  And I might 11 

as well do it in order.  I’m going to pull up the SD, SDAT 12 

sheets first.  This would be our pre-marked Exhibits 3, 4 and 5 13 

and a couple things.  This is Exhibit 3.  Do you recognize this 14 

exhibit as the SDAT sheet for Lot 155, Mr. Doak? 15 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, I do. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  And I think as you and Mr. Lanzi talked 17 

about, Mr. Kestner purchased this lot in April 2014, correct? 18 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and real quick, go to four, same 20 

question.  Do you recognize this as the SDAT sheet for Lot 156? 21 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and again, this lot was acquired by 23 

Mr. Kestner in April of 2014, correct? 24 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  And before we move onto the next 1 

one, the square, the square footage of Lots 155 and 156, 2 

according to these SDAT sheets are two thousand nine hundred 3 

seventy-five and three thousand and seventy-five? 4 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Respectively, correct? 6 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct. 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and as I, as I add those up, that’s 8 

six thousand and fifty feet, collectively, correct? 9 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  SDAT sheets, which is 11 

Protestants’ Exhibit 5, is, is the sheet that pertains to Lots 12 

157 through 160 we’ve spoken about.  And that was, as we 13 

indicated, acquired by Mr. Kestner in 2014 and sold by him or 14 

conveyed by him to the current owner in November 2018, correct? 15 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  That, I’m not sure you’re aware 17 

that May date is different than the April date on the other two 18 

lots, but that deed reference 34935 and 347 --  19 

  MR. DOAK:  It was, it was April 30th. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  But my question again, my question is, 21 

is that deed reference in Exhibit 5, 34935, folio 437, that’s 22 

the same deed that we, that, that we would see with respect to 23 

Lots 155 and 156, correct? 24 

  MR. DOAK:  Correct.  It’s beginning for the first, 25 
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beginning for the second. 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Okay. I would move Protestants’ 2 

three, four and five into evidence.   3 

  CHAIR:  Any objections, Mr. Lanzi? 4 

  MR. LANZI:  No objection. 5 

  CHAIR:  All right.  We’ll admit them.   6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Next, real quick, 7 

same exercise.  I don’t, actually don’t want to go through 8 

these in any detail but I’m going to pull up, (inaudible) do 9 

that all at once.  Okay.  Do you recognize what’s been marked 10 

as Protestants’ Exhibit 6 as the Deed by which Mr. Kestner 11 

acquired all of the lots in April 2014? 12 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct. 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and then quickly, Exhibit 7, 14 

Protestants’ Exhibit 7, do you recognize that as the 1961 Deed 15 

by which Mr. Kestner’s predecessor acquired Lot 156. 16 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  And Exhibit 8, do you recognize that 18 

document as the 1961 Deed by which Mr. Kestner’s predecessor 19 

acquired Lot 155? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  And then lastly, do you recognize 22 

Petitioner’s, Protestants’ rather, Exhibit 9 as the 1959 Deed 23 

by which Mr. Kestner’s predecessor acquired Lots 157 through 24 

160? 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Mr. McComas, I would move six, 2 

seven, eight and nine into evidence. 3 

  CHAIR:  Any objections, Mr. Lanzi? 4 

  MR. LANZI:  No objection. 5 

  CHAIR:  I’ll admit them. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Thank you.  Okay.  So, I asked you 7 

previously about the, the square footage of each of these lots, 8 

that Lot 155, twenty-nine seventy-five square feet, Lot 156, 9 

three thousand seventy-five square feet. 10 

  MR. DOAK:  Correct. 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  And then, Lots 157 through 160 are thir, 12 

comprised of thirteen thousand two hundred and forty-one square 13 

feet, correct? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s what they’re showing on the SDAT, 15 

yes. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Well, do you have any information that 17 

is con, contrary to those SDAT sheets? 18 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, I do. 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  You do.  What is that information? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  If you look at Petitioner’s Exhibit, it 21 

would be the previous zoning, the first (inaudible) surveyed.  22 

They surveyed the property and came out with an even more 23 

square footage for Lot 155 and 156. 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and approximately how much, we can 25 
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all look at that, but approximately how much more? 1 

  MR. DOAK:  It was twenty-one, I mean, sixty-one 2 

hundred and some square feet. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. Either way, you would agree with 4 

me that Lots 155 and 156 together meet the, what you indicated 5 

to be the minimum square footage of a lot, which is six 6 

thousand square feet, correct? 7 

  MR. DOAK:  In a DR-5.5, yes. 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and just, I don’t want, I don’t 9 

want to get on a tangent.  But you, you obtained, you derive 10 

that square footage, that minimum square footage, as well as 11 

the setbacks that you spoke about earlier, from what’s called 12 

the, the small lot table in the zoning regulations, correct? 13 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  So, if we just do some simple 15 

math.  When, and for this I’m going to go to another exhibit.  16 

This would be Protestants’ Exhibit 2, which is just another My 17 

Neighborhood map.  And I’ll zoom in.  When, well, strike that.  18 

Mr. Kestner owned all six lots, I know we discussed this 19 

already but I’m just clarifying.  Owned all six lots that we 20 

just spoke about for a period of approximately four and a half 21 

plus years, correct? 22 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct. 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  And during that period of time, there 24 

was a sufficient area, and in particular, on Lots 155, 156 for, 25 
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for Mr. Kestner to have subdivided the six parcels and put a 1 

house on that property, correct? 2 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Why is that not the case? 4 

  MR. DOAK:  You would have had to, like I said, if you 5 

would have pushed the lines over (inaudible) 156 and 157 it 6 

would have been through the garage.   7 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Well, that’s not my question, Mr. 8 

Doak.  I’ll get, I’ll get -- 9 

  MR. DOAK:  Oh, I’m sorry. 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’ll get to this, this so-called garage 11 

in a second.  My question is, my question is simply during the 12 

four and a half plus years that Mr. Kestner owned six parcels, 13 

there was enough square footage during that period of time for 14 

him to have constructed a second house on those parcels. 15 

  MR. DOAK:  He would have had to go through -- 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  That’s not my question, Mr. Doak.  My 17 

question is whether or not there was sufficient space or area 18 

on those six parcels to put a second house. 19 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Now, with the garage -- 21 

  MR. EVANS:  When, when you say a second house, you 22 

mean, that satisfies the fifty-five-foot limit, right, or 23 

requirement? 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yes, I’m sorry.  Thank you, Mr. Evans. 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  That isn’t what I answered then.  I 1 

answered for area, not width. 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  And that’s true too (inaudible). 3 

  MR. DOAK:  I’m not answering it to the width, I’m 4 

only answering it to the, the area. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah.  Well, thank, thank you both.  6 

I’ll ask, ask another question to clarify Mr. Evans’ issue, and 7 

that is, at the time that Mr. Kestner owned the six parcels, he 8 

had sufficient property, to meet, to build another house and to 9 

meet the width requirements, putting aside what you may or may 10 

not say about the garage, correct? 11 

  MR. DOAK:  Correct. 12 

  MR. MCCANN:  And I was listening very carefully when 13 

you spoke about the garage.  Have you actually measured, in a 14 

survey, Mr. Doak, to the distance between the garage, that the 15 

southern face of the garage and the northern property line of 16 

Lot 156, did you actually undertake that? 17 

  MR. DOAK:  I did not. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Because when you spoke about the, you 19 

know, the, the distance, or alleged diff, distance between lot, 20 

the northern portion of Lot, I mean, the northern property line 21 

of Lot 156 and the garage, you said the garage is within or 22 

closer than five feet (inaudible).  Sitting here today, you 23 

don’t know what that distance is, correct, number one? 24 

  MR. DOAK:  Not exactly. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  You also said that the garage is in good 1 

shape. 2 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Did you actually go in the garage? 4 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir.  I looked at the exterior. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  I guess we, we have no pictures of the 6 

interior of the garage for the Board to look at today? 7 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir. 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  No estimates for the Board to 9 

look at as to what it may cost to, to reduce the size of that 10 

garage or to move it, if necessary? 11 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir. 12 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Do you know whether or not, you 13 

called it a garage, I heard other people refer to it as a shed?  14 

Do you know whether or not Mr. Kestner or his predecessor 15 

obtained a permit for that shed or, for that shed? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  I, I don’t know whether he did or not.  17 

Looks at the age prior to building permits being required. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  But you didn’t look into it? 19 

  MR. DOAK:  I did not. 20 

  MR. EVANS:  Now, the shed was there when Mr. Kestner 21 

bought that property? 22 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 23 

  MR. EVANS:  Yeah, it, it was there, it pre-existed? 24 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir.   25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  Do we know that, Mr. Doak? 1 

  MR. DOAK:  It’s an assumption, but looking at the 2 

age, looking at the, at it and the age of it, looking at when 3 

he bought it, I would say yes.  That’s an assumption. 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  When he bought what? 5 

  MR. DOAK:  Bought the property. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Now, and, and how did you look at 7 

it?  There’s a fence up.  How did you look at the garage? 8 

  MR. DOAK:  I started, it was afterwards, and I easily 9 

can look over top of the fence. 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  But did you? 11 

  MR. DOAK:  That, yes. 12 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and, and that’s a good point.  You, 13 

the fence was, was not installed by Mr. Kestner, correct? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  It was not, the new owners. 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  The, the new owners put if up after they 16 

acquired the properties from Mr. Kestner, correct? 17 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  And did you catch that the new owners 19 

are, signed the Petition opposing Mr. Kestner’s request, did 20 

you catch that? 21 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, I did. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  And here, you know, here’s the other 23 

thing that you said that (inaudible), Mr. Doak, because you 24 

usually mean what you say.  You said, you said there was a 25 
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second reason, other than the garage that you believed that Mr. 1 

Kestner, during the time he owned the properties, could not 2 

meet the, the lot width requirement, and that is you may have 3 

an encroachment on the thirty-foot setback.  And I wrote those 4 

words down. 5 

  Did you, as I asked with respect to the garage, did 6 

you conduct any survey or measurement to determine how far back 7 

the house on 6903 Gunder, Mr. Kestner’s prior residence, how 8 

far back that house is from the northern property line of Lot 9 

156? 10 

  MR. DOAK:  It was done before me. 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m asking you, did you do it? 12 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir. 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Mr. Doak, you, you will, you probably do 14 

work, zoning variance more than anybody else in this County, is 15 

that fair? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  And you would agree that I’ve seen you, 18 

I’ve seen you in action.  You would agree that setback 19 

variances are (inaudible) all the time, daily, if not weekly, 20 

by the Zoning Commissioner’s Office and the Office of 21 

Administrative Hearings? 22 

  MR. DOAK:  If you have a good enough case. 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Is that a yes? 24 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s a -- 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  Qualified yes? 1 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s a qualified yes. 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  And you would also agree with me, 3 

in fact, well, strike that.  You would also agree with me that 4 

many times variances are granted when there is no opposition 5 

from any adjoining or nearby community member, correct? 6 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct. 7 

  MR. LANZI:  I’m going to object to this for 8 

relevance. 9 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, any response? 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I mean, it goes to the alleged, I 11 

think we’ve heard so far, Mr. McComas, that, that Mr. Kestner 12 

could not, and assumedly could never, meet the lot width 13 

requirements because of an existing garage that is allegedly 14 

within five feet and an existing house that is allegedly within 15 

thirty feet.  So, if there is such a difficulty, I was just 16 

asking Mr. Doak about the ease with which a variance from those 17 

requirements can be obtained. 18 

  CHAIR:  We’ll let it in, Mr. Lanzi.  You know, we’ll 19 

give it the weight that, that, (inaudible) not the case here, 20 

we’ll let it in for just the surrounding community, just like 21 

we did with your, some of your (inaudible).  Go ahead, Mr. 22 

McCann. 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, thank you.   24 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) I’ll overrule you, Mr. Lanzi, and 25 
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let it in.  Sorry.  Go ahead, Mr. McCann. 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, thanks.  A couple more things, Mr. 2 

Doak.  I, I didn’t hear anywhere in your testimony, I didn’t 3 

see on the plan itself, is how many stories this house was 4 

going to be.  You, you talked about an envelope, a building 5 

envelope being eighteen hundred square feet.  But how, how tall 6 

will it be?  How many stories will it be? 7 

  MR. DOAK:  At this point, I don’t know for certain.  8 

It can be up to fifty feet high per zoning regulations. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Would you agree with me that, at the 10 

least, this property, this house is going to have to be on, 11 

gosh, I want, I want to call them stilts, but there’s another 12 

name for them.   13 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s all right.  Pilings. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  Pilings.  This property, this house is 15 

going to have to be, to be on pilings, correct? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Wouldn’t you agree though that in 18 

order for this Board to determine, and you spoke a lot about 19 

what you believe to be the lack of impairments and impacts on 20 

the neighborhood.   21 

  In fact, you said you didn’t think that this house 22 

would impair, when asked, when you were asked whether this 23 

house would impair Mr. Dawson’s use of his property, as an 24 

example, you said not at all.   25 
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  And my question to you is wouldn’t you agree that in 1 

order to determine what the, the real and practical and 2 

appreciable impact might be on Mr. Dawson and his neighbors, 3 

you would need to know the height of this building? 4 

  MR. DOAK:  It’s my opinion that whether it is two 5 

story at thirty-five feet or three story at fifty feet, it’s 6 

going to be the same view from Mr. Dawson looking over top of 7 

this house.  He’s going to be looking at sky whether he’s at 8 

thirty-five trying to look over or fifty. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Wait a minute.  You’re, you’re saying 10 

Mr. Dawson is not going to see this house but rather sky? 11 

  MR. DOAK:  No, you said his view.  Is a view of the 12 

house or view elsewhere with the house in place? 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Well, -- 14 

  MR. DOAK:  I didn’t, I didn’t understand your 15 

question. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I’m not sure I understood your 17 

answer, but. 18 

  MR. DOAK:  Okay. 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  You’d have to agree with me, and let’s 20 

go to Plaintiff’s Exhibit, this should be Exhibit 1.  You would 21 

have, you would have to agree to me, with me, wouldn’t you not, 22 

that Mr. Dawson, out of his front and side windows will see 23 

nearly, if not entirely, the entire structure, if, if, if 24 

approved? 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, he would. 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  And would you agree with me that because 2 

it will be on pilings, and maybe, I don’t know, sounds like it 3 

could be as high as fifty feet, that that view, Mr. Dawson, 4 

would you want to live next to, would you want to live, Mr. 5 

Doak, thirty to forty feet away from a structure that big? 6 

  MR. DOAK:  Living down here, you know it’s a, 7 

something that’s going to happen.  Look across the street, at 8 

the new house they built there, it’s just going to be similar 9 

to that.  Look at that photograph with the Board, and it’ll 10 

give you an idea of what’d you be looking at. 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and where, where is that 12 

(inaudible) are they in the same position, vis-à-vis, the, the 13 

structure as Mr. Dawson is?  They’re not, are they? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  I, I don’t, I’m sorry. 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  You don’t? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  If you look at that photograph, we can 17 

talk about it in that regard.  I don’t. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Well, I don’t think the photograph shows 19 

it, so. 20 

  MR. DOAK:  Well, it’s the new house across the 21 

street. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  I know, I know what the house is. 23 

  MR. DOAK:  Oh. 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  Your photographs don’t show the 25 
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relationship between that, you know, that new, so-called new 1 

house and its neighbors. 2 

  MR. DOAK:  As a matter of fact, it would be closer, 3 

those two neighbors would be closer to each other than Mr. 4 

Dawson to this house because Mr. Dawson has an empty lot 5 

between them, a twenty-five-foot empty lot and his driveway 6 

between them.   7 

  MR. MCCANN:  Now, hold on.  How do you know that, Mr. 8 

Doak?  I know that you know that there’s a lot there, we can 9 

all see the lot here.  But how do you know that there’s, 10 

there’s more space, or less space rather, in, in between the 11 

new house across the street and its neighbor?  How do you know 12 

that? 13 

  MR. DOAK:  Because there, the size of the lots.   14 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Okay.  Let’s talk about storm 15 

water management.  The water table at this property, the 16 

subject property, is extremely high.  You would agree with 17 

that, right? 18 

  MR. DOAK:  The water table? 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yes. 20 

  MR. DOAK:  I don’t know, are we talking about a flood 21 

plain elevation versus a water table? 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  I, well, that’s what you said in, when 23 

Mr., when Judge Mayhew asked you isn’t it true that the water 24 

table is extremely high.  This is at page seventeen of your 25 



86 
 

testimony.  You said yes.  So, I don’t know what you meant when 1 

you answered that question but -- 2 

  MR. LANZI:  I, I’m going to object.  When did Mr. 3 

Mayhew get involved in this hearing?  I don’t follow this.   4 

  MR. MCCANN:  He held, he held the hearing in this 5 

case. 6 

  MR. LANZI:  Are, are you saying of the transcript? 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  I have the transcript, yeah, I have it 8 

right here.   9 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 10 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) prior testimony, Mr. Lanzi.  11 

Right, Mr. McCann? 12 

  MR. MCCANN:  That’s correct.   13 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m not, I’m not trying to catch Mr. 15 

Doak in a lie, I’m just ask, I know he wouldn’t do that.  But 16 

I’m asking him, it was his word, not mine, or Judge Mayhew’s 17 

word, which he didn’t disagree with.  I’m just, you know, what, 18 

what’s the difference between, is there a difference between 19 

water table and, and flood plain? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  I, I use, I, I answered his question 21 

knowing what he really was asking.  That’s not the right 22 

terminology. 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. 24 

  MR. DOAK:  Water table usually means sub-surface, 25 
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okay?  But what you’re talking about is a flood plain 1 

elevation.  And what we have here, the elevation is 2 

approximately ten through the middle of the proposed house 3 

footprint and in comparison to say twelve for his prior house 4 

and roughly thirteen for Mr. Dawson’s house. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  But that wasn’t my question.  My, 6 

my question was about the water table, and it is extremely 7 

high, right? 8 

  MR. DOAK:  It’s similar, as a matter of fact, it’s, 9 

it’s no more than most places in this, along that, that road. 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  Did you look at the water table at all 11 

the properties along Cherwin Road? 12 

  MR. DOAK:  No.  No, no, no, no.  But you can see the, 13 

on Petitioner’s exhibit number one, you can see the contour 14 

elevations there.  You can see ten, twelve and thirteen in the 15 

way of contour intervals.  And those are taken from GIS. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Well, what, what you said, and 17 

I’ll move onto storm water management as I indicated I would, 18 

that storm water management, that will be addressed as part of 19 

the County’s review, correct? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct. 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, sitting here today, certainly you 22 

testified about it in your direct examination, other than to 23 

generally talk about it, we don’t know what will be submitted 24 

to the County or what the County will improve, approve, sorry, 25 
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in terms of storm water management, fair? 1 

  MR. DOAK:  Not as to specifics, no. 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Have you, have you prepared a 3 

storm water management concept plan? 4 

  MR. DOAK:  I don’t even know what the size of the 5 

house or how much impervious we will have.  So, I can’t do that 6 

yet.   7 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Well, you know, I understand that 8 

may, that may be a good argument in the development plan case, 9 

but we’re here on a, on a variance case and a 304.1 case.  How 10 

is, how are we able to have, how is the Board able to 11 

reasonably conclude that this house will not have an impact on 12 

adjoining properties, from a storm water management 13 

perspective, without knowing what, what the plan may look like 14 

or whether we’ll ever be approved?   15 

  MR. DOAK:  Because the required steps to be able to 16 

get approval for a permit -- 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, but that may change the plan.  You 18 

certainly submitted storm water management plans that resulted 19 

in a, in a, in a change of plan, correct? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  Please ask that again, I don’t understand 21 

that. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Have you ever submitted a storm water 23 

management concept plan that, as a result of changes required 24 

by the County, resulted in a change to the development plan or 25 
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site plan? 1 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  That’s happened? 3 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 4 

  MR. EVANS:  Mr. Doak, I think you (inaudible) BCZR 5 

than I do, but is there a separate appeal process for building 6 

permits under these circumstances?  Do you know? 7 

  MR. DOAK:  Well, Mr. Evans, there is the normal, 8 

well, I won’t say normal, there is the written procedure under 9 

304, Section 304, where you file for a building permit with the 10 

elevations and the grading and site plan, and then in turn, 11 

then that’s reviewed, then it’s advertised and then a hearing 12 

may come from that.  So, that’s a little different then, then 13 

the way we’re going about it now.   14 

  MR. EVANS:  So, I guess my question is what, what 15 

opportunity is there for the neighborhood to have input into 16 

the building permits for the Kestner property, if any?  Is 17 

there any formal way for them -- 18 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir.  No, sir.  It’s all done through 19 

the County.  The County is going to require us to shoot 20 

topography out here, they’re going to require us to show 21 

accurately the foot, proposed footprint and the drainage in 22 

each direction and how we’re going to address it into 23 

facilities, whether there will be a drywell or anything.  And 24 

then, how much impervious or how much area will be drainage 25 
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onto the roads.  So, all that is taken into consideration as a 1 

part of the building permit process.   2 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.   3 

  MR. MCCANN:  And there’s no (inaudible) appeal per se 4 

to a building permit, that, that, in other words, the person 5 

who is seeking the building permit, if his building permit is 6 

denied, he can seek, he or she can seek an appeal of that 7 

decision, correct? 8 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I think that’s all I have, Mr. 10 

Doak.  Just bear with me one second.  Nothing else, thank you.   11 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Doak, I have one question that’s kind of 12 

following up with, you may have answered it in answering Mr. 13 

Evans’ question, but the storm water management plan that you 14 

just mentioned, I mean, suppose that the, the County says, you 15 

know, you know, Mr. Owner, you’ve got to do x, y and z.  And 16 

they’re, they’re so out of the ordinary that the neighborhood 17 

may not appreciate some of those, you know, County, you know, 18 

storm water management plans.  Is it right to say that they 19 

would have no path to object to it? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir.  I mean, it wouldn’t be a formal 21 

path but, by all means, they can go, and they can meet with and 22 

discuss it with the reviewer from storm water management as to 23 

their concerns.  And I, I know from experience that the 24 

reviewer would at least take it into consideration and would 25 
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look into it. 1 

  But, if you look at something else, I mean, you’re 2 

worried about the runoff here, if you look at Petitioner’s 3 

exhibit number one, if you would, please?  Neil, can you put up 4 

Petitioner’s exhibit number one?   5 

  MR. LANZI:  I don’t have the -- 6 

  MR. DOAK:  Oh. 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  I can, I can. 8 

  MR. DOAK:  Thank you. 9 

  CHAIR:  We’ll get there in a second, Mr. Doak, 10 

because I, I wanted to make sure Mr. McCann was wrapped up and 11 

I was going to give it over to Mr. Lanzi here. 12 

  MR. DOAK:  Oh, okay.   13 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) there is a path here, it’s more of 14 

an informal path (inaudible) about the runoff, but maybe design 15 

of the storm water manage, you know, management. 16 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 17 

  CHAIR: (inaudible). 18 

  MR. DOAK:  And the one, like the one that’s going in 19 

across the street or any others around that area they do it in 20 

common practice and most, all of that is, almost all that is 21 

underground in the way of drywells.  So, you wouldn’t even 22 

notice it on a lot like this.   23 

  CHAIR:  All right.  Well, thank you, Mr. Doak. 24 

  MR. DOAK:  You’re welcome. 25 
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  MR. EVANS:  Mr. Doak, can I go back to what I was 1 

asking because I, I was trying to look at the, you know, 304.1, 2 

which has a cross reference to Section 4 (inaudible).  And 3 

what, what these two provisions, you’re correct.  This was, 4 

this was submitted as a Petition for Special Hearing, right? 5 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 6 

  MR. EVANS:  To seek a variance.  But if, if they had 7 

followed, if the, if Mr. Kestner had followed 304.1 and 4-A-8 

03.2, then, then, then there would be an opportunity, would 9 

there not, for neighbors or concerned citizens, I should say, 10 

to actually have formal input into the issuance of building 11 

permits.  That’s how I read it.  I could be reading it wrong, 12 

but. 13 

  MR. DOAK:  No, you are right.  But if you look under 14 

304.1 or 2, excuse me, B-1 or B-2, they would be, they would be 15 

given an opportunity for, you know, the aesthetics of the 16 

house, those things.  And then, then we would, under 3, you 17 

would usually give them a preliminary site plan or under 1.1, 18 

we’d give them a preliminary site plan.  Would we, would we go 19 

into full storm water management design and the cost and time 20 

for that?  No, sir. 21 

  MR. EVANS:  Well, except that storm water management 22 

is a pre-requisite to the issuance of a building permit and the 23 

building permit can be appealed under 4-A-304.3, 4 and 5.   24 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 25 
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  MR. LANZI:  That’s, that’s if you’re, Judge, that’s 1 

if you’re in Bowley’s Quarters and Back River Neck. 2 

  MR. EVANS:  Is that all that applies to? 3 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 4 

  CHAIR:  Yes. 5 

  MR. LANZI:  Yeah.   6 

  MR. EVANS:  So, I’m completely, I just want to make 7 

sure I’m incorrect or correct, I mean, I’m not trying to trick 8 

anyone.  I’m just trying to understand the, the (inaudible) of 9 

these sections. 10 

  MR. DOAK:  You’re correctly incorrect. 11 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay, good.  Mr. Lanzi, what, maybe you 12 

could help me here. 13 

  MR. LANZI:  Yeah, I mean, I don’t believe this 14 

property is, I know it’s not in Bowley’s Quarters, I don’t 15 

believe it’s in Back River Neck either. 16 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay. 17 

  MR. LANZI:  So, this is a specific growth management 18 

plan.  So, the qualifier that you mentioned in 304.1 does not 19 

apply here. 20 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay, okay.  All right. 21 

  MR. MCCANN: (inaudible) Mr. Evans, that, or maybe Mr. 22 

Doak is correct, that 30, this process that’s called for in 23 

304.2, etcetera, does not a process that considers anything, at 24 

least based on the, the plain wording of 304.2, anything other 25 
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than design, architectural design and site design as opposed to 1 

the more substantive issue of storm water management.   2 

  MR. EVANS:  Well, I don’t know.  If it doesn’t apply, 3 

it doesn’t apply, by its terms, but whether it would include a 4 

storm water management plan, I, I would have to be convinced 5 

that it doesn’t include that.   6 

  MR. MCCANN:  I just, I would just look at those 7 

things that it does include, and that they don’t, they don’t 8 

appear to be of the same -- 9 

  MR. EVANS:  Right, right.  But it talks about the 10 

application for building permits, and you need the storm water 11 

management plan for a, for a building permit, correct?  Or not?   12 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, but the only thing that the 13 

Department of PAI is, is required to make recommendations con, 14 

are those things that are identified in B-1, 2 and 3.   15 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  I think Mr. Doak -- 17 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.   18 

  MR. MCCANN:  -- Mr. Doak agrees with that.   19 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 20 

  MR. EVANS:  I, I’m sure he does.  I mean, it helps 21 

his position.   22 

  MR. DOAK:  Well, not, I would not say, but I wouldn’t 23 

say outright that it does, so.  I’ve just never done full storm 24 

water management when applying through a permit for 304.   25 
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  MR. EVANS:  But if Mr., if Mr. Lanzi’s correct that 1 

this entire provision doesn’t even apply here then this 2 

conversation is not necessary. 3 

  MR. DOAK:  Moot. 4 

  CHAIR:  Well, he’s talking about the (inaudible), 5 

he’s talking about the exception to the rule, the, the 4-A-03, 6 

which is the Bowley’s Quarters thing. 7 

  MR. EVANS:  Yes. 8 

  CHAIR:  He’s not talking about the whole thing.   9 

  MR. DOAK:  Right. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  Correct.   11 

  MR. EVANS:  Right, right, just the 4-A-03. 12 

  CHAIR:  Right. 13 

  MR. EVANS:  If that’s Bowley’s Quarters then, and -- 14 

  CHAIR:  Back River.   15 

  MR. EVANS:  -- Back River then, and if that’s all it 16 

is, limited to that, then I’m completely wrong and I -- 17 

  CHAIR:  And the property doesn’t exist in that 18 

section. 19 

  MR. EVANS:  And, and that this property doesn’t exist 20 

in that section, then I, I am sorry for wasting everyone’s 21 

time. 22 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, I, I thought I heard you say that 23 

you had no further questions for Mr. Doak?  Mr. McCann? 24 

  MR. MCCANN: (inaudible). 25 
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  CHAIR:  I thought I heard you say that you had no 1 

further questions for Mr. Doak? 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I was thinking about whether I 3 

wanted to ask him in light of your questions but I’m, I’m going 4 

to refrain. 5 

  CHAIR:  All right.  Mr. Lanzi, do you have anything 6 

on, on re-cross? 7 

  MR. LANZI:  I do.  Mr. Doak, just to follow up on the 8 

most recent topic of the storm water management.  So, Mr. Doak, 9 

in your experience, I, and I know you’re not an engineer, but 10 

just your experience with development and land use, is it the 11 

typical County method of dealing with storm water management 12 

plans to look at the impact, or possible impact, on neighboring 13 

properties? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, it is. 15 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, all right.  I have a couple other 16 

questions.  And, and also, just to make sure I understand 17 

after, after listening to Judge Evans, they would still have to 18 

go through 304.2, they being the applicant, where they would 19 

submit the building permit plan and then there would be all the 20 

input from the planning office and the director, I guess it 21 

would be the director of permits, approvals and inspections, is 22 

that your understanding? 23 

  MR. DOAK:  Are you talking about our subject lots? 24 

  MR. LANZI:  Yes, so, -- 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  No, they would not. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  So, but they would have to file for a 2 

building permit and the building permit has its own set of 3 

requirements and reviews, just -- 4 

  MR. DOAK:  We would not have to go through the steps 5 

of 304.2 when applying for this.  That’s what this hearing was 6 

meant to do, is be pro-active on that.   7 

  MR. LANZI:  However, when you file for a building 8 

permit, there are different reviews by the various departments 9 

before the permit can be issued. 10 

  MR. DOAK:  Oh, yes, sir. 11 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  That, that was the point I was 12 

trying to make.   13 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 14 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, just a couple other questions.  15 

Early on in your cross examination, there was questions about 16 

houses being built back in the, I guess, twenties, thirties, 17 

pre-zoning regulations.  Is it true that the Dawson’s house was 18 

built within the last thirty years, or do you remember when the 19 

Dawson house was built? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  The, the Dawson house was built in 1989.   21 

  MR. LANZI:  And how about the Wallace house? 22 

  MR. DOAK:  The Wallace house was built in 1998. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  So, if time permitted, and I’m not asking 24 

the Board for this time, but if time permitted, you would be 25 
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able to go back and check out some of those properties that 1 

were shown you by Mr. McCann in the exhibit, and you would be 2 

able to identify houses that were built within the last thirty 3 

years. 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  Objection.  That’s a complete and utter 5 

speculation.  You would be able to identify such houses, 6 

that’s, I can’t imagine, I can’t imagine anything more 7 

speculative than that.   8 

  MR. LANZI:  He just identified two and if we need, if 9 

the Board needs it, we would need the time for him to do that. 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  Mr. Dawson has five, he doesn’t have a 11 

two-lot problem.  He owns more than two lots (inaudible). 12 

  MR. LANZI:  I understand.  The question was the years 13 

the house was built. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  It doesn’t matter what years the houses 15 

were built if you have more than two lots.   16 

  MR. LANZI:  But that was not the, that was not the 17 

(inaudible) -- 18 

  CHAIR:  To Mr. Lanzi and Mr. McCann, Mr. Lanzi, so 19 

you objected on what grounds, Mr. McCann, speculative? 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, the question posed, unless I 21 

misheard it was, whether Mr. Doak, given the time, could go 22 

back and look and find other houses that were not built prior 23 

to the zoning regulations.  And I think, I don’t think the 24 

question went much further than that.  But that’s suggesting 25 
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what he might find if he did that search and I think that’s 1 

speculative. 2 

  CHAIR:  I, I mean, I, Mr. Lanzi, what’s your reaction 3 

to that? 4 

  MR. LANZI:  Well, we’ve already established through 5 

Mr. Doak’s exhibit that there were many properties that are 6 

fifty-foot lots.  And then, I guess, in the Protestants’ 7 

exhibit, they’re establishing some of the houses were built on 8 

more than two lots, some were built before zoning regulations. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  That’s not accurate.  That’s not 10 

accurate. 11 

  MR. LANZI:  That’s exactly what was established.  But 12 

in any event, let me finish, I may ask for a break after my re-13 

direct, for us to do a little search to confirm or not confirm, 14 

that there, some of these houses that are objecting, are on two 15 

lots and their houses were built after the zoning regulations.  16 

That’s all.  I may be asking the Board’s leave for fifteen 17 

minutes to do that.   18 

  CHAIR:  But I think the, I, I guess the question of 19 

Mr. Doak is could he find all those lots given enough time and 20 

I think the answer is yes, right, Mr. Doak? 21 

  MR. DOAK:  It would have to be based solely on the 22 

SDAT records. 23 

  CHAIR:  Yes. 24 

  MR. DOAK:  While I’m sitting here in my office.  But 25 
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I would say yes that I would have that opportunity in fifteen 1 

to twenty minutes. 2 

  CHAIR:  Well, there are two questions there.  One is, 3 

is, whether you could do that if you had (inaudible) amount of 4 

time and, and you’re going to live for twenty years and the 5 

answer is I think you could do that, right? 6 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 7 

  CHAIR:  And the second question is, what I think what 8 

Mr. Lanzi is asking for is, he’s asking for judicial indulgence 9 

here after he wraps up his testimony with you to maybe bring 10 

you back up to ask you maybe a couple other questions 11 

(inaudible) to see if he can find some rebuttal evidence to Mr. 12 

McCann’s arguments.  And, and I think, Mr. Lanzi, I think the 13 

answer to Mr. Doak is yes, given enough time, he could find all 14 

those things on all those properties. 15 

  And Mr. Lanzi, I think the answer to you is if you 16 

need a few extra minutes at some point (inaudible) do a little 17 

research, just like Mr. McCann did during lunch, we can give 18 

you fifteen minutes if you think you can do that sufficient.  19 

You know, otherwise, maybe you can continue and if we need to 20 

revisit that, we can do that.  How’s that, Mr. Lanzi and Mr. 21 

McCann? 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  I, you certainly are making the 23 

decisions, not me, Mr. McComas.  (inaudible) -- 24 

  CHAIR:  All I was asking was whether you had any 25 
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objections to it.  So, if you’re not objecting, Mr. Lanzi, do 1 

you have any objections with that or any clarifications on 2 

that? 3 

  MR. LANZI: (inaudible). 4 

  CHAIR: (inaudible). 5 

  MR. LANZI:  Yeah, I’ll just reserve the right to 6 

call, recall Mr. Doak after the Protestants’ case.  But I have 7 

a couple more questions. 8 

  CHAIR:  Sure.  Proceed, Mr. Lanzi. 9 

  MR. LANZI:  All right.  Mr. Doak, also to clarify 10 

some of your earlier testimony on cross, our, our case, our, 11 

Mr. Kestner did not own, never owned six unimproved lots as 12 

compared to some of the examples given by Protestants. 13 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct. 14 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  If I recall correctly, four of our 15 

lots that were purchased by Mr. Kestner are improved and two 16 

are unimproved. 17 

  MR. DOAK:  That is correct. 18 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and also, to maybe clarify the 19 

discussions on the five-foot issue with the garage and the 20 

thirty-foot rear setback with the garage, I believe you 21 

testified you didn’t perform the survey but there was a survey 22 

done and plans done by, I think it’s our Exhibit 7-B and C, 23 

which are identified but not entered.  So, can we, am I able to 24 

pull up?  Am I, do I have the, do I have the exhibits now?  I 25 
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don’t think I do.   1 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Sampson, does he have the token? 2 

  MR. SAMPSON:  It’s still with Mr. McCann.   3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Sorry, I was on mute again.   4 

  CHAIR:  That’s all right.  I think we’re just trying 5 

to get Mr. Lanzi the, the token.   6 

  MR. LANZI:  I got it. 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I don’t have the share anymore.   8 

  MR. LANZI:  I have it now. 9 

  CHAIR:  Okay.  You got it, Mr. Lanzi. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  If I can find it.  Okay, right 11 

there.  Okay.  This is another reason why Exhibit 7-B should be 12 

entered into evidence, but right now it’s just identified only.  13 

Mr. Doak, can you see Exhibit 7-B? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, if you can make the subject property 15 

larger for me?  Then bring it down.   16 

  MR. LANZI:  And this plan was prepared by a different 17 

survey firm? 18 

  MR. DOAK:  It was, NT, NTT Associates. 19 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and do you have any reason to think 20 

that they may not have done a nice job on showing distances? 21 

  MR. DOAK:  No, they’re, they’re a good firm.   22 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 23 

  MR. DOAK:  And if you’ll, if you’ll look at the, the, 24 

our subject property is outlined and then to the right is Mr. 25 
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Kestner’s previous property, you’ll see the garage, and you’ll 1 

see that there’s a five foot, plus or minus, offset.  There 2 

also would be a two and a half foot zoning setback off the rear 3 

of that to our property.   4 

  So, if you tried to move that line one, you would be 5 

on or in the garage.  If you moved it five feet, you would be 6 

on or in the garage and you definitely would be within the two 7 

and a half foot zoning setback. 8 

  And then, if you moved the five foot with the back of 9 

the house, you’d be within that setback there.  You’d be right 10 

at that setback there.  There, there is additional things that 11 

would require setback and that would be the porch and stuff on 12 

the back of it, but yeah. 13 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  There’s, there’s been also mention 14 

that this is a variance case.  This is a special hearing case, 15 

correct? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct.  I don’t know of any 17 

variances that are needed 18 

  MR. LANZI:  And we’re not dealing with the standards 19 

of uniqueness that are required for a variance, correct? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir. 21 

  MR. LANZI:  And in fact, you’ve been doing this for a 22 

long time and variance cases are not necessarily routinely 23 

granted anymore. 24 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir. 25 
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  MR. LANZI:  In fact, the variance in this case was 1 

denied. 2 

  MR. DOAK:  It was.  The twenty-five in lieu of forty 3 

was denied in the first case. 4 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  There was some discussions about 5 

if a subdivision had, the possibility of a subdivision had 6 

occurred on the Kestner’s six lots.  If, in fact, it had gone 7 

through a minor subdivision, let’s, let’s assume for this 8 

question that all six lots are unimproved and they went through 9 

a minor subdivision and the house was built, or strike that. 10 

  Let’s assume the five foot of the Kestner lot was 11 

moved over to this lot and we didn’t have to be here today, and 12 

the house was built.  Would that, would that view out of the 13 

Dawson’s side window change any? 14 

  MR. DOAK:  As long as they used the entire building 15 

envelope, which, at that time then, would be thirty-five feet 16 

wide in lieu of the, instead of the thirty that we’re proposing 17 

now.  That it would look exactly the same, only the house may 18 

have more square footage.   19 

  MR. LANZI:  So, it might, it might even be bigger? 20 

  MR. DOAK:  It might even be bigger. 21 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, okay.  That’s all I have. 22 

  MR. EVANS:  Can, can I go back to my weirdness here?  23 

Mr. Doak, you said that the special hearing process utilized in 24 

this instance, which I think you, you’re the one that initiated 25 
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it, correct? 1 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir I am. 2 

  MR. EVANS:  Yeah, that this process was designed to 3 

supplant, you said 4-A-03, but actually, I think Mr. Lanzi is 4 

absolutely correct, that that wouldn’t apply here.  But 304.2-- 5 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, it’s to take the place of that or -- 6 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.  So, it takes the place of 304.2, 7 

but in, in 304.2, the review would include the architectural 8 

design in all those subdivisions.  Now, we can’t review that, 9 

can we?  Because we don’t have it. 10 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir. 11 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.  So, -- 12 

  MR. DOAK:  I mean, we don’t have it in this case -- 13 

  MR. EVANS:  -- (inaudible) this process, the other 14 

process you have (inaudible) input by the neighbors, do you 15 

not? 16 

  MR. DOAK:  Of the architectural design, yes. 17 

  MR. EVANS:  Yes, yes, yeah. 18 

  MR. DOAK:  Nothing else.  But keep in mind that, that 19 

architectural design is, is not, there is no criteria for 20 

architectural design.  It doesn’t, nowhere in zoning does it 21 

say it has to be, what materials you have to use, what 22 

(inaudible) you have to have, or how many windows.  None of 23 

that is a requirement of zoning and it’s only a preference of 24 

planning.   25 
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  So, even though I would show it, which I have no 1 

opportunity now because it’s going to be sold, but still, 2 

there’s no requirements of it being any specific design.   3 

  MR. EVANS:  So, so the fact that there’s a review 4 

provided for architectural design is, is, in, in, is 5 

irrelevant?   6 

  MR. DOAK:  Not irrelevant.  What they wanted to do is 7 

make sure it conforms with the area.  So, if you were, and it’s 8 

not so much the design of it.  I mean, if somebody wanted to 9 

build something that looked like a castle here, they’d have 10 

that right.  The community may not prefer it, but they still 11 

have that right.  What they’re worried about is -- 12 

  MR. EVANS:  It says within fifteen days of posting of 13 

the building permit, any owner or occupant within a thousand 14 

feet, and that would include both the people who are in the 15 

first Kestner property and Mr. Dawson’s, (inaudible) request 16 

for a hearing. 17 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct.  Yes, sir. 18 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.  But now they can’t.   19 

  MR. DOAK:  They are in it right now.   20 

  MR. EVANS:  Not as to architectural design they’re 21 

not. 22 

  MR. DOAK:  So, but once again, the design can’t be 23 

determined by the public or even the County agencies.  That’s 24 

up to the, that’s up to the, the owner. 25 
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  MR. EVANS:  Well, apparently, it’s not. 1 

  MR. DOAK:  Well, -- 2 

  MR. EVANS:  It’s not up to the owner.  The, the 3 

neighbors have input, right? 4 

  MR. DOAK:  They, they can make that part of their 5 

case, just like Mr. McCann could say that we’re fine with this 6 

if you build a one story, twelve hundred square foot house.  He 7 

could say that right now.  How much weight you would give that 8 

and whether you have the right to demand that is another thing.   9 

  MR. EVANS:  Well, -- 10 

  MR. DOAK:  What 304.2 does is gives people the 11 

opportunity to, for their day in Court, if they deem it, if, if 12 

they decide to and that’s what we’re doing here.   13 

  MR. EVANS:  But we’re not doing it as to the building 14 

permit. 15 

  MR. DOAK:  As, as to -- 16 

  MR. EVANS:  As to whether or not it’s an undersized 17 

lot and whether, you know, fifty feet is okay when it’s 18 

supposed to be fifty-five feet, because it’s an undersized lot 19 

it’s grandfathered in.  That’s what we’re here for.  We’re not, 20 

there is, I mean, the lot hasn’t even been sold to the, you 21 

know, to the person who’s going to build the house, so we have 22 

no house to examine. 23 

  MR. DOAK:  We have no elevations, that’s correct, 24 

sir. 25 
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  MR. EVANS:  But we don’t have anything about the 1 

house. 2 

  MR. DOAK:  We have the probability or the poss, at 3 

least we’ll say the possibility, of it being eight, a footprint 4 

of eighteen hundred square feet.   5 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay. 6 

  MR. DOAK:  Now, whether it is thirty-five feet high 7 

or fifty feet, no, sir, we do not.   8 

  MR. EVANS:  Yeah, well, okay.  I have nothing, I have 9 

nothing -- 10 

  MR. DOAK:  If I may, one more thing is that, that 11 

would be no different than the people across the street 12 

starting to build theirs in, in, in the, the local, you know, 13 

the people within a thousand feet, we’ll say, having an 14 

opportunity to give them their input on it.  It’s just not, 15 

it’s just not a requirement.  Or, or so. 16 

  MR. EVANS:  Well, it, it, you say that, but I’m, I 17 

mean, I’m just looking at the language of 304.2 and 304.3 and 18 

304.4 -- 19 

  MR. DOAK:  And I do a number, I, I, I do go through 20 

304.2 as a building application and through this and the only 21 

thing that planning is, because there’s no DRP, development 22 

review panel, in this area, like there would be in Ruxton or 23 

Pikesville or those, they just want to make sure that the, the, 24 

the house design conforms with the area.  And they have that 25 
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same opportunity during building permit process also. 1 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay. 2 

  MR. DOAK:  Because planning gets to see a building 3 

permit. 4 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.   5 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Lanzi? 6 

  MR. LANZI:  I have nothing further.   7 

  CHAIR:  All right. Mr. Lanzi, do you have any other 8 

witnesses? 9 

  MR. LANZI:  Not at this time.  I’ll just reserve -- 10 

  CHAIR:  Sure. 11 

  MR. LANZI:  -- to bring Mr. Doak back.  I, I do want 12 

to again offer Exhibit 7-B, 7-B, Petitioner’s 7-B into 13 

evidence. 14 

  CHAIR:  You know, this one is to, you know, is not 15 

for res judicata, but more for, I won’t say repairment of a 16 

witness, but response to Mr. McCann’s, and some of the, his 17 

questions about the thing.  And I, I, I, to me, we should admit 18 

on those grounds.  Mr. Lanzi, I think we should admit it. Mr. 19 

McCann, do you have any objections? 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  No, I think it’s helpful to us and I 21 

want to ask him questions about it.   22 

  MR. EVANS:  Yeah, I agree with that, yeah.   23 

  CHAIR:  Okay. Mr. McCann, you want, you want to 24 

follow-up -- 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  I do, I have a couple follow-up to 1 

what’s, to, to what’s, the discussion that’s been going on so, 2 

I do.  Just a couple though, Mr. McComas.  May I proceed? 3 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, go ahead, sure. 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Real quick, and I (inaudible) 5 

that 7-B now is, I can’t, unless I can share. 6 

  MR. LANZI:  You want me to give up the baton?  I’ll 7 

give up the baton. 8 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Sampson, I think you may have to do it. 9 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Working on it.  (inaudible). 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  While he’s doing that, Mr. Doak, 11 

regardless, regardless of whether this, this hearing, by the 12 

way, before the Board is just not a Petition for Special 13 

Hearing, it’s also a Petition for Variance before this Board as 14 

we sit here today, correct? 15 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. 17 

  MR. LANZI:  There is not.  It, it was deemed moot.  18 

It was withdrawn at the, at the ALJ level, it was deemed moot.   19 

  MR. DOAK:  Right. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, you’re saying -- 21 

  MR. LANZI:  So, (inaudible) variance case here today. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  We, we appealed the case.  We appealed 23 

the entire case and before Judge Mayhew was both the Petition 24 

for Variance and the Petition for Special Hearing.  I don’t 25 
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think it matters much, but that’s the state of things. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  Well, we, we withdrew our Petition at the 2 

ALJ level, which he determined it was moot and he based his 3 

decision on 304.   4 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, I’m looking at the Order now. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  As I read the decision itself, it 6 

refers to the first Petition at the beginning. 7 

  CHAIR:  At the end, the Order is, is granted on the 8 

304 and moot on, on the 1-B. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, how does that not, how does that not 10 

make it in front of the Board?  I’m not sure I understand that.  11 

But, how is that not, just because that’s what the Judge ruled, 12 

we disagree with that.  So, but -- 13 

  MR. LANZI:  That issue was taken off the table at the 14 

ALJ hearing.   15 

  MR. MCCANN:  No, it was rendered moot by a decision 16 

that we appealed.  But in any event, I’ll move on, I’m sorry. 17 

  CHAIR:  Keep going, Mr. McCann.  I, I think your 18 

point is taken.   19 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I’ll move on.  Sorry about that.  20 

I just wanted to, I don’t want to beat a dead horse 21 

(inaudible).  This, this plan that we were just looking at, 22 

shows 35.2 feet (inaudible) the rear property line, correct? 23 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes. 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and I’m sorry, I’m trying to find 25 
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it real quick here.  It’s 7-B.  And you, I think it’s an 1 

overstatement to say you swore by this survey, but you, you 2 

certainly espoused its accuracy.  So, this very plot that you 3 

were relying upon, shows 35.2 and the rear yard setback, just 4 

from this zone again is thirty feet, correct? 5 

  MR. DOAK:  That’s correct. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Okay.  I’ll leave it at that.  7 

Thank you, Mr. McComas. 8 

  CHAIR:  All right.  Okay.  Mr. Lanzi, you, you have 9 

no other witnesses.  So, Mr. McCann, do you have any witnesses 10 

you’d like to call? 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, just a couple and I think they’ll 12 

be quick.  No experts, just community folks. 13 

  CHAIR:  Okay. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, hopefully, they’re here.  I haven’t 15 

checked in with them, but Mr. Dawson, is he available?   16 

  CHAIR:  It looks like he’s a participant on, on my, 17 

on my, on my dashboard. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, great.   19 

  MR. SAMPSON: (inaudible).  I have to move him from 20 

attendee to participant. 21 

  CHAIR:  I see.   22 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Give me one second here. 23 

  CHAIR:  Yep. 24 

  MR. SAMPSON:  He should be able to hear you, but I 25 
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think (inaudible). 1 

  CHAIR:  Yeah.   2 

  MR. SAMPSON:  All right.  He’s in and he’s unmuted.  3 

I don’t see him, but he’s in.   4 

  MR. MCCANN:  Mr. Dawson, are you with us?   5 

  MR. DAWSON:  I am.  Can you see me now?   6 

  MR. MCCANN:  There we go. 7 

  CHAIR:  There we go.   8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Great, -- 9 

  CHAIR:  Can you swear him in, Mr. Sampson? 10 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Can you raise your right hand, please, 11 

Mr. Dawson?  I can’t see you for some reason on my screen.  Is 12 

your right hand raised? 13 

  CHAIR:  He’s got his hand raised, I can see him, Mr. 14 

Sampson. 15 

  MR. SAMPSON:  All right, thank you.  Do you swear and 16 

affirm under the penalties of perjury, that the testimony you 17 

are about to give is true and correct to the best of your 18 

knowledge and belief? 19 

  MR. DAWSON:  I do. 20 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Please, again, state your name and 21 

address for the record, spell your last name, please. 22 

  MR. DAWSON:  John Dawson, D-A-W-S-O-N.  My address is 23 

13215 Cherwin Avenue, Middle River, Maryland 21220.   24 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Thank you. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Sampson.  Good 1 

afternoon, Mr. Dawson.  We’ve said your name a couple times in 2 

this hearing but just for the record, tell us where your, where 3 

is the property that you just identified in relation to the 4 

subject properties? 5 

  MR. DAWSON:  If you’re facing my house, it is to the 6 

left.  It’s the front two, or the lots to the left of my 7 

driveway. 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. 9 

  MR. DAWSON:  If you’re facing out, they’re to the 10 

right. 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and just by way of background, what 12 

do you do for a living, sir? 13 

  MR. DAWSON:  I am a sergeant with the Baltimore 14 

County Police Department in the Burglary Unit. 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and how long have you lived at 16 

this, at the property you identified? 17 

  MR. DAWSON:  Since August of 2017. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and who do you live with? 19 

  MR. DAWSON:  My wife and my two children. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and have you sat through the 21 

hearing this morning and this afternoon? 22 

  MR. DAWSON:  I have. 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, you’ve had that pleasure.   24 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, sir. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  So, would it be fair to say that you’re 1 

familiar with what’s been, what’s been proposed? 2 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, sir. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  And you, I think it’s accurate to say 4 

that you were also involved in the cases before, correct? 5 

  MR. DAWSON:  That is correct, sir. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  So, just, tell the, tell the, the 7 

Board, what, what it, what it is that are your, what are your 8 

concerns about the project? 9 

  MR. DAWSON:  My concerns are that it’s going to have 10 

a negative impact on my property, the surrounding area, the 11 

roadway, as well as possibly reducing my property value.  I 12 

know when I bought this house, I bought it because the houses 13 

spread out throughout the area was, if there was a house 14 

already on that lot, I probably wouldn’t have purchased it.  I 15 

would have moved onto something else.   16 

  That area floods a lot.  I’ve seen it firsthand, and 17 

the water, not only is it storm water that you’ve been speaking 18 

of, but there’s also coastal flooding where if you have a storm 19 

surge or an extra high tide, it will come in and encroach upon 20 

that property.  So, obviously water has to go somewhere and 21 

it’s going to end up, I believe, and from what I’ve seen, and a 22 

reasonable person would believe, it’ll end up on my property 23 

and do damage to my, my home, my area. 24 

  MR. MCCANN: (inaudible) point before we move on, 25 
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you’ve heard testimony today that, from Mr. Doak regarding how 1 

the property slopes.  And I think the suggestion was that it, 2 

it slopes from your property, at least part of your property, 3 

towards the subject lots.  Could you describe a little bit 4 

about how that is, number one, is it true?  And if it’s not 5 

true, how, how you see the water flowing? 6 

  MR. DAWSON:  There’s a grade that goes from my 7 

driveway towards the, that property.  But also, that property, 8 

when the, when the water does come up, it will come into my 9 

driveway from his property.  So, it will come over into the 10 

driveway as it is now already.  But there is a slight grade 11 

away from my home as, I want to say most homes, you have a 12 

grade away from it, so water doesn’t come into it. 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Is it a grade away the entire length of 14 

your property line or is it just a portion of it – 15 

  MR. DAWSON:  A portion of it.   16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  And in the short time you’ve 17 

lived there, you’ve lived there four or five years or so, have 18 

you seen flooding on your property on a number of occasions? 19 

  MR. DAWSON:  Not so much onto mine, it does come into 20 

my driveway as it stands right now.  So, yeah, a little flood 21 

onto my driveway but not as much as it does onto the lots next 22 

door. 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and we’ll, we’ll show some pictures 24 

about that.  But I wanted you, if you could, be a little more 25 
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specific about why you think this house, as you’ve heard it 1 

today, will impact you.  And, including, among other things, 2 

how it, you think it will impact your property values. 3 

  MR. DAWSON:  So, when I purchased this house, I loved 4 

the views out of the windows up, actually, lower level and top 5 

levels, it’s a split-level home.  You can see the water 6 

clearly.  It’s right smack dab in the middle of where the Bird 7 

River and Gunpowder River meet, so it’s a beautiful area.  I, I 8 

loved it like when we came in.  The house next door, it was 9 

just a normal house, there was no giant structure in the 10 

backyard. 11 

  With this, I know it’s going to take away from my 12 

views.  I know it’s going to, like I said, for me personally, I 13 

wouldn’t have purchased the house and as a normal person would, 14 

I wouldn’t think anyone would want to purchase a house with a 15 

giant structure right next to basically up in front of their 16 

house.  So, I just, for me, I wouldn’t want to do that and for, 17 

it would lower my property values is what I would assume.   18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Well, there, there, there’s 19 

certainly a suggestion today from opposing counsel that this 20 

type of thing is, is all over your neighborhood.  Is that, is 21 

that an accurate statement?  That is, obstructed views?   22 

  MR. DAWSON:  No, I wouldn’t say that’s an accurate 23 

statement.  There, this is an old community, so there were 24 

shore shacks around the side, around the waterfront. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah. 1 

  MR. DAWSON:  People, obviously, will build bigger 2 

houses on the waterfront as, you know, times go on from those 3 

shore shacks.  But there’s not really any building going on in, 4 

on across from that, at least what I’ve seen since I’ve been in 5 

the neighborhood. 6 

  The one house that they alluded to earlier across the 7 

street, trees actually fell on that house and that’s why it was 8 

taken down.  It was two trees actually in a storm prior to the 9 

pandemic starting and it had been in disrepair and obviously 10 

the owner is going to do it at his pace, but that, that is what 11 

happened with that house. 12 

  MR. MCCANN:  That’s why it’s being rebuilt? 13 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, sir. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.   15 

  MR. DAWSON: (inaudible) shed, there was a house and a 16 

shed.   17 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  You mentioned your view.  Do you 18 

have a view, do you have windows on the side of your house?  19 

That is, when you’re facing it, we can see it from the 20 

photographs and we’ll look at some more, your side, what’s 21 

that? 22 

  MR. DAWSON:  Not on the side, just so I have a bay 23 

window on the front and a, a double window on the bottom that 24 

would face that side. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  So, from your windows that you just 1 

described, if you were to look sort of to the right, standing 2 

in your house, you would be able to see clearly this building? 3 

  MR. DAWSON:  I’m looking right through my window 4 

right now and I would see exactly where it is, and I’m sitting 5 

in the middle of my lower level, and I would, I’m looking right 6 

now at it.  I would see directly, I would see a house, a giant 7 

house. 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  In either your first floor or 9 

second floor, do you have, presently, do you have views of the 10 

water in that direction? 11 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, both, both, both floors, and from 12 

my back deck where if you were looking off towards the side, 13 

that’s all I would see is the house. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Any other ways, I want to, I may 15 

have cut you off in terms of how you think it has impacted you, 16 

or will impact you, and, or if you’ve described -- 17 

  MR. DAWSON:  I know that it will impact this area 18 

ecologically, I would assume, because there’s so much, being, 19 

being where we are, there’s bald eagles, there’s all types of 20 

waterfowl.  It, very regular during the summer, to see all 21 

types of waterfowl in the yard, frogs, turtles, all, all that 22 

type of stuff being right here on the water. 23 

  Which, like I said, it’s a small community and having 24 

something like that also put in where there wasn’t a previous 25 
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structure before is going to disrupt more than, than whatever 1 

development already is going on. 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  The, I wanted to go through a 3 

couple exhibits with you, if I could, real quick. 4 

  MR. DAWSON:  Sure. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  There’s some photographs I want to go 6 

through quickly because I think the Board, I mean, I won’t go 7 

through them slowly.  I think the Board is familiar with the 8 

property by now.  Okay.  This would be Protestants’ Exhibit 10.  9 

There are fifteen pages to this and, unfortunately, I did not 10 

number, or letter these pages.  So, I, I may just identify them 11 

by, you know, the first picture, the second picture, etcetera.   12 

  So, let’s go through this quickly if we could, Mr. 13 

Dawson.  Tell us what the first photograph in Exhibit 10 shows 14 

us. 15 

  MR. DAWSON:  That would be at the edge of my property 16 

against Mr. Kestner’s lot.  You can see the property stake 17 

right there at the bottom of the picture. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  In the foreground that’s the property 19 

stake? 20 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, sir. 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  The fence that we see to the 22 

righthand side, was that fence installed since you’ve lived 23 

there? 24 

  MR. DAWSON:  Since I lived here, yes.  It was after 25 
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the property was sold.  The house was sold.  1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  It was, it was installed after 2 

Mr. Kestner sold the property? 3 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, the new owner put that up. 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  So, so, you, when, for a period 5 

of time when you lived at this property the fence was not 6 

there, right? 7 

  MR. DAWSON:  Correct.  It was never there until the 8 

new owner moved in. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and during that period of time, Mr. 10 

Kestner was living on the property, that is, the four parcels 11 

to the right of you that we’ve been talking about? 12 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, sir. 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and during the time that you, you 14 

lived there and during the time that Mr. Kestner lived there, 15 

have you ever seen him or other, other persons visiting him, 16 

use the, these two lots that we’re looking now at in this, in 17 

this first picture? 18 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, it was used like a backyard, like 19 

you normally would.  There was a swing set, a firepit, there 20 

was, he would regularly have gatherings of friends and family, 21 

I would assume, but it was gath, social gatherings out there 22 

where people would be throwing the ball around.  I believe he 23 

had dogs as well.  It was, it was used as a normal backyard 24 

would.  Like any one of us sitting here would use our backyard 25 
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for to, to entertain. 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  You mentioned a swing set.  Did, 2 

did he have, did, does he have children, do you know? 3 

  MR. DAWSON:  He had children, yes. 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and I take it they would use the 5 

swing set and you would see them do that? 6 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes.  Right before I, because I recall 7 

probably, exactly, because right before he moved, I guess when 8 

he was putting it up on the market, he tore the swing set down 9 

and actually burned it in the fire pit. 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  And, and where in this area was, was the 11 

swing set and the fire pit, just -- 12 

  MR. DAWSON:  It would have been right off to the 13 

right, over by where the fence is.  There’s a large, there’s a 14 

very large tree over there, right up against that fence line.  15 

It was right over by that tree and the fence line.  And the 16 

fire pit was offset, closer to the property line, my property 17 

line, I should say. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Did you see him take care of these, 19 

these two parcels? 20 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, so, like when he would cut the 21 

grass, he would cut all the grass, you know.  We would wave to 22 

him as he was on his riding mower.  There was actually, and 23 

when he would do it, he would do everything at once. 24 

  There was a tree actually at the end of where the 25 
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road, where the parcel is, up by the road and it came down.  He 1 

was out there with, with his family cutting it up and getting 2 

it taken care of because it actually came down in one of the 3 

storms. 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Other than things you mentioned, 5 

you said the swing set, the firepit, the social gatherings, can 6 

you think of any other, the mowing of the lawn, taking care of 7 

the tree, anything else?  Any other specific ways in which you 8 

observed Mr. Kestner and his family using these two parcels? 9 

  MR. DAWSON:  No, like I said, just like it would, a 10 

normal backyard and that’s how I observed it when I, I would 11 

come pull in, I’d wave, say hi to him.  It’s just like you 12 

would have a normal backyard.   13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and the, the things that you 14 

described as observing, did you see those things on a regular 15 

basis? 16 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, I did. 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  All right.  The second photograph 18 

–- 19 

  MR. EVANS:  So, I, I’m sorry, Mr. McCann.  What, what 20 

is, is there an exhibit number on what we just looked at? 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  This is Protestants’ Exhibit 10, 22 

photograph one. 23 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay, all right. 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  Sorry.  There are fifteen photographs 25 
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here and I did not number them individually, so they’re all -- 1 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.  So, it’s going to be 10-1 through 2 

15, or 10-A through something? 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yes, one through fifteen. 4 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.  Thank you. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and then the second photograph in 6 

this exhibit, Mr. Dawson. 7 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes. 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Just describe what it is I’m showing you 9 

as we go. 10 

  MR. DAWSON:  Just standing a little further back from 11 

the property line, the edge of my driveway up to the front of 12 

my house taking a picture over of how close it is and how small 13 

that lot is compared, you know, obviously we know what the 14 

width is but how it actually looks when you look out front of 15 

my home. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, all right.  The third photograph 17 

in Protestants’ Exhibit 10.  Do you see that? 18 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, that’s my driveway down by the 19 

street, down by Cherwin looking out over the, the two plots.  20 

Just again, showing the, the width of it and how the new owner 21 

had put up a fence around the area.   22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  The fourth photograph, that’s 23 

your house on the right? 24 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, just showing where my house is in 25 
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relation to it, my driveway next to the lot. 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.   2 

  MR. DAWSON:  You can see the bay window up front. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yep.  Okay.  The fifth photograph, fifth 4 

photograph.  That may be, looks like it would be the same as 5 

before.  The sixth photo -- 6 

  MR. DAWSON:  Down, yes, that’s down the middle of 7 

Cherwin Avenue looking down towards, you can see my driveway 8 

and the lot where Mr. Kestner has for sale. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  The seventh, I’m sorry, yeah, the 10 

seventh photograph in Protestants’ Exhibit 10.  This was taken 11 

from your, it looks like from your window. 12 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes. 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and when was this taken? 14 

  MR. DAWSON:  I, I want to say it was in 2020.  It was 15 

after, obviously after Mr. Kestner sold the property, the 16 

house, because the fence is up.  It was just a storm that came 17 

through, it wasn’t anything big or crazy, it was just a, a 18 

storm.  And that happens routinely in this neighborhood.  19 

Especially in, in that area of the neighborhood. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, what we’re seeing in Exhibit, I’m 21 

sorry, photograph seven of Exhibit 10 is something that you see 22 

regularly? 23 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, it’s the river coming up and over, 24 

I guess, the bulkhead or whatever you want to call it. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. 1 

  MR. DAWSON:  It comes across the street and actually 2 

gets, as you can see in the picture, the water gets pretty 3 

deep.  If you look at the mailbox, that’s right up at the road.  4 

It makes the road impassable for a lot of cars. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  The eighth photograph, same 6 

thing?  (inaudible)? 7 

  MR. DAWSON:  Same storm, just taking pictures of it 8 

to, to show the different areas of, of how the water 9 

(inaudible). 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  The ninth photograph in this 11 

exhibit?  Let me switch this around for you.  Is this a 12 

different storm? 13 

  MR. DAWSON:  This is a different day.  This is, this 14 

is before the, the fence was put up.  I want to say it was in 15 

2019.  I can’t, I can’t say the exact date.  But yes, this is 16 

another time, and it was in, I don’t even think it was raining 17 

that day.  I just think it was an excessive high tide that we 18 

get routinely.   19 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and this, this tree that we see on 20 

the right-hand side, is, is that the tree that you indicated 21 

was taken down? 22 

  MR. DAWSON:  No, there was actually another tree that 23 

was up front that’s not there anymore.  It was more like a pine 24 

style tree.  It was actually quite tall.  I was very lucky 25 
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because when it came down, it fell straight and missed all of 1 

my cars in the driveway. 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  Wow, okay. 3 

  MR. DAWSON:  It was a larger, it was a larger pine 4 

tree. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, all right.  The tenth photograph 6 

in Protestants’ Exhibit 10, where are we here? 7 

  MR. DAWSON:  This is the, that mailbox, I was just 8 

trying to show the depth of the water to the mailbox.  And you 9 

can see actually the waterline, how high it got with the 10 

telephone pole and the mailbox right there. 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  So, this is across the street? 12 

  MR. DAWSON:  It’s, yes, it’s across the street, up 13 

against Cherwin Avenue. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  All right.  The eleventh 15 

photograph, same thing? 16 

  MR. DAWSON:  That’s more down the street showing the 17 

water coming across from the, that, that high tide.   18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  The twelfth photograph? 19 

  MR. DAWSON:  That was just, that’s more towards the, 20 

the river, I took it, that’s the house that was taken down 21 

because the trees fell on it.   22 

  MR. EVANS:  That’s, the white building is the house 23 

that was taken down? 24 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, the white building and the blue 25 



128 
 

building is a shed.  There were two trees that fell on it.  1 

They were on the river side of the house that came down on it 2 

like that. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  So, this is across the street 4 

from your house? 5 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, that’s across the street from my 6 

house right there. 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  And this, this, this is not a road but 8 

rather a driveway on the left-hand side? 9 

  MR. DAWSON:  That’s a driveway for the residents to 10 

the left of that, it’s a yellow house. 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  The thirteenth photograph in this 12 

exhibit, where, where are we looking at here? 13 

  MR. DAWSON:  We’re looking down Cherwin, that’s onto 14 

Mr. Kestner’s property as the water was starting to recede.  15 

But you can see, it’s still all the way up into the yard, past 16 

the tree. 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and this is Gunder Road in the 18 

background here? 19 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, yes, that’s Gunder, and that’s 20 

Cherwin right at -- 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  Right in here?   22 

  MR. DAWSON:  At the corner, yes.   23 

  MR. MCCANN:  And Mr. Kestner’s property, when he, 24 

when he owned it was on the righthand side here? 25 
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  MR. DAWSON:  Correct. 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, all right.  The fourteenth 2 

photograph, let me switch this around for you.  What is this? 3 

  MR. DAWSON:  That is the, the drainpipe that runs out 4 

to the river for all the storm water that runs down.  So, we 5 

have, I don’t want to call it a valley, but a ditch, a drainage 6 

ditch, around the front of everyone’s house and mine you can’t 7 

see it because the County came in and put a pipe down 8 

underneath.  But if you look at the edges of Mr. Kestner’s 9 

property, the pipe runs out into that drainage ditch and it all 10 

funnels down and goes through there, out to the river. 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  So, where’s the river?  To the, 12 

just above this? 13 

  MR. DAWSON:  If you, if you were to lift your head 14 

straight up above that and look straight out, that’s the river. 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.   16 

  MR. DAWSON:  That would be Bird River. 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and the fifteenth photograph. 18 

  MR. DAWSON:  That is the pipe that runs underneath 19 

the road across, you can see the drainage ditch, how the water 20 

funnels down into that from both sides and runs across out to 21 

that main drain out to the river. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  So, your property is up here? 23 

  MR. DAWSON:  Correct. 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  My pointer on the left-hand side. 25 
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  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, sir. 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, the water comes down here, then goes 2 

under the road and heads towards the river? 3 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes. 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  All right.  Before I move on, I 5 

would move Protestants’ Exhibit 10 into evidence.   6 

  CHAIR:  And I suspect some of the other ones too, 7 

right, Mr. McCann?  All these pictures, right? 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yes. 9 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, Mr. Lanzi, do you have any objection of 10 

admitting in these pictures? 11 

  MR. LANZI:  No objection. 12 

  CHAIR:  We’ll admit them. 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Let me grab another exhibit.  14 

This is, can you see that, Mr. Dawson? 15 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, sir. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  This is Protestants’ Exhibit 11 17 

and it’s five pages.  And this is, just, can you identify what 18 

this is for the record? 19 

  MR. DAWSON:  It was a petition that the President of 20 

the Community Association, Mr. Tom Brookes, took around and had 21 

the neighbors sign who were in opposition of the 22 

variance/relief that the, Mr. Kestner was looking for. 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  So, you, you didn’t participate 24 

in collecting the signatures? 25 
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  MR. DAWSON:  No, I signed it but, but Mr. Brookes 1 

undertook that.   2 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I’m sorry, I thought you did.  3 

We’re going to ask Mr. Brookes some questions so I’ll move it 4 

in at that time if that’s okay, Mr. McComas?   5 

  MR. LANZI:  Sorry to interrupt.  I, I’m, and I hate 6 

to object here but I believe the, the heading of this is 7 

confusing and, and inaccurate.  It literally says variances, 8 

we’re not here on variances for the fifth time.  So, if this 9 

was presented to the neighborhood, then it’s presented 10 

incorrectly, and I would have to object to all these 11 

signatures. 12 

  CHAIR:  Well, Mr. Lanzi, I think that (inaudible) 13 

impeachment with Mr. Brookes, especially since Mr. McCann said 14 

he’s going to call Mr. Brookes. 15 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, obviously, we disagree about the 17 

variance as well. 18 

  CHAIR:  Okay. 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, okay.  Let me stop sharing here.  20 

Let me get back to that.  Did that stop sharing, did I stop 21 

sharing? 22 

  CHAIR:  You stopped sharing, Mr. McCann.  I don’t see 23 

it. 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, great.  Thank you.  Okay.  Mr. 25 
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Dawson, I don’t have any other questions.  Were there any other 1 

concerns that you wanted to tell the Board about that you 2 

haven’t brought up yet? 3 

  MR. DAWSON:  No, just that, I strongly oppose the, I 4 

don’t know what you want to call it, but being able to build a 5 

house on this lot.  I know it’s going back and forth between 6 

relief and variances.  But I just, I strongly oppose it.  I 7 

feel like it’s going to have a negative impact on me.  I feel 8 

like here, this is my, my forever home.   9 

  I plan on retiring here and this is not, I would not 10 

have purchased the house if that had been there to begin with 11 

and when I bought it, I would have never thought someone would 12 

have cut their backyard off and, and tried to sell it to a 13 

builder to build a, possibly a fifty foot hall, house, so I 14 

just, I just wanted to reiterate that I oppose it and that is 15 

all, thank you.   16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Dawson.   17 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Lanzi, any, any cross?   18 

  MR. LANZI:  I do.  I was, I was wondering if we could 19 

have about a seven-minute break.   20 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Evans, Mr. Sampson? 21 

  MR. EVANS:  That’s fine with me. 22 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Yeah, fine with me. 23 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, works for me as well.  All right.  So, 24 

we’ll get back in at 2:30 here. 25 
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  MR. LANZI:  Very good, thank you.  1 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, you’re sharing your screen and 2 

your e-mail, you probably don’t want to be doing that.  There 3 

you go. 4 

(PAUSE) 5 

  MR. EVANS:  Hello?  Are we back?   6 

  MR. SAMPSON:  I think you’re a few minutes early.  7 

I’m here, but he said 2:30.   8 

  MR. EVANS:  Oh, okay.  Did someone call me? 9 

  MR. SAMPSON:  I didn’t, I didn’t hear it.   10 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.   11 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Came back at 2:27.   12 

  CHAIR:  I can’t hear you, Mr. Sampson.  I hear, I 13 

hear your lips moving, but I can’t, either you’re talking away 14 

from your microphone or you’re on mute.   15 

  MR. SAMPSON:  I’m not on mute.  Can you hear me now? 16 

  CHAIR:  I don’t know what the issue is.  I’ve got my 17 

sound on my speakers (inaudible) hear you.   18 

  MR. EVANS:  You can hear me, can’t you? 19 

  CHAIR:  I can hear you (inaudible).  Mr. McCann, are 20 

you back?   21 

  MR. MCCANN:  I am, thank you. 22 

  CHAIR:  All right.  So, Mr. McCann, it’s still your 23 

witness, right?  Oh, I’m sorry, Mr. Lanzi, you asked for a 24 

little break to prepare for the cross.  Sorry, Mr. Lanzi, Mr. 25 
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McCann.  Your witness, Mr. Lanzi. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  Thank you.  Let’s see.  All right.  Mr. 2 

McCann, would you mind putting up your photograph exhibits, 3 

specifically, I want to look at photo one.  Oh, I’m using it 4 

now?  There we go.  Okay, all right.  Mr. Dawson, are you 5 

there? 6 

  MR. DAWSON:  I’m here. 7 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, all right.  Looking at Protestants’ 8 

Exhibit 10, photo one, can you see the arrow that I’m showing?  9 

No?  Okay.  I guess because, because I’m not the person with 10 

the baton.   11 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) the cursor, Mr. Lanzi, but it, 12 

it’s not on the picture.  It, it’s up in the, in the 13 

(inaudible) talking about, Mr. Lanzi. 14 

  MR. LANZI:  Yeah, basically, Mr. Dawson, it appears 15 

to me that there’s a, a, a, a slant that goes from where your 16 

truck is down into the Kestner property, is that correct? 17 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes. 18 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  All right and then you’re 19 

indicating that the water sometimes comes up, I guess, part of 20 

the slope, not all the way back to the post, but comes onto the 21 

slope and onto your driveway? 22 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  And how far up the driveway does it come? 24 

  MR. DAWSON:  Ten feet, maybe, sometimes. 25 
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  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Have you done, have you done 1 

anything to help with the water issues coming on your property?  2 

Have you taken any steps for mediation? 3 

  MR. DAWSON:  No. 4 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and I don’t know if there’s another, 5 

well, I’ll, I’ll have to use one of my photographs but go, Mr. 6 

McCann, if you could go to photograph nine, I believe.  What, 7 

what view is that from your property, Mr. Dawson? 8 

  MR. DAWSON:  You have to scroll down a little bit so 9 

I can see.  That would be from the front window. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, you’re looking out your front 11 

window and the house that’s kind of in the middle to the right, 12 

is that a relatively new house? 13 

  MR. DAWSON:  No, that’s been there for, since I’ve 14 

been here.   15 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and the house to the left, was that 16 

also there when you bought your house? 17 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, all those houses were there. 18 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, if you go further to the left, 19 

and I’ll keep the photographs (inaudible), okay.  Those are the 20 

houses that, I believe you said, one of them was like a shore 21 

shack that was destroyed and they’re building a new one? 22 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Do you know if the new house is 24 

going to be built like these that are in this photograph or is 25 
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it going to be more like the shore shack that was destroyed? 1 

  MR. DAWSON:  I, I don’t know. 2 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, I mean, if, if you knew that 3 

the one-story shore shack was going to be replaced by a two 4 

story would you, would you not have bought your property? 5 

  MR. DAWSON:  I don’t, it’s across the street from my 6 

house, it’s not in, wouldn’t be in front of my house on the 7 

same side of the street.  So, that wouldn’t have changed my 8 

mind on that. 9 

  MR. LANZI:  But isn’t, isn’t across the street 10 

through the houses your view of the water? 11 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes. 12 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, wouldn’t a larger house -- 13 

  MR. DAWSON:  You can still see the water through 14 

those houses that are there now. 15 

  MR. LANZI:  Right.  But, but a larger house would 16 

further impact the water view, wouldn’t it? 17 

  MR. DAWSON:  Correct. 18 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, all right.  I don’t, Mr. McCann, 19 

you don’t need to share anymore.  I’m going to use my own 20 

exhibits now.  So, I guess we’ll have to switch. 21 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Okay. 22 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, let’s see.  And there’s a, this, 23 

this property is across the street from your house? 24 

  MR. DAWSON:  No, that’s more across from Mr. 25 
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Kestner’s house. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Is, was this an empty lot or is 2 

this the shore shack? 3 

  MR. DAWSON:  Next to the house that the trees fell 4 

on. 5 

  MR. LANZI:  Got it, okay.   6 

  MR. EVANS:  What exhibit number is that, Mr. Lanzi? 7 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  That is Exhibit 6-G.   8 

  MR. EVANS:  Thank you. 9 

  MR. LANZI:  All right.  All right.  I’m going to now 10 

go to where Mr. Doaks, I’m looking now at Petitioner’s 5-D.  11 

So, this shot is taken from the road, looking at the front of 12 

your house, is that correct? 13 

  MR. DAWSON:  Correct. 14 

  MR. LANZI:  So, isn’t it true that you have, do not 15 

even have windows on the side of your house that faces the 16 

Kestner property? 17 

  MR. DAWSON:  That’s what I told Mr. Kestner earlier. 18 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 19 

  MR. DAWSON:  I advised I have bay windows and if you 20 

look underneath the bay windows to, it’s a double window that 21 

looks out panoramic, pretty much, of the river.  I can see, I’m 22 

looking at it right now, looking out, I can see right across 23 

his lot to the, the water.   24 

  MR. LANZI:  Right.  The, the other view we were just 25 
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looking at, you had a clear view from your house to the water 1 

and it had, didn’t even show the Kestner property, I believe, 2 

but.  It, it’s your testimony that a new house will block your 3 

view of the water? 4 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, if you look at the back, actually, 5 

on the, there’s a, a deck off the, the second story. 6 

  MR. LANZI:  Um hm. 7 

  MR. DAWSON:  If you, I have a, a table at the end 8 

there, if you look out, it’ll just be looking at the back of 9 

his house, or a house that will be put there.   10 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. But when, when you bought the 11 

property there, there wasn’t, there were empty lots next to 12 

you, correct? 13 

  MR. DAWSON:  Well, it was his backyard.  It was his 14 

whole property, it was one piece of land.  It was like a normal 15 

house, like mine would be.   16 

  MR. LANZI:  Well, that’s, that’s your testimony, but 17 

you’ve heard the testimony earlier that there, there were 18 

separate lots, two groups, two groups of lots.  In any event, 19 

you’re not a licensed real estate appraiser, are you? 20 

  MR. DAWSON:  No. 21 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and you don’t have storm water 22 

management expertise? 23 

  MR. DAWSON:  No. 24 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and the flooding that you talked 25 
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about on, on your property is really just on your driveway 1 

about ten feet in? 2 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yeah, right now.   3 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and you do, you do realize that if 4 

Mr. Kestner had gone through the subdivision process and, and 5 

built two houses, there would still be a house on the lot next 6 

to you, you understand that, correct? 7 

  MR. DAWSON:  No, can you restate that again, I’m 8 

sorry? 9 

  MR. LANZI:  There were a lot of questions from your 10 

counsel to Mr. Doak about the possibility of doing a, a 11 

subdivision.  And then I also followed up with Mr. Doak about 12 

this, that the Kestner properties were not six unimproved lots, 13 

they were four lots with improvements and two without.  But 14 

assuming, for the sake of this example, that the Kestner 15 

property, the four lots were shifted five feet over so we 16 

didn’t have to be here today for this hearing, that would allow 17 

the second lot, second building lot, -- 18 

  MR. DAWSON:  I understand what you’re saying. 19 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, if the property were 20 

subdivided into two lots, you would still be looking at a house 21 

next door, do you understand that? 22 

  MR. DAWSON:  Unfortunately, I do. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, all right.  And then, you were also 24 

talking about I believe there was a swing set, a fire pit that 25 
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were on the property but then they were removed? 1 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yeah, he burned the swing set in the 2 

fire pit. 3 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and then, but there wasn’t a 4 

driveway there, there wasn’t a different garage building there 5 

that was being used? 6 

  MR. DAWSON:  No, there were horseshoe pits, I recall. 7 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  But, but not, not any permanent 8 

structures or anything? 9 

  MR. DAWSON:  The horseshoe pits are pretty permanent. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Okay, I want to look at, bear with 11 

me.  So, I see this, you have a fair amount of impervious, your 12 

driveway is quite large (inaudible).  You have -- 13 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, I bought it like that. 14 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Do you have a patio in the back? 15 

  MR. DAWSON:  A deck. 16 

  MR. LANZI:  Just a deck, okay.   17 

  MR. DAWSON:  Just a deck. 18 

  MR. LANZI:  Got it.  That, that’s all I have for now. 19 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, any, any questions, any more 20 

questions? 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  I do not.  Thank you. 22 

  CHAIR:  All right.  Mr. Dawson, you can step down.  23 

Thank you for your service (inaudible). 24 

  MR. DAWSON:  It was greatly appreciated.  Thank you, 25 
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sir.   1 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, do you have any other witnesses? 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I think two more and, quick ones, 3 

quicker than Mr. Dawson.  Is Mr. Brookes available? 4 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Sampson, you have to do the honors, 5 

Buddy. 6 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Yeah, I’m working on it.  I’m not as 7 

fast –- 8 

  VOICE: (inaudible). 9 

  MR. LANZI:  Got it.   10 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Mr. Brookes should be in, unmuted and 11 

now who needs the token?   12 

  MR. MCCANN:  I do, if I could. 13 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Okay. 14 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Brookes, can you hear? 15 

  MR. BROOKES:  Yes, I can hear you. 16 

  CHAIR:  All right, great.  To the extent you have a 17 

video capability (inaudible) enable your video, Mr. Brookes.  18 

There you go.  We got you, Mr. Brookes.  Nice job.  Mr. 19 

Sampson, you got to raise your right hand, Mr. Brookes.  Mr. 20 

Sampson will do the honors.   21 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Thank you, sir.  Do you swear and 22 

affirm under the penalties of perjury, that the testimony you 23 

are about to give is true and correct to the best of your 24 

knowledge and belief? 25 
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  MR. BROOKES:  I do. 1 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Will you again please state your name 2 

and address, spell your last name for the record.  Thank you. 3 

  MR. BROOKES:  Thomas Brookes, B-R-O-O-K-E-S, I’m at 4 

6903 Birdwood Avenue, Middle River 21220. 5 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Thank you, sir. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Brookes, how are 7 

you doing?   8 

  MR. BROOKES:  I’m fine, thank you. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Tell the Board where you live in 10 

relationship to the subject properties. 11 

  MR. BROOKES:  I think I’m like five houses down the 12 

street, right around the corner. 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  What’s the name of your street 14 

again? 15 

  MR. BROOKES:  Birdwood Avenue. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  And does that run parallel to or 17 

perpendicular to Cherwin? 18 

  MR. BROOKES:  It would be perpendicular. 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  Didn’t think this would be a geometry 20 

test, huh?  And how long have you lived there? 21 

  MR. BROOKES:  Purchased my house in 2013.   22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. What do you do for a living?  23 

  MR. BROOKES:  I’m a state worker, I work at Fort 24 

McHenry Tunnel. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Are you an officer in the 1 

association? 2 

  MR. BROOKES:  Yes, I’m the president of our community 3 

association.  4 

  MR. MCCANN:  What, what’s the name of the association 5 

for the record? 6 

  MR. BROOKES:  The full legal name is, let me get the 7 

paper, because we usually go by just Twin River, but the real, 8 

the actual name is Twin River Beach Protective and Improvement 9 

Association, Inc., Incorporated. 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Now, are you authorized, well, 11 

tell us about the association.  Who does it encompass?  What, 12 

what homes does it encompass? 13 

  MR. BROOKES:  There’s a hundred and ten homes down in 14 

this community with, the streets are outlining, Birdwood, goes 15 

to Sherwood, goes to Gunder and then we have a couple streets 16 

in between, which would be Gundale, Powderdale and Birddale.  17 

So, in that little circle, only one way in and one way out, 18 

there’s a hundred and ten homes already here. 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and are you authorized to speak on 20 

behalf of the association and, and tell the Board its, the 21 

Association’s position? 22 

  MR. BROOKES:  Yes. 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Let me, I want to show you, if I 24 

could share, Mr. Sampson?   25 
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  MR. EVANS:  What exhibits are these going to be, Mr. 1 

McCann? 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  This is going to be our Exhibit 17. 3 

  MR. SAMPSON:  All right.  Mr. McCann, I keep putting 4 

it on Mr. McComas by mistake. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  That’s okay.  I got it.  Here we go.  6 

Okay.  Mr. Brookes, can you see? 7 

  MR. BROOKES:  Yes. 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I’m going to scroll down.  These 9 

are what are, what we in the business call rule eight papers.  10 

And there’s three documents in here.  Just, I’ll scroll through 11 

them quickly.  But can you confirm for me that these are, that 12 

is your signature and the signature of your secretary, Teresa 13 

Lee? 14 

  MR. BROOKES:  That is my signature.   15 

  MR. MCCANN:  And is that the signature of Teresa Lee? 16 

  MR. BROOKES:  Yes. 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, great.  I would move this in as 18 

Exhibit 16. 19 

  CHAIR:  Any objections, Mr. Lanzi?  Mr. Lanzi?  20 

You’re probably on mute.  Any objections?   21 

  MR. LANZI:  Yeah, I wanted to, if I could have Mr. 22 

McCann slowly go down to what exactly the vote (inaudible).  No 23 

objection to the rule eight in general, but I just want to see 24 

what they voted on. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  Sure.   1 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  No objection.   2 

  CHAIR:  All right.  So, we’ll admit them. 3 

  MR. MCCANN: (inaudible).  All right.  So, Mr. 4 

Brookes, I’ll ask you the same question I asked Mr. Dawson and 5 

that is what concerns does the association have about the 6 

proposed house? 7 

  MR. BROOKES:  Well, like I said before, it’s a small 8 

community with already a hundred and ten homes in here and then 9 

to cram another house in here, especially one that will be at 10 

least thirty-five feet tall to fifty feet tall around the other 11 

smaller homes would stick out like a sore thumb for one. 12 

  Another, another impact would be, it would be a 13 

negative impact on the community having this tall house around 14 

the smaller ones and then for the ecosystem, like Mr. Dawson 15 

had mentioned, when it rains here, the water lays on that 16 

property there and bucks go there.  I’ve walked past there 17 

after a rainstorm and seen standing water there and bucks 18 

playing there.  It’s pretty awesome being down here on the 19 

water and, or near the water, and be able to see all this 20 

wildlife.  And to put a house there would take that away. 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Are you also concerned about the 22 

impact it may have on property values, including Mr. Dawson’s?  23 

Is that a concern? 24 

  MR. BROOKES:  Yes. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  Well, you were, you were here for Mr. 1 

Dawson’s testimony, you heard it? 2 

  MR. BROOKES:  Yes. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Mr. Dawson spoke about his 4 

observations of Mr. Kestner’s use of the adjoining parcels.  Do 5 

you have any observations in that regard? 6 

  MR. BROOKES:  I saw basically the same things.  The 7 

swing set that was out there and his children used it quite 8 

often and the fire pit.  Even had horseshoe pits out there 9 

where they played horseshoes.  One of the pits was on this side 10 

of the fence, on Mr. Dawson’s side of the fence, the other was 11 

inside of the fence that’s there now.  It wasn’t a fence there 12 

before.   13 

  MR. MCCANN:  What, I missed that, what was it, what 14 

was that? 15 

  MR. BROOKES:  The, one of the horseshoe pits was on 16 

this side of where that fence is and the other pit was on the 17 

other side of the, it went parallel with Cherwin Avenue. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and how did you have occasion to 19 

observe all that?  You live five houses down. 20 

  MR. BROOKES:  Well, this community, a lot of people 21 

walk in the evenings, walk in the days, it’s a really nice, 22 

friendly community.  And just walking through here multiple 23 

times with my wife, I’ve even interjected with them, the 24 

Kestners, you know.   25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  And the types of things that you 1 

described, and Mr. Dawson described as well, those are things 2 

that you’ve seen during the time that he lived there on a, on a 3 

regular basis, fairly regular basis? 4 

  MR. BROOKES:  Yes. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Did he use those parcels in 6 

conjunction with the other parcels any differently than anybody 7 

else in the community uses their property? 8 

  MR. BROOKES:  Well, the way I see it, it’s a 9 

backyard.  You use your backyard however, when you’re 10 

entertaining people, having a party. 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Any other concerns you haven’t 12 

expressed yet, Mr. Brookes or is that about it? 13 

  MR. BROOKES:  That’s about it, sir. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  No other questions.  Thank you. 15 

Oh, I’m sorry, the petition.  I’m not sure, I can’t recall, Mr. 16 

McComas, if the petition is in yet. 17 

  CHAIR:  I think you were going to wait, we were going 18 

to wait until you had Mr. (inaudible). 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m sorry, yeah.  I forgot about that. 20 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) some questions for him. 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, real quick, were you, were you 22 

involved in collecting the petition’s signatures for this case? 23 

  MR. BROOKES:  Yes, I was. 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  And what did you do in that regard, Mr. 25 
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Brookes?  What did you do? 1 

  MR. BROOKES:  I don’t know if you can see this, but I 2 

had the notice of assignment letter, Mr. Dawson had a copy of 3 

this.  I carried this with me as I, as I obtained the 4 

signatures for the petition. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and what’s the date of that 6 

assignment, if you could hold it up? 7 

  MR. BROOKES:  December 15th, 2020, and there’s the 8 

assignment of the hearing that would be on February 17th, today.   9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, great.  And this, this petition, 10 

this is different than the petition that you got during the, 11 

the 2019 case, correct? 12 

  MR. BROOKES:  I was not president back then. 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  But you -- 14 

  MR. BROOKES:  I did sign that petition, I was, I was 15 

still part of the community then.   16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  But is this a separate petition?  17 

When I say this, I should show you the exhibit so I’m not 18 

putting words in your mouth.  This is Protestants’ Exhibit 11.  19 

Is the, the petition that you obtained signatures on? 20 

  MR. BROOKES:  Yes. 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  And, and is this different than the 22 

prior petition that you recall being introduced into the first 23 

case? 24 

  MR. BROOKES:  Yes, it is. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  When did you, over what period of time 1 

did you obtain these signatures? 2 

  MR. BROOKES:  Probably a week or two ago, before all 3 

the bad weather we’ve had because, like I said, I’m a state 4 

worker so I’m at work during the bad weather. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  All right, thank you, Mr. 6 

Brookes.  I would move Exhibit 11 into evidence, and I have no 7 

further questions. 8 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Lanzi, any objection? 9 

  MR. LANZI:  I’m going to remain in objection and I’m 10 

going to ask Mr. Brookes about that. 11 

  CHAIR:  Sure.  We’re going to, we’re going to leave, 12 

we’re going to, I’m going to overrule you, Mr. Lanzi.  But I 13 

know that you’re going to impeach him in his testimony here 14 

based off of that.  So, we’ll admit it in as evidence and we’ll 15 

leave it to you in your, in your cross here to, to, you know, 16 

resolve any issues with it.  So, Mr. Lanzi, your witness. 17 

  MR. LANZI:  Thank you.  Mr., Mr. Brookes, how long 18 

have you lived in, in your home? 19 

  MR. BROOKES:  I purchased it back in 2013. 20 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  All right and, and you just became 21 

president within the last year? 22 

  MR. BROOKES:  Yes. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  Got it, okay.  You’re, you’re not, your 24 

job for the state, you’re not a real estate appraiser? 25 
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  MR. BROOKES:  No, sir.  I’m actually a welder. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay and the ex, the exhibit that you 2 

had, or the petition that you took around the neighborhood, 3 

which I believe is Protestants’ Exhibit 11, used the word 4 

variances, is that correct?  The exhibit we just showed you? 5 

  MR. BROOKES:  Whatever this sign, whatever this 6 

letter here says, this notice of assignment talking about this 7 

hearing today, that’s what I took around when I obtained these 8 

signatures.   9 

  MR. LANZI:  All right.  If you, if we could, if we 10 

could see Exhibit 11? 11 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, I think that’s you.   12 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yep, I can do that.  There you go. 13 

  MR. LANZI:  The, the top of this refers to variances 14 

requested, is that correct? 15 

  MR. BROOKES:  That’s what it says there. 16 

  MR. LANZI:  And, and I don’t know if you heard 17 

earlier today but, in fact, Petitioner has not been requesting 18 

variances.  You, do you understand the difference between a 19 

variance and a special hearing? 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  Objection.  That’s not true.  And, and 21 

he’s testifying, number one.  And he’s asking a question at the 22 

end, which is, it’s not true and he can’t testify.   23 

  MR. LANZI:  Well, you, -- 24 

  CHAIR:  Maybe you can rephrase the question, Mr. 25 
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Lanzi. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  All right.  Mr. Brookes, do you 2 

understand the difference between a zoning variance and a 3 

zoning special hearing relief? 4 

  MR. BROOKES:  Not really, I’m not an attorney.   5 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  So, on that, do you know the 6 

different standard of proof for a zoning variance or a zoning 7 

special hearing? 8 

  MR. BROOKES:  Say that again, please? 9 

  MR. LANZI:  Would, would you know the difference as 10 

far as the standard of proof a Petitioner has to make with 11 

regard to a zoning variance versus a special hearing?   12 

  MR. BROOKES:  Well, first of all, sir, there’s a 13 

Petition in opposition to the relief and variances requested by 14 

the Petitioner, I did not write that on, on those forms when I 15 

took them out to my community.   16 

  MR. LANZI:  Who wrote that? 17 

  MR. BROOKES:  I, I’m not aware of that. 18 

  MR. LANZI:  Was it your counsel? 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  It’s the assignment from the Board of 20 

Appeals, it’s the assignment notice.   21 

  MR. LANZI:  That’s not what people signed.  What 22 

people signed is variances requested by Petitioner, which is 23 

not true. 24 

  MR. BROOKES:  No, what they signed is this letter 25 
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here that I was showing you.  This is what I took around when I 1 

was -- 2 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  That’s fine. 3 

  MR. BROOKES:  That was just a cover sheet.  That’s 4 

all that was.   5 

  MR. LANZI:  That’s fine.  I, I understand what you 6 

did.  Nothing further. 7 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann? 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I’m sorry to belabor this point.  9 

Mr. Brookes, any doubt in your mind that each of the people 10 

that signed the petition, which we’ve introduced as 11 

Protestants’ Exhibit 11, are opposed to this house, this 12 

proposed house, being constructed on these two lots? 13 

  MR. BROOKES:  There’s no doubt in my mind that 14 

they’re opposed to this. 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  Thank you.  No other questions. 16 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Lanzi? 17 

  MR. LANZI:  Nothing further. 18 

  CHAIR:  All right.  You can step down, Mr. Brookes.  19 

Thanks for your time today.   20 

  MR. BROOKES:  Thank you. 21 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, your witness?   22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Could I, that may be all we have, Mr. 23 

McComas.  But I’d like to confer with my clients real quick and 24 

I could do that in a, in a quick phone call. 25 
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  CHAIR:  There’s another, there’s another person.  I 1 

don’t know if you see the attendee list or not, Mr. McCann.  I 2 

can’t pronounce, looks like (inaudible).   3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I don’t know her, so if she wants 4 

to testify, I’m not sure if I represent her or not but I can 5 

find out.  She may be -- 6 

  CHAIR:  Well, you have, take your time.  You want to 7 

make a call or go offline here for five minutes, is that 8 

(inaudible), Mr. McCann? 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  That’s all I need, if not less. 10 

  CHAIR:  Yep, perfect. 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  Thank you. 12 

(PAUSE) 13 

  CHAIR:  Sorry about that, you guys.  So, Mr. McCann, 14 

any more witnesses or I’m sorry, is Mr. Lanzi back?  Mr. 15 

Sampson, are you back?   16 

  MR. SAMPSON:  I’m back.  Did you see the note from 17 

Ms. Cannington? 18 

  CHAIR:  No. 19 

  MR. SAMPSON:  I will read it quickly.  Ms., I have to 20 

find it now, Ms. Bondar called. 21 

  CHAIR: (inaudible). 22 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Sunny to relay that Ms. Bondar is not a 23 

party to the Kestner, she is just watching.   24 

  CHAIR:  Oh, okay. 25 



154 
 

  MR. MCCANN:  Great.   1 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, sorry, do you have any more 2 

additional witnesses? 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  I do, I have another short one.  Her 4 

name is Ruth Hauf, H-A-U-F, and she is --   5 

  CHAIR:  Is she in the panel?  I don’t think she’s on 6 

the -- 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  No, she’s, she’s actually at Mr. 8 

Brookes’ house. 9 

  CHAIR:  Oh, I see. 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, she’s going to hop on.  Hopefully 11 

she’s going to do so shortly.   12 

  CHAIR:  And what’s her name, Mr. McCann? 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Ruth Hauf, H-A-U-F. 14 

  CHAIR:  So, I guess you need her, to move her into 15 

the participant, Mr. Brookes under participant, Mr. Sampson.   16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Actually, it’s Tom Brookes.   17 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, Tom Brookes.  You got to move him into 18 

a participant, Mr. Sampson.  So we can get Ms. Hauf to speak.  19 

There we go, we’ve got her.  There you go.  Mr. Sampson, you 20 

going to give the honors?   21 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Yes.  Ms. Brookes, please raise your 22 

right hand.  Do you swear and affirm under the penalties of 23 

perjury, that the testimony you are about to give is true and 24 

accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief?   25 
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  MS. HAUF:  Yes. 1 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Please again state your name and 2 

address for the record, spelling your last name. 3 

  MS. HAUF:  My first name is Ruth, R-U-T-H, last name 4 

is Hauf, H-A-U-F.  I live at 13211 Powderdale Avenue, Middle 5 

River, Maryland 21220. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  May I proceed? 7 

  CHAIR:  You’re welcome to sit down, Mrs. Hauf 8 

(inaudible).  You don’t have to stand up, it looks like you’re 9 

standing.   10 

  MS. HAUF:  I’m standing?  No, I’m sitting.  I’m 11 

(inaudible).  Am I in there now? 12 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, we can see you.   13 

  MS. HAUF:  Thank you. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Ms. Hauf, Powderdale Road, that 15 

runs parallel to Cherwin, right? 16 

  MS. HAUF:  Correct. 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  And where on Powderdale roughly are you? 18 

  MS. HAUF:  I am south of, the southwest of the area 19 

that we’re discussing today. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, how many houses away, that may be 21 

the simplest way of putting it.   22 

  MS. HAUF:  One street behind and two houses. 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and how long have you lived there? 24 

  MS. HAUF:  In that home, I’ve lived there for forty-25 
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seven years. 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, great.  And what do you do for a 2 

living? 3 

  MS. HAUF:  I’m retired. 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  Good for you.  You’ve sat through the 5 

testimony this afternoon, is that right? 6 

  MS. HAUF:  Yes, sir. 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  And you know about the, the proposed 8 

house? 9 

  MS. HAUF:  Yes, sir. 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Tell us what your concerns are, 11 

Ms. Hauf. 12 

  MS. HAUF:  Well, it’s been my observation, I’ve lived 13 

in this area for over fifty years, in this community and to my 14 

rec, you know, recollection and to my observation, ninety-nine 15 

percent of any permits in this area have been for 16 

reconstruction (inaudible).  So, not for a new home being built 17 

on an empty lot.  They’ve been reconstructions on lots that 18 

have a house on them already.  So, it’s my concern of 19 

overloading the community and the effect that will be on the 20 

environment and on the neighbors, and on our property 21 

(inaudible). 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  So, this, this in your experience 23 

is, would be very unusual? 24 

  MS. HAUF:  Extremely. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  You were here for Mr. Brookes’ 1 

testimony and Mr. Dawson’s testimony about their observations 2 

on the subject property and Mr. Kestner’s use of, of his 3 

properties.  Do you have any observations in that same regard 4 

that you -- 5 

  MS. HAUF:  Well, when I retired six years ago, I 6 

would take my dog for a walk in that area every morning.  And 7 

often in the afternoons around school time.  So, I frequently 8 

saw the family utilizing the area as anyone would, as 9 

(inaudible). 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  In the same manners that Mr. 11 

Dawson and Mr. Brookes described? 12 

  MS. HAUF:  Yes. 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Anything else that you can think of? 14 

  MS. HAUF:  Not that I’m, I can think of.  I think 15 

that pretty much, between the testimony of all of us, I think 16 

we’ve covered everything (inaudible) concerns. 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, thank you.  No other questions.   18 

  MS. HAUF:  Thank you. 19 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Lanzi, your witness. 20 

  MR. LANZI:  Ms. Hauf, before you retired, or even 21 

when you retired, were you a licensed appraiser? 22 

  MS. HAUF:  No, sir. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  And if you owned two lots that you were 24 

counting on to build a house on, would you, would you still 25 
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want to build a house just because others didn’t -- 1 

  MS. HAUF:  I’m sorry, I don’t understand your 2 

question. 3 

  MR. LANZI:  If you owned a couple lots that you 4 

intended to have a house built upon. 5 

  MS. HAUF:  Um hm. 6 

  MR. LANZI:  Would you be proceeding with building a 7 

house, whether a new house or a reconstruction? 8 

  MS. HAUF:  I don’t believe I could even answer that 9 

question because I don’t have that experience. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  So, I guess the question would be, do you 11 

believe a person that owns property has the right to build on 12 

it, as long as it meets the requirements of the County? 13 

  MS. HAUF:  I absolutely support families building 14 

property and living in our community.   15 

  MR. LANZI:  And your observations walking around the 16 

lot, around the neighborhood, and specifically, the Kestner 17 

property, you did not observe, there were no permanent 18 

structures on the two lots in question that are next to the 19 

Dawson property, is that correct? 20 

  MS. HAUF:  Other than the horseshoe pit, (inaudible). 21 

  MR. LANZI: (inaudible).  I have nothing further. 22 

  CHAIR:  All right.  Mr. McCann? 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Nothing else. 24 

  CHAIR:  All right -- 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  Thank you. 1 

  CHAIR:  I’m sorry, go ahead, Mr. Lanzi. 2 

  MR. LANZI:  Two things.  I don’t know whether the 3 

Board would be willing to allow me -- 4 

  CHAIR: (inaudible). 5 

  MR. LANZI: (inaudible). 6 

  CHAIR:  Okay.  Mrs. Hauf, you’re good to go.  Thank 7 

you for your time this afternoon.   8 

  MS. HAUF:  Thank you. 9 

  CHAIR:  All right.  Mr. Lanzi, I think you have some 10 

other, some things you’re going to raise, right (inaudible)? 11 

  MR. LANZI:  Yeah.  Two, two things.  One, how the 12 

Board would want to handle it, I don’t know whether the Board 13 

has the rec, well, the Board should have the record from both 14 

cases below at the ALJ level. 15 

  One of them, I’ll call it Kestner one, that deals 16 

with the merger issue.  There’s been a lot of testimony clearly 17 

geared towards raising merger by the Protestants.  And that 18 

issue was put to rest by the, the Judge in that case.  It was 19 

not appealed, it is a final decision.  That’s A. 20 

  B, in the, in the decision itself, again, I wasn’t at 21 

that hearing, there’s testimony, or evidence that’s in the 22 

decision where it says, evidence Mr. Dawson testified, of 23 

course, under oath, that there’s been (inaudible) use of those 24 

lots since he moved in. 25 
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  So, I could either call him back and question that or 1 

we can accept, you know, that, that decision and that Court 2 

Order will be part of the record. 3 

  CHAIR:  A couple things, Mr. Lanzi.  You’re going to 4 

have to slow down and distill it for me a little bit.  You went 5 

awfully fast, and you gave me two opt, you gave the, the Board 6 

here two options.  So, you’re going to have to slow it down for 7 

me.   8 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  The first would be, to me, I 9 

object to all testimony and any consideration of the, of the 10 

zoning merger issue.  That’s been decided, it was not appealed, 11 

it’s a final decision.  That’s the first part.  If you want to 12 

address that first, then we’ll go to the second. 13 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, what’s your, what’s your view on 14 

this? 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I, I, I’d be happy to respond.  16 

Are we, I didn’t know I was done my case.  But are we -- 17 

  CHAIR:  I was kind of thinking the same thing too, 18 

Mr. McCann. 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  I don’t know what we’re doing here. 20 

  CHAIR:  I thought the same thing and if your answer 21 

is, because some of this sounds a little bit, and Mr. Lanzi, 22 

let me just ask you, Mr. McCann, do you have any more witnesses 23 

to call? 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  I do not, so (inaudible). 25 
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  CHAIR: (inaudible) now the question is, Mr. Lanzi, do 1 

you have any rebuttal witnesses that you’d like to call and 2 

what I think you’re doing, Mr. Lanzi, is you’re trying to set 3 

up the scope of your rebuttal here (inaudible) questions here, 4 

is that, is that the nature of it? 5 

  MR. LANZI:  Yes. 6 

  CHAIR:  Okay and so, you want to know whether or not 7 

the, the, the, the fact that it was moot down at the lower 8 

court and that they had been separated and the appeal was only 9 

for the special exception, that that’s the only things that we 10 

should consider at the Board, is that the nature of your 11 

question? 12 

  MR. LANZI:  The first case was the denial of the 13 

variance that Kestner appealed, okay?  I appealed it on their 14 

behalf. 15 

  CHAIR:  Okay. 16 

  MR. LANZI:  In that first case, the Judge ruled that 17 

there was no merger.  That merger, in his decision mentioned 18 

Mr. Dawson’s testimony.  That issue was not appealed by anyone.  19 

So, it’s a final decision.   20 

  My position is the Board should not consider this 21 

argument, shouldn’t consider that testimony.  I don’t know 22 

whether the Board is going to be asking for memos, probably 23 

are.  Hopefully not, but.   24 

  CHAIR:  I think it’s pretty safe to say that we are, 25 
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and I think that this is kind of grounds for those kinds of 1 

discussions.  But go ahead, Mr. Lanzi. 2 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 3 

  MR. EVANS:  Now, I, I did look at Mr. Lanzi’s 4 

Petition appealing the first case and there is no question in 5 

the world that he did not appeal the merger finding.  So, that 6 

is final, as far as I can see that’s, that’s final.  I mean, 7 

there’s, you know, that’s done and over.  I, I, I, right?  8 

Isn’t that what you’re saying, Mr. Lanzi? 9 

  MR. LANZI:  Yes, and if that’s the case, there won’t 10 

be any need for rebuttal. 11 

  MR. EVANS:  Well, I mean, I’m not ruling for the 12 

Board, I’m just saying, I understand your position. 13 

  MR. LANZI:  Yes, that’s my position. 14 

  MR. EVANS:  All right.   15 

  MR. LANZI:  And, and that doesn’t even get, get to 16 

the burden of proof on merger that we have, you know, temporary 17 

structures.  But in any event, that would be my position.  It 18 

was a final decision not appealed by the community and they 19 

could have.   20 

  MR. EVANS:  And they could have, yes, and they 21 

didn’t. 22 

  MR. LANZI:  Right. 23 

  CHAIR:  And Mr. McCann, your, your, your view on 24 

this? 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  A, a whole lot of things, I guess -- 1 

  CHAIR:  I’m not sure who, there’s somebody whose got 2 

their mic that we can hear you.  I’m not sure who that is.   3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Tom, John, if you guys could mute 4 

yourselves, please?  Great, thank you. 5 

  CHAIR:  Okay.  You got it. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I, I do see a bit of irony in all 7 

this in that, you know, Mr. Lanzi files, juggles two cases like 8 

he’s, he’s done in this case, and I understand he may not have 9 

been involved below in the first case.   10 

  But relying upon, what I guess, is a res judicata 11 

argument but, you know, when he filed two Petitions, certainly 12 

could have filed, you know, regardless of whether he 13 

represented, I didn’t represent Mr. Dawson in the first hearing 14 

either.   15 

  But certainly, could have and should have filed a 16 

304.1 Petition in, in, in the first case.  But the bottom line 17 

is, he appealed that.  Any appeal would have been de novo.  In 18 

my experience, the Board considers and would have considered, 19 

or considering it now, any and all issues that could have been 20 

raised.   21 

  In fact, in Judge Mayhew’s decision in this case, the 22 

2020 case, he said that, this is in footnote one, he’s 23 

referring to the first Petition.  He says, in my view, this 24 

Petition would be barred by res judicata but for the fact that 25 
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my previous Order was not a final judgment.  So, in ruling, he 1 

certainly believed (inaudible). 2 

  And I just think, I find it, number one, I find it 3 

ironic that we’re, we’re in this position.  But also, I don’t 4 

think that we’re precluded from raising lot merger as an issue 5 

because that decision was, in fact, not final.  And the fact 6 

that we did not take an explicit appeal of that issue doesn’t 7 

change anything. 8 

  And I would also say that, you know, there’s some, 9 

304.1 (inaudible) I think we could all agree on that.  And 10 

304.1 and lot, and lot merger in many ways are, are one and the 11 

same.  I mean, they are, I think I would, I would even go so 12 

far as to say 304.1 is the statutory cod, you know, 13 

codification of lot merger.  That’s certainly been my 14 

understanding on past cases.  And even argued lot merger case 15 

law in past cases.  So, -- 16 

  MR. EVANS:  Are you saying that, are, are you, are 17 

you saying that, you’re using the word merger in the sense that 18 

lots, Lot 157 for example, would be deemed part of 155 and 56 19 

so that the five-foot requirement could have been met if it had 20 

been subdivided (inaudible), is that what you’re saying? 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I think, I think that’s the same 22 

analysis, whether you’re looking at 304.1 or lot merger.   23 

  MR. EVANS:  Um hm. 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  It’s the same.  And as I said, I would, 25 
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I would go so far as to say it’s a codification of, of the lot 1 

merger and there, there are, I had an Anne Arundel case where 2 

there was a statutory provision that was a codification of a 3 

common law, it went to the Court of Appeals on other issues.   4 

  But, so, I think it’s absolutely before you.  And 5 

that nothing that Mr. Lanzi has said changes that.   6 

  CHAIR:  So, so, Mr. Lanzi, then Mr. McCann, I mean, 7 

Mr. Evans, what, what are your thoughts here?  My thoughts are 8 

is let Mr. Lanzi make the, the arguments here for, and then he 9 

can make their arguments in their briefs and then memos that 10 

they, they submit here at the end.  That’s my thought, Mr. 11 

Evans.  What do you think? 12 

  MR. EVANS:  Yeah, I mean, I, I, I, I don’t want to 13 

pre-judge this and so I guess I would like, I mean, I, it 14 

sounded to me like Mr. Lanzi had the high side of this 15 

argument, but I don’t want to foreclose anyone from making any 16 

(inaudible) -- 17 

  CHAIR:  Yep. 18 

  MR. EVANS:  -- because, you know, first of all, I, I 19 

make a lot of mistakes.  And I would, so if, you know, Mr. 20 

McCann can demonstrate somehow that, I mean, it may be that 21 

he’s saying that it’s not so much merger as it is (inaudible) 22 

somehow affects the developability of these lots.  I, I mean, I 23 

get that.  But anyway, I’m happy to have it briefed. 24 

  CHAIR:  Okay.  But Mr. Evans, I think also Mr. Lanzi 25 
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though, we should let him put on his, his position as if, 1 

anticipation of that as a, as a, since Mr. McCann has raised it 2 

here.  I think Mr. Lanzi should put on the, the facts to help 3 

him in his, his argument as well. 4 

  MR. EVANS:  I think that’s correct as well, yes. 5 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, and Mr. Sampson, do you agree with us? 6 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Yes, I agree, absolutely. 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  And what, what is it that we’re doing?  8 

I, I missed -- 9 

  CHAIR:  Well, I, I think on Mr. Lanzi’s rebuttal, Mr. 10 

McCann, is, he wants to put on some evidence to, that will help 11 

him, you know, respond to your, your claims on cross.   12 

  MR. MCCANN:  Well, he’s entitled to that, obviously, 13 

to put on a rebuttal case.  I’m just not sure how any of that 14 

relates to what we just spoke about.   15 

  CHAIR:  Well, I think Mr. Lanzi has some evidence 16 

that he held back, and he wants to now present it.  (inaudible) 17 

speak for you, Mr. Lanzi, but that’s my understanding of what 18 

you said to us. 19 

  MR. LANZI:  Well, if I understand what, what is 20 

occurring, the issue of zoning merger will be allowed to 21 

continue, it will be briefed, it will be decided by you all. 22 

  CHAIR:  Yeah. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  And you’re going to allow me to call a 24 

witness if I need to. 25 
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  CHAIR:  Yeah. 1 

  MR. LANZI:  To maybe address that issue on my end. 2 

  CHAIR:  Yes 3 

  MR. LANZI:  Which, which leads me to that, the second 4 

question I, I raised in the beginning when I was talking very 5 

fast and that is I can, I can call Mr. Dawson back to ask him 6 

about his testimony in the first hearing where he testified 7 

under oath there was no activity since he moved in.  And now 8 

he's testifying as to all kinds of activities.  So, we can 9 

either do that and then I can call my own witnesses or -- 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  Listen, I, I don’t have a problem with 11 

that.  But it, again, we’re arguing that the case, the old 12 

case, I mean, that, that’s a question that doesn’t, that isn’t 13 

dependent on this lot merger. 14 

  Mr. Lanzi clearly could have asked that question of 15 

Mr. Dawson as, I assume he’s going to make the point that it’s 16 

some sort of prior inconsistent statement by a party.  But 17 

that, that, that has nothing to do with the lot merger versus 18 

304.1.  19 

  It’s, it’s a, I don’t understand the connection, 20 

other than it happened to be related to the factual matter to 21 

the lot merger question.  And maybe I’m talking in circles a 22 

little bit, but I don’t, I don’t, I don’t understand why it 23 

couldn’t have been raised earlier. 24 

  All that said, I don’t have a problem with Mr. Lanzi 25 
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asking Mr. Dawson whether he said that or not. 1 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, how about if we do that, Mr. McCann?  2 

Mr. Lanzi, I, you may want to address what you had (inaudible) 3 

multiple questions, I think, we may only be answering one of 4 

them.  I think your question is, you’d like to call Mr. Dawson 5 

and then you also may want to call Mr. Doak afterwards, I 6 

suspect.  Is that what you’re getting to? 7 

  MR. LANZI:  I can call Mr. Dawson, then I’m, then I’m 8 

going to need to call my client. 9 

  CHAIR:  Yeah. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  Which would take two minutes and then we 11 

can decide whether I’m even going to have any more witnesses. 12 

  CHAIR:  Okay.  Fair enough.  So, so how about Mr. 13 

Dawson, are you still available?  You may have to move him 14 

over, Mr. Sampson. 15 

  MR. SAMPSON:  He should be there. 16 

  CHAIR:  There’s Mr. Dawson.  Do we need to swear him 17 

back in, Mr. Sampson? 18 

  MR. SAMPSON:  I, I don’t think so, but I will -- 19 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) I think we’re good.   20 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Yeah, he’s under oath.   21 

  CHAIR:  All right, Mr. Lanzi.  Your witness. 22 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Mr. Dawson, earlier in your direct 23 

testimony you testified that since you’ve been living there, 24 

you observed the Kestner family utilizing the entire property, 25 



169 
 

I believe you said that he cut the entire lawn, is that 1 

correct? 2 

  MR. DAWSON:  That’s correct. 3 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  But you also indicated that there 4 

were some temporary structures, specifically a swing set and I 5 

believe you said a fire pit were, were in the lot closest to 6 

you, is that correct? 7 

  MR. DAWSON:  Yes, did you hear me? 8 

  CHAIR:  Yes. 9 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Now, I guess my question is, in 10 

the very first case, and I was not involved in that case, but 11 

when you were before Judge Mayhew you testified that you 12 

believe those lots were the backyard of the house, I’m quoting, 13 

at 6903 Gunder and there had not been any use of the lots, at 14 

least since you had moved in. 15 

  MR. MCCANN:  Hold on, hold on.  That’s not what he 16 

said.  That’s what Judge, that’s what the, the opinion says.  17 

So, just make that distinction, please, in your question.   18 

  MR. LANZI:  It says Mr. Dawson testified -- 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  I know, but that’s still, that’s still 20 

what the Judge said.   21 

  MR. LANZI:  All right.  Mr., Mr. Dawson, did you, in 22 

fact, testify in the first hearing under oath that there had 23 

not been any use of those lots since you moved in? 24 

  MR. DAWSON:  From what I recall, it was, the way I 25 
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took the question was since he moved out.  And if I recall 1 

properly, I said that no one has used the lot since Mr. Kestner 2 

moved out and he even has a grass cutting company come in to 3 

maintain that property.   4 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 5 

  MR. DAWSON:  That’s how I recall it. 6 

  MR. LANZI:  All right and, and since then, you’ve 7 

been, you discussed your testimony with counsel with regard to 8 

the legal issue called zoning merger, is that correct?   9 

  MR. MCCANN:  When?  Wait a minute, hold on.  Since -- 10 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, say you object or -- 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m sorry, objection.  Object. 12 

  CHAIR:  On, on what basis, Mr. McCann? 13 

  MR. MCCANN:  Because the question assumes, well, he 14 

has the right to ask whether he’s had any communications with 15 

me.  I think the question, to be fair, needs to be more 16 

specific about when.  And, and, and once it, once it is asked 17 

properly, I would object under attorney/client privilege.  I 18 

can represent to this Board that I’ve had no communications 19 

with Mr. Dawson since this hearing started -- 20 

  MR. LANZI:  And I’m not implying that you did. 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  That’s certainly the way I heard the 22 

question, so. 23 

  MR. LANZI:  No, -- 24 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Lanzi, maybe you can rephrase the 25 
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question along the lines of Mr. McCann’s concerns and -- 1 

  MR. LANZI:  Yes. 2 

  CHAIR:  -- and I think we can move past this one, 3 

because I didn’t think you were going down the path that Mr. 4 

McCann (inaudible) -- 5 

  MR. LANZI:  No, I would never do that.  I’ve known 6 

Mr. McCann too long and have too much respect.  My, my purpose 7 

of the question was once, once you hired counsel, once counsel 8 

was hired for this appeal and you were, and I’m not asking you 9 

to provide me any attorney/client privilege, but once your 10 

strategy was determined, you, you seemed to clarify your memory 11 

about how that lot next to you was used.  I, I just, I just 12 

wonder how you didn’t understand it back in, in Kestner one and 13 

you now understand it in, in this case (inaudible) -- 14 

  CHAIR:  Can you, can you break that down to a, a, a 15 

question that Mr. Dawson could, could, can answer?  I think 16 

you’re asking a couple questions in there and, and I myself, 17 

I’m not sure how to answer that one. 18 

  MR. LANZI:  I’ll ask it this way.  Would, would you 19 

even have brought up the fact that there was a swing set or 20 

fire pit if Mr. McCann had asked you? 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  Objection.  Objection. 22 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, I’m going to sustain that, Mr. Lanzi.  23 

I, I think you’re asking for attorney/client privilege 24 

communications. 25 
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  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  I’ll tell you what, I’m just, I’m 1 

just going to let the, since the decision of the first ALJ case 2 

is in, in the record, I will just let that stand for itself and 3 

then I will have no more questions here.  But I would ask for 4 

three minutes for me to call my client.   5 

  CHAIR:  Let me just ask Mr. McCann if he has any, 6 

any, any rebuttal here.  Mr. McCann, do you have any follow-up 7 

questions? 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  No, I think he explained it perfectly.  9 

Thank you.   10 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Dawson, thank you again for your service 11 

and thank you for your time.   12 

  MR. DAWSON:  Thank you. 13 

  CHAIR:  And, and Mr. Lanzi, you want a few minutes, 14 

right?  Because we’re still in your rebuttal phase of the, of 15 

the case here, so.   16 

  MR. LANZI:  Five minutes. 17 

  CHAIR:  Yep, take your time. 18 

  MR. LANZI:  Thank you. 19 

(PAUSE) 20 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Lanzi, are, are you ready to proceed? 21 

  MR. LANZI:  I am, I am ready to proceed. 22 

  CHAIR:  All right.  Mr. Evans, Mr. Sampson, you guys, 23 

okay.  All right.  So, Mr. Sampson, I mean, Mr. Lanzi, we’re, 24 

we’re now at your, you have (inaudible) rebuttal case.  You may 25 
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have additional witnesses, or you want to give us an update? 1 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  I’m not going to call rebuttal on 2 

the merger issue.  I will just argue the closing in my brief.  3 

But I do want to call Mr. Doak on one very limited issue.  If 4 

he, if he can be connected?   5 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Sampson, you got the honors.   6 

  MR. SAMPSON:  You’re still under oath, Mr. Doak. 7 

  MR. DOAK:  Sir. 8 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Evans, I think you better pull down the 9 

shade.  I mean, I’m looking in your video and all I see is 10 

blinding sun.   11 

  MR. EVANS:  Well, okay. 12 

  CHAIR:  I have enough problems seeing.  But I’m 13 

getting blinded.  I didn’t think it was possible through a 14 

video.   15 

  MR. EVANS:  Any better? 16 

  CHAIR:  That’s a little better.  You (inaudible) on 17 

the thing.   18 

  MR. MCCANN:  He’s looking very angelic. 19 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, (inaudible).   20 

  MR. EVANS: (inaudible). 21 

  CHAIR:  All right.  We’re good, Mr. Evans. 22 

  MR. EVANS:  I, I see what you mean, but you know.  23 

That’s as good as I can do, I’m sorry. 24 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, it looks like a vision of ET.  All 25 
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right.  Mr. Lanzi, your, your case.  All right and Mr. Sampson, 1 

you’ve got him over, right, Mr. Doak is in as a participant 2 

now?  He can (inaudible). 3 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Correct. 4 

  CHAIR:  All right.  Mr. Lanzi, go, proceed, please. 5 

  MR. LANZI:  Thank you.  All right.  Mr., Mr. Doak, if 6 

you recall earlier in the day, I reserved the right to call you 7 

back regarding some of the property owners in this community.  8 

Do you recall that? 9 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir, I do. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  And did you have an opportunity to do 11 

some checking?  And I don’t know if you need me to show the 12 

exhibit or you can just testify. 13 

  MR. DOAK:  No, I need you to show, please, it would 14 

have been twelve, eleven, twelve. 15 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay, let me find it.  A little slow.  I 16 

don’t think this is it.  So, -- 17 

  MR. DOAK:  It’s like six or seven.   18 

  MR. LANZI:  Yeah, let me, let me get, let me go back. 19 

  MR. DOAK:  It’s one of the new ones, the later ones. 20 

  MR. LANZI:  Got it.  Okay.  I think this is it.  That 21 

is, I believe, twelve. 22 

  MR. DOAK:  If you would, please, go to the next one?  23 

That one, please.   24 

  MR. LANZI:  This one? 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  Yes, and if you would please -- 1 

  CHAIR:  We’re looking at Petitioner’s Exhibit 12. 2 

  MR. DOAK:  Yes, sir.  If you could please come out a 3 

little further. 4 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 5 

  MR. DOAK:  Mr. McCann brought out the point that some 6 

of these houses were built on some of the lots that I looked 7 

at, that were only fifty feet, the houses were built prior to 8 

the zoning regulations.  And he was correct, and it was a good 9 

thing to point out. 10 

  But also, he didn’t look at all of them and so, in 11 

turn, the ones that are, let’s just start with the ones on our 12 

street and let’s start where the A is in Avenue. 13 

  These are all on fifty foot two lots and that one in 14 

front of you is built in 2010.  Then, and this is all based on 15 

the, the SDAT.  The next one -- 16 

  CHAIR:  I’m sorry, Mr. Doak.  What side of the street 17 

is on, because Mr. Lanzi I think is using the cursor.  Are you 18 

talking about on the side, on the side, the side of the street 19 

where the subject property is or the -- 20 

  MR. DOAK:  No, sir, the other side. 21 

  CHAIR:  All right.  22 

  MR. DOAK:  You see where –- 23 

  MR. EVANS:  Can you tell, Mr. Doak, whether these are 24 

new, new buildings or whether these are reconstructions? 25 
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  MR. DOAK:  No, sir.  It’s whatever, however SDAT, 1 

whatever their criteria is for placing on there. 2 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.   3 

  MR. DOAK:  In their reports.  So, Lot 32 and 33 4 

you’ll see there, that was built in 2010.  Mr. Lanzi brought, 5 

or Mr. McCann brought out 30 and 31, that was in twenty-nine.  6 

Lot 26 and 27 was built in 2020, and then Lot 24 and 25 was 7 

back, built in 2014.   8 

  If we could go down a little bit, down on that 9 

exhibit, please.  The ones at the corner of Cherwin and 10 

Birdwood, which would be lot number 181 and 182, that was built 11 

in 1980.   12 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m sorry, which one? 13 

  MR. DOAK:  I’m sorry, 181 and 182. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, thank you. 15 

  MR. DOAK:  It’s right there.  Thank you, Mr. Lanzi. 16 

And then the one next to it was built in 1980.  And then, if we 17 

go on down the road a little bit, the next one, 180, 198 and 18 

199 was built in ’76, 1976.  And then, the next one was built 19 

in 1929. 20 

  So, and then if we go up to, if we go up to Gunder, 21 

straight across from, which would be lot number 61 and 62, that 22 

was 1924.  But we go down to 70 and 71, that was 2012, and then 23 

the one next to it was 2005.   24 

  So, those were fifty-foot-wide lots with houses newer 25 
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than what was in place as of, when the zoning regulations came 1 

in. 2 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Doak. 3 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, any rebuttal, or cross? 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  No, but I’m concerned that there’s no 5 

sufficient foundation for the Board to take heed of that.  I 6 

can call my witness back, who I’m texting with now, and she can 7 

tell you whether they’re new or reconstruction.  So, I think 8 

either, I think the Board needs to disregard that testimony 9 

because Bruce, for example, doesn’t know whether they’re new 10 

or, he acknowledged that -- 11 

  MR. LANZI:  I, I disagree – 12 

(EVERYONE TALKING AT ONCE) 13 

  CHAIR:  Let Mr. McCann finish, yeah, sorry. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  He, he explicitly acknowledged that he 15 

did not know whether these were new homes or reconstruction.  16 

He said that.  On that, on that basis, it, it would be 17 

speculation for this Board to rely upon his testimony that 18 

these are sub, I mean, all this is irrelevant anyway. 19 

  It’s very, you know, I know, Mr. McComas, I, I’m well 20 

aware of the fact that the Board takes things for the weight 21 

they’re given but when they’re not supposed to be given anyway, 22 

that, that always concerns me.  Because I can’t think of a 23 

single fact, you know, the definition of evidence is whether or 24 

not the evidence is, would make a, a fact of consequence more 25 
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likely or not, or not, you know. 1 

  And in this case, the fact that there’s something 2 

approved down the street, has no bearing on the standards for 3 

which the Board is here today.  So, I’m having a real problem 4 

with the relevance in the first place.   5 

  Number two, I think Bruce’s testimony is truthful, 6 

but -- 7 

  MR. EVANS:  Mr. Doak’s, Mr. Doak’s testimony. 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m sorry, Mr. Doak’s testimony, I don’t 9 

mean to be informal.  But I, I don’t think there’s sufficient, 10 

sufficient basis for the Board to accept it. 11 

  But if the Board does accept it, I would like to put 12 

on my witnesses who will testify whether each of these lots 13 

that he just identified are, these, these are folks that live 14 

in the neighborhood, of course, whether these are new 15 

construction or reconstruction.   16 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Lanzi, do you have a response to that? 17 

  MR. LANZI:  Yes.  The, the purpose, or one of the 18 

purposes of the testimony was to show that there are houses, 19 

whether they’re new houses or reconstruction houses, but they 20 

are houses on two lots, as compared to three lots, four lots, 21 

five lots.  That is the limited purpose of this testimony and I 22 

think it’s relevant to the Board because we’re trying to build 23 

a house on two lots.   24 

  And there was other testimony, or questions, trying 25 
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to indicate that they needed to be on more than two lots.  And 1 

that’s not the case.  And that’s the limited purpose of Mr. 2 

Doak’s testimony. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  But that doesn’t, that doesn’t answer 4 

the question of why they’re relevant.  He hasn’t answered that 5 

question.  That begs the question.  He basically put the 6 

question back to you, Mr. McComas. 7 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, I, the way that I look at it is it’s 8 

relevant for the (inaudible) that Mr. Lanzi brought here is 9 

that, you know, whether fifty or fifty-five feet.  I think 10 

that, I look at it as, I mean, my, my, my initial reaction here 11 

is going to be, I’m going to overrule your objection, Mr. 12 

McCann. 13 

  I, I, I think it comes in.  I think that it gets the 14 

weight that we’re going to give to it.  I, I, I look at it as 15 

Mr. Doak just testified that there, you know, that, and I, and 16 

we’ve heard people say, or we’ve heard Mr. Doak say he doesn’t 17 

know whether they’re new construction.  But it’s given you a 18 

couple things. 19 

  One, a history of, of when structures were built.  20 

Some of them sound like they’ve been around pre, pre 21 

implementation of the laws and then other people, as Mr. Lanzi 22 

just said, which is, there are ones that just have two 23 

properties and they only have fifty feet.  And I think it is 24 

part of their case. 25 
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  So, we’re going to let it in, Mr. McCann.  And Mr. 1 

Lanzi, go ahead, you want to, any more questions, Mr. Lanzi? 2 

  MR. LANZI:  No, nothing further of Mr. Doak. 3 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, do you have any rebuttal here? 4 

  MR. EVANS:  Before you answer that, Mr. McCann, Mr. 5 

Lanzi stipulated that he doesn’t know whether these are new or 6 

reconstructed houses. 7 

  CHAIR:  Yeah. 8 

  MR. EVANS:  So, he’s not trying to make the case that 9 

these are new. 10 

  CHAIR:  Yeah.   11 

  MR. EVANS:  And so, -- 12 

  CHAIR:  And I’ve heard Mr. Doak testify he doesn’t 13 

know that.   14 

  MR. EVANS:  And he doesn’t know that, so if that, if 15 

that affects whether you want to call anyone or not, you know. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  But, but then how is it possibly 17 

relevant? 18 

  MR. EVANS:  I don’t know.   19 

  CHAIR:  Well, I think that’s the -- 20 

  MR. EVANS:  You’ll have to, that’s something to argue 21 

in, in the, in, in memos. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah.  Well, listen, I, you know, I can 23 

put in an affidavit that, from my witness, that, that says 24 

whether based on her having been there for forty-nine years or 25 
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whatever she said, whether each of the houses identified by Mr. 1 

Doak -- 2 

  CHAIR:  All right, Mr. McCann, I’m sorry, go ahead. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Whether they’re new, new houses or 4 

reconstruction.  I could call her as a witness.  But if it’s 5 

relevant, if you guys deem it relevant, then I should be able 6 

to put, put her on. 7 

  CHAIR:  Yeah.  (inaudible) you can’t put her on and, 8 

Mr. McCann, as you know from being in front of this Board is we 9 

(inaudible) a lot of info, I mean, a lot of this is coming 10 

straight out of SDAT so, you know, they’re public records that 11 

this, this, this Board lets in on a pretty regular basis. 12 

  Even when, in many cases, when we let it in, it’s, to 13 

me, totally irrelevant and, and the, the people on the, we, we 14 

give it the, the weight that it, it deserves when we evaluate 15 

and make decisions here.   16 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.   17 

  MR. EVANS:  But we don’t want to talk you out of your 18 

case. 19 

  CHAIR:  We don’t want to talk you out of your case, 20 

that’s a good point, Mr. Evans.   21 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I mean, I’m sorry for hesitating. 22 

  CHAIR:  Well, you can call Mrs. Hauf back if 23 

(inaudible). 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I, I’m going to do that.  I don’t 25 
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–- 1 

  CHAIR:  No one is saying not to do that, Mr. McCann. 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I appreciate, I appreciate your, 3 

your, your patience and your accommodation.  I, I will, I am 4 

going to call her back real quick and go through these. 5 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.   6 

  CHAIR:  But before we do that, Mr., Mr. McCann, Mr. 7 

Lanzi, were there any other witnesses that you wanted to do, 8 

let’s go through your, your, your -- 9 

  MR. LANZI:  Depending on what Ms. Hauf testifies, I 10 

may or may not call Mr. Kestner. 11 

(EVERYBODY TALKING AT ONCE) 12 

  CHAIR:  Fair enough, Mr. Lanzi.   13 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 14 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Brookes, I mean, Mr. Doak, you can step 15 

down.  Mrs. Hauf, you can, you can come back on the stand here.  16 

And maybe you want to keep, whoever is sharing that, that -- 17 

  MR. MCCANN:  Can I share, Mr. Sampson? 18 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Yeah, one second here.   19 

  MS. HAUF:  Am I muted?   20 

  CHAIR:  Mrs. Hauf, we here you. 21 

  MS. HAUF:  Okay.  I’m here. 22 

  CHAIR:  You got to wait until Mr. Sampson, he’s 23 

trying to pass the token.   24 

  MR. MCCANN:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Sampson.   25 
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  MR. SAMPSON:  You’re welcome. 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I’m going to share, one second.  2 

Okay.  I’m going to share my exhibit because it’s prettier than 3 

Mr. Doak’s. 4 

  CHAIR:  It’s upside down for us old people.  There 5 

you go.   6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah.  Okay and it’ll help us identify 7 

which ones I did not address in cross with Mr. Doak, 8 

previously.  So, Ms. Hauf, you there? 9 

  MS. HAUF:  Yes, I am, can you hear me? 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  I can.  Yeah, thank you. 11 

  MS. HAUF:  Okay, all right. 12 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, if you need a, I have another 13 

exhibit that has, rather than lot numbers, has street numbers 14 

and we can, that may be easier for you.  But let me, we’re 15 

going to, you just saw what (inaudible) -- 16 

  MS. HAUF: (inaudible) will be fine, we’re not, I’m 17 

not a professional, so we’re just going by the best I can 18 

recollect. 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and again, the question is, I’m 20 

going to start with these lots that Mr., Mr. Bruce, Mr. Doak 21 

had identified, and I tried to catch him as he was writing it 22 

down, I think he began with 32 and 33.  Do you see those lots 23 

there? 24 

  MS. HAUF:  And that is on Cherwin? 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  It’s on Cherwin, do you see that, where 1 

we are? 2 

  MS. HAUF:  Yeah, Cherwin. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Can, can you tell us whether or not, are 4 

you familiar with the house that’s there? 5 

  MS. HAUF:  The map won’t let me see Cherwin. 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Oh, the, well, -- 7 

  MS. HAUF:  There, bring it down a little bit more. 8 

  MR. MCCANN:  There is no Cherwin on here, but this is 9 

Cherwin Avenue.   10 

  MS. HAUF:  It stops at Gunder on here.   11 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m not asking you what the street name 12 

is.  I’m asking you whether or not you recognize where I am 13 

with my pointer here, Lots 32 and 33.  Do you recognize that as 14 

being –- 15 

  MS. HAUF:  I see it, yes.  Those, those are 16 

reconstructions.   17 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  How do you know that? 18 

  MS. HAUF:  From being down here for fifty years. 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Do you know who lives there? 20 

  MS. HAUF:  I can’t tell you the names, but I know 21 

that was Henning’s house. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and just continue on.  I think Mr. 23 

Doak went around to Lots 26 and 27, which are, gosh, I was too 24 

busy writing it down, I didn’t follow where he was going.  25 
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Let’s just go to these, do you see where I’m pointing on Gunder 1 

Avenue? 2 

  MS. HAUF:  Yes, those, those, those flooded out and I 3 

know for a fact they’re reconstruction. 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  This would be Lot 7, Lot 70, 71 5 

and 72 and 73? 6 

  MS. HAUF:  Correct. 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and do you know how -- 8 

  MS. HAUF:  That area flooded. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  And when you say re, reconstruction, do 10 

you know when approximately they were?  Well, strike that.  11 

When you say, when you say, when I’m asking -- 12 

  MS. HAUF:  Isabel, during, during Isabel.  What year 13 

was that? 14 

  VOICE:  That’s a new house. 15 

  MS. HAUF:  That house, there were homes there and 16 

people were living there, and they flooded out during Isabel, 17 

and they rebuilt. 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. 19 

  VOICE:  They rebuilt.   20 

  MS. HAUF:  But there were people living there and 21 

have been for generations. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay, all right.  How about these lots 23 

right on Pow, you live on Powderdale, correct? 24 

  MS. HAUF:  I do. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN:  So, these Lots 206 and 207, do you see 1 

them? 2 

  MS. HAUF:  That’s exactly where I live.   3 

  MR. MCCANN:  That’s where you live, okay.  And when 4 

was your house constructed? 5 

  MS. HAUF:  Our home was, there was a home on it, and 6 

we bought it, they, they rebuilt, they put a new home and tore 7 

down the old one and that would have been in 1977. 8 

  VOICE:  There you go. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and then, let’s go to these Lots 10 

198 and 199 on Birchwood.  Are you familiar with that property? 11 

  MS. HAUF:  Yes.  That is, they’ve been there since 12 

the seventies or eighties.  One of them was a rebuild and one 13 

was, I believe, a new build.  I don’t re, the one on the left 14 

would be a, a new build.   15 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and the one on the right? 16 

  MS. HAUF:  Was a rebuild of an older home and they 17 

both went up approximately the same time in the, like eighties.   18 

  MR. MCCANN:  When you say the one on the right, are 19 

you referring to 240 and 241? 20 

  MS. HAUF:  Correct. 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  What about these lots on the 22 

corner of Cherwin and Birdwood?  That is, Lots 181 and 182? 23 

  MS. HAUF:  Those were definitely new homes. 24 

  MR. MCCANN:  On all four of these lots or -- 25 
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  MS. HAUF:  On all four of them. 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  There’s two homes there? 2 

  MS. HAUF:  Because there, there’s two homes there and 3 

they had to get a variance and I am guessing that was in the 4 

late seventies.   5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and when were they re, rebuilt, do 6 

you know? 7 

  MS. HAUF:  No, they, they were new homes.  They, 8 

they, that was a wooded lot, and they are new homes. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Oh, they are new homes.  Okay, both of 10 

those? 11 

  MS. HAUF:  Yes. 12 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. 13 

  MS. HAUF:  So, at this point, I can tell you there’s 14 

three new homes out of all of this, at this point. 15 

  MR. EVANS:  You said 181 and 182 and was, and then 16 

two more.  What were the other two that was a new house there 17 

also? 18 

  MS. HAUF:  The whole corner was a wooded lot and 19 

there’s two homes there. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  So, 183 and 184 is a new home. 21 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay, all right, thanks.  That’s all I 22 

meant, yeah, thank you.   23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  What about across the other side 24 

of Birdwood, 688 and 689?  Well, in fact, those are larger 25 
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sized lots.   1 

  MS. HAUF:  Yeah, they’re, they’re larger lots and 2 

even that, we’re going back to the early seventies, and it was 3 

a fam, they were family lots.  There’s, there’s been homes 4 

there. 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I think those are -- 6 

  MS. HAUF:  They’re the Parlett family, so they’ve 7 

been here for three generations.   8 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay and I won’t go through these again, 9 

these are fifty-foot lots, not twenty-five-foot lots.  I think 10 

that’s it.  I think I went through them all.   11 

  VOICE:  How about Gunder? 12 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m sorry, Gunder? 13 

  VOICE:  Gunder. 14 

  MS. HAUF:  All of those were existing homes.  Yeah, 15 

all the shoreline ones are existing, were existing homes. 16 

  MR. MCCANN:  What do you mean by existing homes? 17 

  MS. HAUF:  People lived there and then Isabel took a 18 

lot of houses out. 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.   20 

  MS. HAUF:  And they had to build on their existing 21 

foundation. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Okay. 23 

  MS. HAUF:  As I said before, you know, as you can 24 

easily see, my major concern is the effect of adding new 25 
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buildings and new plots to build on in an already congested 1 

area and the effect that will be on our property value and the 2 

environment of a beautiful water area. 3 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Thank you, Ms. Hauf. 4 

  MS. HAUF:  You’re welcome, sir. 5 

  CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms. Hauf.  Any, any, Mr. Lanzi, 6 

any cross of Mrs. Hauf? 7 

  MR. LANZI:  Yes.  Yes, and if you could leave this 8 

exhibit up? 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Sure. 10 

  MR. LANZI:  Ms. Hauf, I was not able to write down 11 

all the lots where you said there were three new homes, Lots 12 

183, 184? 13 

  MS. HAUF:  Okay.  We’re looking at Birdwood. 14 

  MR. LANZI:  Uh huh. 15 

  MS. HAUF:  And if you look at the corner of 16 

Powderdale and Cherwin, those four lots are two homes and 17 

they’re, I wouldn’t call them new, discussing fifty-year-old 18 

homes. 19 

  MR. LANZI:  Right. 20 

  MS. HAUF:  But those were not replacing older homes, 21 

those were new homes. 22 

  MR. LANZI:  That was at Powderdale and Cherwin? 23 

  MS. HAUF:  Yes.  That whole corner there was a wooded 24 

lot, and two houses are there. 25 
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  MR. LANZI:  Are you able to bring that down just a 1 

little bit, Mike? 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  That’s it.   3 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  Okay and you said there was 4 

another? 5 

  MS. HAUF:  Yes, I believe it is Birdwood and I think 6 

that’s 198 and 199.   7 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay. 8 

  MS. HAUF:  And again, we’re going back fifty years.   9 

  MR. LANZI:  Now, what about, do you, are you familiar 10 

with 13205 Gundale Avenue, which I’m not sure what lot that is 11 

but it’s owned by Bobby Martin Sexton (phonetic).  Is that 12 

familiar to you? 13 

  MS. HAUF:  No.  Again, in a community such as ours, 14 

we wave, and we smile, and we don’t know last names a lot. 15 

  MR. LANZI:  If, so if I told you that a house was 16 

built in 2010 at 13205 Gundale, you wouldn’t be able to confirm 17 

or deny?  It’s a new house.   18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Objection.  He can’t just say that.   19 

  MR. LANZI:  Okay.  I’m asking you whether you’re, 20 

whether you’re, you can confirm or deny -- 21 

  MS. HAUF:  Is it on the corner of Gundale and Gunder? 22 

  MR. LANZI:  I have an address of 13205 Gundale 23 

Avenue. 24 

  MS. HAUF:  Gundale. 25 
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  MR. MCCANN: (inaudible) another exhibit to show her.  1 

I think, in all fairness to the witness, -- 2 

  MS. HAUF:  I have to see the house we’re discussing. 3 

  CHAIR:  Yeah.  Mr. Lanzi, Mr. Lanzi, so, (inaudible). 4 

  MR. LANZI:  My question is are, whether, whether 5 

she’s familiar with that particular address and two, is she 6 

familiar, does she know whether it was a brand-new home that 7 

was built there in 2010. 8 

  MS. HAUF:  And give me the address again, please?   9 

  MR. LANZI:  13205 Gundale Avenue. 10 

  MS. HAUF:  Gundale? 11 

  MR. LANZI:  Gundale. 12 

  MS. HAUF:  And if I could, can you, if that’s on the 13 

left-hand side that is not a brand-new home.  That was, that 14 

was a redo.   15 

  MR. LANZI:  Gunder, Birdwood, Gundale. 16 

  CHAIR:  All right, Mr. Lanzi, any other questions? 17 

  MR. LANZI:  No, I have, I have nothing further for 18 

her. 19 

  CHAIR:  All right.  Mr. McCann, any, any, anything 20 

further? 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  No, thank you. 22 

  CHAIR:  Yep.  All right.  Thank you, Ms. Hauf.   23 

  MS. HAUF:  You’re welcome, sir.   24 

  CHAIR:  All right, Mr. McCann, any, any other 25 
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rebuttal witnesses? 1 

  MR. MCCANN:  No, thank you. 2 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Lanzi, I think, I think we’re done, 3 

right?   4 

  MR. LANZI:  I think so.  I did have one, one item I 5 

did want to bring to the Board’s attention, to handle it. 6 

  CHAIR:  Sure. 7 

  MR. LANZI:  And it’s more of a suggestion.  If you 8 

could bear with me for one second.  Judge, Judge Evans, you 9 

raised some issues about 304.2 of the zoning regulations and I 10 

don’t know whether it would be helpful to the Board or not, but 11 

this would be my suggestion. 12 

  CHAIR:  Um hm. 13 

  MR. LANZI:  That we leave the record and hearing open 14 

(inaudible) the Petitioner would have the builder submit 15 

elevation drawings to Planning for comment and then we, we, 16 

we’d reconvene.  Because that’s really the only difference if, 17 

if, if you go with the building permit application and go 18 

through that process. 19 

  That’s really the only difference, is the Planning 20 

Office comments, which they would do.  And then, they’re just 21 

recommendations.  I don’t know if that would be helpful.   22 

  MR. EVANS:  Honestly, I don’t know if it would or 23 

not, I, I, you know, I’m, I’m confused about how (inaudible) in 24 

your briefs you would clarify for me how 304.2 gets into this.  25 
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I, because I don’t really know.  I, I’m confused, actually.   1 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, do, what are your thoughts on, on 2 

Mr. Lanzi’s proposal here?  It, it seems sort of unique here.  3 

It seems like he’s also offering to be an additional 4 

opportunity for your, your, your, your community association to 5 

participate in this process.  (inaudible). 6 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, Ms. Hauf, Ms. Hauf, please, will 7 

you mute, please?  Tom? 8 

  CHAIR:  Ms. Hauf, we can still hear you.  There you 9 

go.  I think you, Mr. Sampson, you can mute all them. 10 

  MR. SAMPSON:  I did, but it still kept going.  11 

(inaudible) happen, can’t even do that right.   12 

  CHAIR: (inaudible) operator error, Mr. Sampson.  So, 13 

Mr. McCann, Mr. Lanzi, I don’t want to put words into his 14 

mouth, it sounds like he’s entertaining keeping this appeals 15 

process open for your parties to participate in it further.   16 

  MR. LANZI:  That’s, that’s not what I’m saying.   17 

  CHAIR:  I was waiting for you to, I’m waiting for you 18 

to interject there. 19 

  MR. LANZI:  We, we know they’re against it.  I’m sure 20 

they’d be against it if we built a ten-foot shack but.  The 21 

point being that Judge Evans has some concerns about the 22 

architectural elevations and so we thought if we had the 23 

builder submit those elevations to Planning for comment. 24 

  Planning supports, supports the Petition as it is and 25 
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they typically comment on the building permit, assuming you all 1 

grant the relief, they would be commenting anyway, but this is 2 

just a way to maybe have them comment now and then the Board 3 

would see those comments.  The community certainly, it’s a 4 

public record we would be filing.  They would certainly be able 5 

to look at it as well.  That was, that was just my only 6 

suggestion. 7 

  MR. EVANS:  Are, are you saying that there is 8 

actually a building, there’s, there’s an architectural design 9 

already?  The house is designed?   10 

  MR. LANZI:  I would have to get the, I don’t have 11 

anything that I can offer.  I would have to have the builder 12 

provide elevation drawings.  I don’t have something I can 13 

submit today. 14 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.  No, I, no, I get that.  I get 15 

that.  I’m just –- 16 

(EVERYONE TALKING AT ONCE) 17 

  CHAIR:  Mr. McCann, any comment on that? 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  I, I tried very hard all the time not to 19 

be an obstructionist, I really do.  But I think, I, I’m having 20 

a hard time understanding what it is we’re doing, number one.  21 

Why we’re doing it and why we need to keep the record open.  I, 22 

I’m sorry, I’m just not -- 23 

  CHAIR:  I’m with you, Mr. McCann.  I, I think we just 24 

move forward and, and Mr. Lanzi, I appreciate your, your 25 
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accommodation there.  I, I, I’m not sure leaving this case in 1 

this posture is, I mean, I, I look at it as those things are 2 

all part of the process of getting permits and, and I thought 3 

you were offering up another opportunity for Mr. McCann’s 4 

parties to weigh in. 5 

  What I’m hearing you say is no, that’s not what 6 

you’re doing, you’re doing it more for an accommodation for the 7 

Board and, and I think that the permitting process will take 8 

care of it and, and we, you know, the, this process is, you 9 

know, Mr. Evans, Mr. Sampson, as much as we like to reinvent 10 

law, I don’t think we need to at this point.   11 

  And so, I think that, I think that if you guys 12 

briefed the, the matters here in your, in your, in a motion 13 

here and then, and then we’ll rule on it. 14 

  Mr. Evans, Mr. Sampson, do you guys agree with that 15 

approach? 16 

  MR. SAMPSON:  Yes. 17 

  MR. EVANS:  Yeah, I, I do. 18 

  CHAIR:  All right.  So, so, do I just confirm a 19 

second on the, on the exhibits here because I know we added a 20 

few, Mr. McCann, maybe to start.  Make sure you have your 21 

exhibits (inaudible) with Mr. Evans.  Mr. Lanzi, maybe you do 22 

the same thing because I, I think there are a couple of extra 23 

ones that came in and just so nobody is surprised that there’s 24 

additional exhibits in the record and everybody’s working off 25 
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the same scorecard.   1 

  MR. MCCANN:  You want to go first, Mr. Lanzi? 2 

  MR. LANZI:  Sure.  I have that one through ten, I’m 3 

sorry, one through 7-A and B are in, 7-C was only identified 4 

for the record.  And then, eight through fourteen were all in. 5 

  MR. EVANS:  I thought 7-C came in with 7-B? 6 

  CHAIR:  No, it was just 7-B. 7 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay, all right.   8 

  MR. LANZI:  So, everything is in other than 7-C for 9 

Petitioner. 10 

  CHAIR:  Okay.  Okay and, Mr. McCann? 11 

  MR. MCCANN:  I know that Exhibit 1 is not in 12 

evidence.  That, that was just our, that was a copy of the 13 

plat, which is already in evidence as a Petitioner’s exhibit.  14 

But I believe Exhibits 2 through 17 are in evidence.  Two I may 15 

not have moved in, it’s just a My Neighborhood map that I 16 

showed the witness briefly.  I, -- 17 

  CHAIR: (inaudible), I’m sorry.  I’m sorry, Mr. 18 

McCann. 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah.  I don’t think I actually moved 20 

that in, so I would move that into the extent it, it adds 21 

anything.  But other than that, I think everything else is in. 22 

  CHAIR:  Do, do you have all that, Mr. Evans?   23 

  MR. EVANS:  I, I do, yeah.  Mr. Lanzi, are your 24 

Exhibits 11, 12 and 13, were they submitted to Ms. Cannington? 25 
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  MR. LANZI:  They were submitted yesterday afternoon 1 

to the administrative, or whatever the website is.  Yes. 2 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay and Mr., Mr. McCann, are all of your 3 

Exhibits 1 through 17, well, not one, two through seventeen, 4 

are those all, were those all submitted in electronic form? 5 

  MR. MCCANN:  No, twelve through seventeen are all 6 

cross exhibits that I introduced today for the first time.  So, 7 

when I get off the phone, I’m going to send those to you. 8 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay.  So, but one through, or two 9 

through eleven are already there? 10 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yes. 11 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay, all right. 12 

  CHAIR:  And Joe, I’ve got Mr. Lanzi’s exhibits that 13 

he posted yesterday.  So, it’s on, it’s on the server.  And Mr. 14 

Lanzi, just to clear the record here, you, you have no 15 

objections to Mr. McCann’s admission into evidence Exhibit 2 16 

that he mentioned, from the My Neighborhood map? 17 

  MR. LANZI:  No, no, I don’t. 18 

  CHAIR:  Okay.   19 

  MR. LANZI:  No, no objection. 20 

  MR. MCCANN:  Mr. Evans, could, could I ask you -- 21 

  MR. EVANS:  Yes. 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  -- twelve through seventeen, I, I know 23 

what they are, but I don’t know what they’re numbered.  Would 24 

you mind running through those with me? 25 
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  MR. EVANS:  Yes, I can, sure.   1 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. 2 

  MR. EVANS:  Number twelve were the documents 3 

underlying cases for, for, for Petitioner’s Exhibit 8. 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. 5 

  MR. EVANS:  Thirteen were, was the documents for the 6 

underlying cases, no, it was the, the cases for 03-309-A. 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay. 8 

  MR. EVANS:  That was a Board of Appeals case. 9 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yep. 10 

  MR. EVANS:  Number fourteen was a Petition for a 11 

Variance at 13101 Cherwin.  Number fifteen was the SDAT 12 

printout.  Number sixteen was the four properties related to 13 

the pink highlights. 14 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yep. 15 

  MR. EVANS:  And the three others, plus three others.  16 

And then, number seventeen was the rule eight documents.   17 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  I think I got that.  Can you 18 

repeat, what’s twelve again? 19 

  MR. EVANS:  Twelve is documents relating to the 20 

underlying cases associated with Petitioner’s Exhibit 8. 21 

  MR. MCCANN:  Okay.  Okay. 22 

  MR. EVANS:  Okay. 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  Thank you. 24 

  MR. EVANS:  Sure. 25 
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  CHAIR:  So, Mr. McCann and Mr. Lanzi, can we have 1 

closing briefs submitted in thirty days, is that -- 2 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yes, that’s good by me. 3 

  CHAIR:  Because Mr. McCanna and Mr. Lanzi, we’re not 4 

on an accelerated track here, right?  Like we don’t have to 5 

have a deliberation in ten days or something like that, right? 6 

  MR. LANZI:  Correct. 7 

  CHAIR:  Because I don’t think we are.  All right.  8 

So, if we can have it within thirty days, that’d be great.  And 9 

then we’ll schedule (inaudible) Ms. Cannington the 10 

deliberation.   11 

  MR. EVANS:  Maybe we should give them a specific date 12 

for the memos, do you think?   13 

  CHAIR:  Yeah, I was going off of thirty days from 14 

today, so that would be, it’s (inaudible) -- 15 

  MR. LANZI:  St. Patrick’s Day.   16 

  CHAIR:  Can’t do that. 17 

  MR. LANZI:  How about Friday, the 19th?   18 

  CHAIR:  How’s that work, Mr. McCann? 19 

  MR. MCCANN:  I’m sorry, I was looking at my calendar.  20 

Yeah, I mean, (inaudible) that’s my son’s spring break.  We’re 21 

going to, we’re going out of town. 22 

  CHAIR:  Part of it or in the, in the middle of it? 23 

  MR. MCCANN:  We’ll be back on the 19th.   24 

  CHAIR:  Okay, you’ll be back on the 19th.  Yeah, you 25 
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want to make it -- 1 

  MR. MCCANN: (inaudible). 2 

  CHAIR:  -- the 25th to give you a time to dig out of 3 

your, so if you come back -- 4 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah. 5 

  CHAIR:  -- if you come back on that, on that week of 6 

the 19th or 20th, (inaudible) use a couple days, right? 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, that would be great.   8 

  CHAIR:  So, why don’t we make it the 26th, does that 9 

work, Mr. Lanzi?  If we make that accommodation?   10 

  MR. LANZI:  Yes. 11 

  CHAIR:  Joe, Mr. Sampson, any objection?  Or Mr. 12 

Evans, Mr. Sampson, any objection? 13 

  MR. EVANS:  No, that’s fine with me. 14 

  MR. SAMPSON:  I’m good. 15 

  CHAIR:  I mean, you know, I wouldn’t want to do that 16 

to Mr. McCann to go off of spring break and then having to have 17 

it the very next day he comes back -- 18 

  MR. MCCANN:  Yeah, I appreciate that. 19 

  CHAIR:  I’m sure, I’m sure Mr. Lanzi would appreciate 20 

that advantage, but we’ll try to be neutral here.  Anything 21 

else for the good of the order, Mr. Lanzi or Mr. McCann? 22 

  MR. MCCANN:  Other than thank you very much.   23 

  CHAIR:  Mr. Evans, Mr. Sampson? 24 

  MR. EVANS:  Thank you. 25 
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  MR. SAMPSON:  I’m good, thank you. 1 

  MR. EVANS:  Thank you, counsel.  Appreciate it. 2 

  MR. SAMPSON: (inaudible). 3 

  CHAIR:  And thank you for being hospitable to each 4 

other too, appreciate it.  Mr. Sampson, I think you can close 5 

the record here and I think we’re good to go. 6 

  MR. SAMPSON:  All right, I’m stopping it.  Thank you. 7 

  MR. MCCANN:  Take care, everybody.   8 

  MR. LANZI:  Thank you. 9 

  CHAIR: (inaudible). 10 
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1. Ownership: Craig Kestner
13015 Eastern Avenue Baltimore, MD 21220

2. Address: 13217 Cherwin Avenue
3. Deed references:  SM 34935/ 437

4. Area: 6,050 sq. ft. / 0.138 acre Total (per SDAT)

5. Tax Map / Parcel / Lot / Tax account #:  84 / 43 /155/ 15-22-350392
    Tax Map / Parcel / Lot / Tax account #:  84 / 43 /156/ 15-22-350391

6. Election District: 15 Councilmanic District: 6

ADC Map: 4583C10 GIS tile: 084A1      Position sheet: 31NE49 
7. The boundary shown hereon is from the deed recorded in the Land

Records of Baltimore County. All other information shown hereon was
taken from Baltimore County GIS tiles 084A1 and the information
provided by Baltimore County on the internet.

8.    Improvements: Vacant

Zoning: DR 5.5

Zoning History: #2019-0402-SPHA
Special Hearing- granted
Variances- denied

DR 5.5 Setbacks for Residential Buildings

Front: 25 feet from the street right of way
Side: 10 feet from property line
Rear:   30 feet from property line

To construct a single family dwelling on the subject lots

1. A future dwelling will be served by public water and sewer.
2. There are no underground storage tanks on the subject property.
3. The subject property is in the Chesapeake Bay Critical Area.
4. The subject property is located in flood plain Zone AE per FIRM

Panel 2400100315 G.

Regional Planning District: Windlass    District Code:  322

1. The subject property is not in a historic district.
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JOHN A. OLSZEWSKI. JR. 
County Executive 

November 2, 2020 

Neil Lanzi, Esquire 
102 W. Pennsylvania Avenue, Suite 406 
Towson,MD 21204 

RE: APPEAL TO BOARD OF APPEALS

Case No. 2020-0090-SPHA 
Location: 13217 Cherwin Avenue 

Dear Mr. Lanzi 

) 

PAUL M. MAYHEW 
Managing Administrative Law Judge 

LAWRENCE M. STAHL 
Administrative Law Judge 

NOV - 2 2020 

BAL TIMOl<f: COUI\TY 

BOARD OF APPEALS 

Please be advised that an appeal of the above-referenced case was filed in this Offi�e_on 
October 29, 2020. All materials relative to the case have been forwarded to the Baltimore County 
Board of Appeals ("Board"). 

If you are the person or party taking the appeal, you should notify other similarly interested 
parties or persons known to you of the appeal. If you are an attorney of record, it is your 
responsibility to notify your client. 

If you have any questions concerning this matter, please do not hesitate to contact the Board 
at 410-887-3180. 

PMM/dlw 

c:�ltimore County Board of Appeals 
People's Counsel for Baltimore County 

Sincerely, 

{))// JloJ.,r 
�M.MAVHEW 
Managing Administrative Law Judge 
for Baltimore County 

Michael R. McCann, Esq., Michael R. McCann, P.A., 118 West Pennsylvania Avenue, 
Towson, Maryland 21204-4518 

Craig Kestner, 13015 Eastern Avenue, Baltimore, MD 21220 
Bruce Doak, 3801 Baker Schoolhouse Road; Freeland, MD 21053 
John Dawson, 13 215 Cherwin A venue, Middle River, MD 21220 

Office of Administrative Hearings 
I 05 West Chesapeake Avenue, S4ite 103 I Towson, Maryland 21204 I Phone 410-887-3868 I Fax 410-887-3468 

www.baltimorecountymd.gov 
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